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EaseMyTrip_,.

AGM NOTICE

Notice is hereby given that the 12*" Annual General Meeting of M/s Easy Trip Planners Limited will be held
on Monday, 28" December, 2020 at 17.30 Hours through video conferencing to transact the following

businesses at shorter notice:-
ORDINARY BUSINESS
Ordinary Business:

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company (including
consolidated financial statements) for the financial year ended March 31, 2020, together with the
Reports of the Board of Directors and Auditors thereon.

2, To appoint a director in place of Mr. Prashant Pitti (DIN: 02334082), who retires by rotation and
being eligible offers himself for re-appointment.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

3. To consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without any modification(s) as may deem fit the
following as a Ordinary Resolution:-

"RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of sections 149, 152 read with Schedule 1V and all
other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Appointment and
Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014 (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment
thereof for the time being in force) and pursuant to the provision of SEBI (Listing Obligations and
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, Mr. Vinod Kumar Tripathi, (DIN; 00798632), who was
appointed as an Additional Director of the company by the Board of directors at its meeting held on
24" February, 2020 pursuant to the provisions of Section 161(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and the
Articles of Association of the Company and who holds office up to the date of this Annual General
Meeting and is hereby appointed as a Non-Executive, Independent Director of the Company to hold
office for the period of 1 (One) year, whose office shall nol liable to retire by rotation”.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors be and is hereby authorised to do all such acts, deeds,
matters and things as may be necessary, expedient and desirable for the purpose of giving effect to this
resolution.”

4. To consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without any modification(s) as may deem fit the
following as a Special Resolution:

"RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 149, 152 and other applicahle provisions, if any,
of the Companies Act, 2013("the Act”) read with Schedule 1V to the Act (including any statutory
modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof, for the time being in force) and the Companies (Appointment
and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014, as amended from time to time, SEBI Listing Regulations and
other applicable provisions, if any and pursuant to the recommendation of the Nomination &

Remuneration Committee and theFORMERDY KNOYWNAS. Usha Mehra, (Retired) (DIN: 03361078), who
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has submitted a declaration that he meets the criteria for independence as provided under Section 149(6]
of the Act, be and is hereby re-appointed as an Independent Director of the Company, not liable to retire
by rotation, for a second term of five consecutive years w.e.f. 204 July, 2020 ull Ist July, 2025, and who
shall be entitled to receive sitting fees for attending meetings of the Board or any committees thereof as

detailed in the letter of appointment and as may be determined by the Board from time to time."

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of the Company (including its committee thereof)
and / or Company Secretary of the Company, be and are hereby authorized to do all such acts, deeds,
matters and things as may be considered necessary, desirable or expedient to give effect to this
resolution.”

5. To consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without any modification(s) as may deem fit the
following as a Special Resolution:-

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 149, 152 and other applicable provisions, if any,
of the Companies Act, 2013(“the Act”) read with Schedule IV to the Act (including any statutory
modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof, for the time being in force) and the Companies (Appointment
and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014, as amended from time to time, and pursuant to the
recommendation of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors, Mr. Satya
Prakash, (DIN: 08489173), who has submitted a declaration that he meets the criteria for independence as
provided under Section 149(6) of the Act, be and is hereby re-appointed as an Independent Director of the
Company, not liable to retire by rotation, for a second term of five consecutive years w.e.f. 2 July, 2020
till 1st July, 2025, and who shall be entitled to receive sitting fees for attending meetings of the Board or
any committees thereof as detailed in the letter of appointment and as may be determined by the Board
from time to time.”

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of the Company (including its committee thercof)
and / or Company Secretary of the Company, be and are hereby authorized to do all such acts, deeds,
matters and things as may be considered necessary, desirable or expedient to give effect to this
resolution.”

By the order of the Board
M/s Easy Trip Planners Limited

Preeti Sharma
Company Secretary
M. No. 34417

Place: New Delhi
Date: 28.12.2020



NOTES:

1. A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT THE MEETING IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT
PROXY/ PROXIES TO ATTEND AND VOTE INSTEAD OF HIMSELF AND THE PROXY NEED
NOT BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY. A person can acl as proxy on behalf of members not
exceeding fifty (50) and holding in the aggregate not more than ten percent of the total share
capital of the Company. The instrument of Proxy in order to be effective, should be deposited at
the Registered Office of the Company, duly completed and signed, not less than 48 hours before
the commencement of the meeting. A Proxy form is sent herewith.

3. Members/Proxies should bring the Attendance Slip duly filled in for attending the Meeting and
also their copy of the

4, The Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel and their shareholding, maintained
under Section 170 of the Companies Act, 2013 will be available for inspection by the members at
the Annual General Meeting of the Company.

5. The Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013, relating Lo the
Special Business to be transacted at the ensuing Annual General Meeting is annexed hereto and
forms part of this Notice.

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 102(1) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

Item No. 3,4 and 5

The Board of Directors at their Meeting held on 24 February, 2020, appointed Mr. Vinod Kumar Tripathi,
(DIN: 00798632), as an Additional Director of the Company, pursuant to the provisions of Section 161(1) of
the Act and the Articles of Association of the Company.

Mr. Vinod Kumar Tripathi, (DIN: 00798632) is not disqualified from being appointed as Directors in
terms of Section 164 of the Companies Act, 2013 and he has given their consent to act as Directors,

In the opinion of the Board, Mr. Vinod Kumar Tripathi, (DIN: 00798632) is fulfilled the conditions for
appointment as Directors as specified in the Companies Act, 2013.

Justice Usha Mehra, (Retired) (DIN: 03361078), and Mr, Satya Prakash(DIN: 08489173) were appointed as
Independent Directors of the Company pursuant to Section 149 of the Companics Act, 2013 (“the Act”) read
with Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014, by the Board of Dircetors in thewr
meeting held on 24 July, 2019 for first term of One Year.

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee at its Meeting held on 17" March, 2020 after taking into account
the performance evaluation of these Independent Directors, during their first term of One year and
considering the knowledge, expertise and experience in their respective fields and the substantial
contribution made by these Directors during their tenure as an Independent Director since their
appointment, has recommended to the Board that continued association of these Directors as an
Independent Directors would be in the interest of the Company and the Board of Directors at their Meeting
held on 20th March, 2020, re-appointed Justice Usha Mehra, (Retired) (DIN: 03361078), and Mr. Satya
Prakash (DIN: 08489173) for second term of five consecutive years. Based on the above, the Nomination &
Remuneration Committee and the Board has recommended the re-appointment of these Directors as
Independent Directors on the Board of the Company, to hold office for the second term of five consecutive
years and not liable to retire by rotation w.e.f. 2" July, 2020 till 1st July, 2025, and who shall be entitled to




receive sitting fees for attending meetings of the Board or any committees thereof as detailed in the letter of
appointment and as may be determined by the Board from time to time.

Justice Usha Mehra, (Retired) has completed the age of 75 years. She has over 37 years of experience in the
legal sector. She plays an active role in various committees set up by company to ensure good governance. It
would be in the interest of the Company to re-appoint her as an Independent Director [Non-Executive

Director

Brief resume of Mr. Vinod Kumar Tripathi, Justice Usha Mehra, (Retired), and Mr. Satya Prakash, nature
of their expertise in specific functional areas and names of companies in which they hold directorships
and memberships / chairmanships of Board Committees, shareholding and relationships between
directors inter-se, are enclosed herewith,

Copy of the draft letters for respective appointments of Mr. Vinod Kumar Tripathi, Justice Usha Mehra,
(Retired), and Mr. Satya Prakash as Directors setting out the terms and conditions are available for
inspection by members at the Registered Office of the Company.

Mr. Vinod Kumar Tripathi, Justice Usha Mehra, (Retired), and Mr. Satya Prakash are interested in the
resolutions set out respectively at Item Nos. 3, 4 & 5 of the Notice with regard to their respective
appointments.

Save and except the above, none of the other Directors / Key Managerial Personnel of the Company / their
relatives are, in any way, concerned or interested, financially or otherwise, in these resolutions.

The Board recommends the Special Resolutions set out at Item Nos. 3,4 & 5 of the Notice for approval by the

shareholders.
DETAIL OF DIRECTOR SEEKING APPOINTMENT
[In pursuance of Secretarial Standard on General Meetings|

Name of the Director | Justice Usha Mr. SATYA PRAKASH Mr. Vinod Kumar
Mehra, (Retired) 5 i Tripathi

Father's/Husband’s | Mr. DINA NATH Mr. SATGUR LAL SARAN Indu Bhushan Tripathi

DIN 03361078 08489173 00798632 |
|
Name MEHRA |

Date of Birth 14/11/1941 23/04/1954 08/08/1957 ‘
Date of Appointment 02/07/2019 - 02/07/2019 24/02/2020 .
Educational Law Graduate s Science Graduate ¢ Dhachelor's degree |
Qualification | , |
e M, Sc(Mathematics) e master's degree
in political
science
Experience & She has more 40 | He has 40 Years experience | He has more than 40
expertise in specific | years experience | in the Indian Railway's top | years of experience in
functional area in the legal field. | management and has | the taxation, finance,
performed versatile roles in | administration, textiles

She is a retired
[Judge of Delhi
High Court He has also worked on

several important position of He previously worked as |
E b K X

it and wind turbine etc
seclors,




Indian Railways

Directorships held in
other Companies
(excluding foreign
companies)

NIL NIL

Place: New Delhi
Date: 28.12.2020

the Commissioner of
Income Tax.He was
Managing Director al
National Textiles
Corporatian
| (Maharashtra South and
[ Gujarat) and was
| President and group
| director at Reliance
Capital Limited
NIL

By the order of the Board
M/s Easy Trip Planners Limited

Preeti Sharma
Company Secretary
M. No. 34417
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Form No. MGT-11

PROXY FORM
[Pursuant to Section 105(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 19(3) of the Companies (Management and
Administration) Rules, 2014]

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING - 28t December, 2020

Name of the Member(s):
Registered address:
E-mail Id:

Folio No/ Clint Id.

DP ID:

Ty O R e L R

SIGNBUIE! e cmrssmorsssresssssoaseeshissebisaissdion , or failing him/her

2 N BITIE. iversteseinseeeerersaesesransensmess e eneines

SIOTAIINE. . .. conrnmmsmrsasersnnersraBba s amerR SR

as mylour proxy to attend and vote (on a poll) for me/us and on mylour behalf at Extra-Ordinary General
Meeting of members of the Company, to be held on Monday, 28" December, 2020 at 17.30
Hours at through video conferencing and at any adjournment thereof in respect of such resolutions as are

indicated below;

Signed this ... S LT () = —

Affix Revenue
Stamp of Rs.1

Note:
1. This form of proxy in order to be effective should be duly completed and deposited at the Registered Office

of the Company, not less than 48 hours before the Extra-Ordinary General Meeting.
2. If you leave the “for", “against’, “abstain” column blank against any or all of the resolutions, your proxy will

be entitled to vote in the manner as he/she may deem appropriate.




EaseMyTrip_,,,

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Dear Members,

EASY TRIP PLANNERS LIMITED

(Formerly Known as EASY TRIP PLANNERS PRIVATE LIMITED)

Your Directors have pieasure in presenting thel2tAnnual Report together with the Audited
Statement of Accounts of your Company for the Year ended March 31, 2020.

1. FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Company’s financial performance, for the year ended March 31, 2020:

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Standalone ] Consolidated
Particular 2020 2019 2020 2019
(INR million} | (INR million) (INR (INR

_ million) million)
Revenue from Operations 1409.85 1011.07 1413.60 1011.07
Interest and Other Income 387.39 500.04 396.51 500.04
Total Income 1797.24 1511.11 1,810.11 1511.11
Total Expenses 1322.09 1099.34 1,351.30 1099.34
Extraordinary ltems - - -
Profit/(Loss) before tax 475.15 411.77 458.81 411.77
Tax Expense: |
1. Current Tax 132.52 130.54 132.52 130.54
2. Deferred tax charge/(credit) (3.85) (7.62) (3.53) (7.62)
3 T_ax adjustments related to earlier (4.54)

| periods - - (4.54)
profit/(Loss)  from  continued | 50 g 293.39 329082 | 293.39
operations
Discontinued Operations:
1: Proﬁ!:/ Loss before tax from ) (35.62)

discontinued operations - (35.62)
2. Tax expense/(reversal) of discontinuing

operations i 1784 - 17.84
Profit/Loss for the year 346.48 239.93 329.82 239.93

FORMERLY KNOWN AS

"EASY TRIP PLANNERS PVT. LTD."
Easy Trip Planners Ltd.

Head Office : Building No 223, Patpargan] Industrial Area, Patparganj, New Delhi, Delhi 110092

FPhone : +91 - 11 - 43030303, 43131313 E-mail : suppori@easamytrip.com Web : www.EaseMyTrip.com | CIN No. U63090DL2008PLC179041
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2. STATE QF AFFAIRS

The Company is engaged in the business of tourist and travel agents, transport agents,
contractors’ freight and brokers etc. in or outside India, to buy, sell and deal in foreign exchange,
etc.

During the year under review the Company has earned aprofit of INR346.48 Million as against
profit earned during last year of INR 239.93 Million.

3. TRANSFER TO RESERVE

The Company has transferred current year profit of INR .346.48 Million to reserves and surplus.
4. CHANGE IN THE NATURE OF BUSINESS

No change made in the nature of business of the company during the financial year 19-20.

5. SHARE CAPITAL

During the year under review the company has not issued any shares or any convertible
instruments.

6. DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors of your Company has not declared any dividend for the financial year
2019-2020.

7. COVID 19 IMPACT ON BUSINESS

Our Company is cnline travel Company that book flight tickets, hotel, bus tickets and holiday
packages which has been one of the primary victims of COVID 19. Due to lockdown in our
Country, the demand for travelling has been adversely hit.

But nowas the lockdown lifted and situation to somewhat normalised, business are getting
enough queries, hence business will be running smoothly in a few months.

8. INITIAL PUBLIC OFFER (JPO)

The Board at its meeting held on 30th November, 2019 approved the initial public offer through
an offer for sale of such number of Equity Shares aggregating up to INR 7,500 million which may
be offered for sale by certain existing shareholders of the Company, namely Mr. Nishant Pitti
and Mr. Rikant Pittie,

During the financial year 2019-20, the Company has filed Draft Red Herring Prospectus (DRHP)
with SEBI on 12th December, 2019. The Company has received first observation from SEBI on
DRHP on8th January, 2020 and second observation on 30h January, 2020, whereby the SEBI has
granted its approval for opening of the issue for subscription within a period of 12 months from
the date of issuance of the observation.

The Company also received in-principle approval from BSE Limited vide letter dated 3rd
January, 2020 and National Stock Exchangevide letter dated 24th January, 2020.



9. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARY, JOINT VENTURE OR ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

During the year, there is no Joint Venture or Associate Companies of the Company

The Company is having Subsidiary Companies whose details are given below:

Name of the Nature Date of Incorporation | Date of cessation of
Entity subsidiary
Singapore Subsidiary NA
Arrivals Pte. 21stNovember 2014
Ltd.,
Easemytrip Subsidiary NA
Middleeast 6HhMarch, 2017
DMCC,
EaseMyTrip Subsidiary 21stMay, 2019 NA
UK Limited I

10. REPORT ON PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL POSITION OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANY:

| Name of the | Singapore Easemytrip EaseMyTrip UK
Subsidiary Arrivals Pte. Ltd., | Middleeast DMCC, Limited B
Date of Incorporation g;ii”""embe" 6thMarch, 2017 21stMay, 2019
Percentage of Capital o 0 o
| held by the Company 100% 100% 100%
Easemytrip
Singapore Arrivals | Middleeast DMCCis | EaseMyTrip UK

Nature of Business

Pte. Ltd. is engaged
in e-commerce
online services
and the business
of travel agent

engaged in the
business of being an
out bound tour
operator, travel
agent and in bound

Limited is engaged in
e-commerce online
services and the
business of travel
agent.

tour operator.
Authorised  Share | o1y 150,000 AED 60,000 GBP 100
Capital
150,000 equity . .
shares of face 60 equity shares of | 100 ordinary shares

Paid-up share capital

value of SGD 1
each

face value of AED
1,000 each

of face value of GBP 1
each

Turnover 1,032,024 2,719,471 .

Other income ) 9,616,369 )

Profi t/(Loss Before

Tax) (8,432,909) (5,345,491) (2,072,180)
Less: Taxes: (a) Current

Tax

(b) Deferred Tax

Profit t After Tax (8,432,09) (5,345,491) (2,072,180)
Other comprehensive

income for the period, | ;) oc2 (698,351) (38,742)

et of tax




|
| Net Profit/(Loss) (8,072,356) | (6,043842) | (2,110,922) — |

11. DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL (KMP)

During the year, following Directors and KMPs are acting on the Board of Company:

|
Ifllc‘)' Name of the Directors DIN/PAN Designation
Mr. Nishant Pitti 02172265 Chief Executive Officer &
L Whole Time Director
2 Mr. Prashant Pitti 02334082 Whole Time Director
3 Mr. Rikant Pittie 03136369 Whole Time Director
4 Mr. Satya Prakash 08489173 Independent Director
. Justice Usha Mehra (Retired) 03361078 Independent Director
Mr. Maxy Francis Assis 07598230 Independent Director
. Fernandes
7 Mr. Vinod Kumar Tripathi* 00798632 Independent Director
8 Mr. Abani Kant Jha** ABVP)B601L Chief financial Officer
12, Ms. Preeti Sharma BYBPS1147] Company Secretary

Note: *Mr. Maxy Francis Assis Fernandes resigned. w.e.f 18 February, 2020 and Mr. Vinod
Kumar Tripathi appointed w.e.f24thFebruary, 2020

**Mr. Abani Kant Jha was resigned w.e.f 31stAugust, 2020

Pursuant to the provisions of Companies Act, 2013 and the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. Satya Prakash (DIN: 08489173) and Justice Usha Mehra (Retired)} (DIN:
03361078) were re-appointed as Independent Directors in Board Meeting held on 20® March,
2020 for second term of five years subject to approval of shareholder in ensuing Annual General
Meeting and Mr. Vinod Kumar Tripathi {DIN: 00798632) was appointed as an Additional
Director w.e.f. 24th February, 2020. He shall hold office up to the date of the ensuing Annual
General Meeting.

Mr. Maxy Francis Assis Fernandes has resigned as a Director of the Company w.e.f.
18tFebruary, 2020 due to some unavoidable circumstance. The Board places on record its
appreciation for the valuable guidance and services rendered during his tenure.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 152 of the Act, Mr. Prashant Pitti (DIN: 02334082), retires
by rotation at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and being eligible, has offered himself for re-
appointment.

All the Independent Directors of the Company have given their declarations to the Company
under Section 149(7) of the Act that they meet the criteria of independence as provided under
Section 149(6) of the Act. In the opinion of the Board, they fulfil the conditions of independence
as specified in the Act.

Necessary resolutions for the re-appointment of the aforesaid directors have been included in
the notice convening the ensuing AGM.

Mr. Abani Kant Jhahas resigned from the post of Chief financial Officer w.e.f 31.08.2020. The
Directors place on record their appreciation for the contribution made by him during his tenure.



12. COMMITTEE OF BOARD

The Company had constituted such committees as required under the Companies Act, 2013

along with the related rules made thereunder in the board meeting held on 2nd July, 2020.

Following Committees are functional:

(A) Audit Committee;

(B) Nomination and Remuneration Committee;
(C) Stakeholders Relationship Committee

In addition to above, the Board has also adopted policy of materiality in respect to litigation,
material creditors and determination of group companies.in their meeting held on 30th
November, 2019 and following mentioned policies in their meeting held on 2nd December,

2019:

L.

ii.
jil.
iv.

v.

vi.
vii.
viii.
ix.
X.

Xi.
Xii.

xiii,

Xiv.

Policy on materiality with respect to disclosures relating to litigation to be made in
the offer documents

Policy on materiality with respect to outstanding dues to creditors

policy for preservation of documents & archival of documents;

policy for determining material subsidiaries;

policy framework to promote diversity on Company’s board of directors and
succession plan for appointment of board of directors and senior management;

code of conduct for board of directors and senior management;

whistle blower policy;

materiality policy for related party transactions;

familiarisation programmes for independent directors;

policy for determination of materiality threshold for disclosure of events or
information;

nomination and remuneration policy;

code for prohibition of insider trading;

a code of practices and procedures for fair disclosure of unpublished price
sensitive information; and

Dividend Policy

All above named policies and codes are available on our website (www.easemytrip.com)

(a)

AUDIT COMMITTEE:

The Composition of the Audit Committee and the meetings attended by each of the
members, as on 31st March 2020 is given below.

Five Audit Committee meetings were held on 17th SEPTEMBER, 2019, 30th
NOVEMBER, 2019, 10th DECEMBER, 2019, 17th February, 2020 and 28th February,
2020 during the financial year 2019-20, under review.

Name of the Director Position in the Committee | No. of meeting attended
Maxy Francis Assis Fernandes* Chairman 4
Vinod Kumar Tripathi* Chairaman 1
Satya Prakash Member 4
Nishant Pitti Member 5
| Justice Usha Mehra (Retired) Member 2 ]

*Mr. Maxy Francis Assis Fernandes resigned. w.e.f 18t February, 2020 and Mr. Vinod Kumar
Tripathi appointed w.e.f 24%"February, 2020



Mr. Vinod Kumar Tripathi, Chairman of the Audit Committee and the CompanyScretary of the
Company shall act as the Secretary to the Audit Committee.The present constitution of the Audit
Committee meets the requirementsof the Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013.

(B) NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE:

The Composition of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee comprised of the following
members as on March 31, 2020:

One Nomination and Remuneration Committee meetings were held on 17th March, 2020 during
the financial year 2019-20, under review.

Name of the Director Position in the Committee | No. of meeting attended |
Satya Prakash Chairman 1 |
Vinod Kumar Tripathi Member 1
Justice Usha Mehra (Retired) Member 1

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 andthe related rules made
thereunder, the Board of Directors of the Company has constituted the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee to perform such role as prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013

The Nomination and Remuneration Policy are available on our website:
(https://www.easemytrip.com)

{C) STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE:

The Composition of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee comprised ofthe
following members as on March 31, 2020:

One Stakeholders Relationship Committee meetings were held on 17th March, 2020
during the financial year 2019-20, under review.

Name of the Director | Position in the Committee No. of meeting attended
Satya Prakash Chairman 1

Prashant Pitti Member 1

Rikant Pittie | Member 0 B

Ms. Preeti Sharma is performing as the Secretary to the Committee.

Ms. Preeti Sharma, who is also the Compliance Officer, may contact at:

Easy Trip Planners Limited

223, FIE, Patparganj Industrial Area,
Delhi - 110092, Tel: 011-43131313

Id: emt.secretarial@easemytrip.com

Vigil Mechanism and Whistle Blower Policy:

The Company has adopted a Whistle Blower Policy, as part of Vigil mechanismto
provide appropriate avenues to the Directors and Employees to bring tothe attention of
the management any issue which is perceived to be in the violation of or in conflict with
the business interest of the company. During theyear, there have been no complaints
received.



Independent Directors’ Meeting

In terms of the provisions under the Companies Act, 2013, the Independent Directors
met on 17*March, 2020 and all the Independent Directors have attended the meeting.

13. WEB LINK OF ANNUAL RETURN

The Company is having website i.e. www.easemytrip.com and annual return of Company has
been published on such website. Link of the same is given below:

Link: https://www.easemytrip.com/investor-relations.htm!

And extract of Annual Return of the Company in Form MGT-9 is also attached as Annexure-L

14. MEETINGS OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Fourteen Board Meetings were held during the Financial Year ended March 31, 2020 are as
under:

Quarter Date of Board Meeting
Quarter-I 2rdApril, 2019,10t% May, 2019, 28t May, 2019& 13t June, 2019
Quarter-I1 Zrdjuly, 2019 &17*September, 2019
Quarter-II1 30" November, 2019, 30" November, 2019, 20 December, 2019 & 10t
December, 2019
Quarter-1V 17thFebruary, 2020, 24% February, 2020, 28th February, 2020 & 20th
| March, 2020,

The names of members of the Board, their attendance at the Board Meetings are as under:

Name of Directors ‘ Number of Meetings attended/Total Meetings held
during the F.Y. 2019-20
Mr. Nishant Pitti 13/14
Mr. Rikant Pittie 7/14
Mr. Prashant Pitti 13/14
Ms. Usha Mehra 6/14
Mr. Maxy Francis Assis Fernandes* 6/14
Mr. Satya Prakash 5/14
| Mr. Vinod Kumar Tripathi* | 2/14

**Mr. Maxy Francis Assis Fernandes resigned. w.e.f 18% February, 2020 and Mr. Vinod Kumar
Tripathi appointed w.e.f 24thFebruary, 2020

15. DETAILS OF FRAUD REPORT BY AUDITOR

During the year under review, the statutory auditors has not reported to the Board under
section 143(12) of the Companies Act,2013, any instances of fraud committed against the
Company by its officers or employees, the details of which would need to be mentioned in the
Board’s report.

16. AUDIT REPORT AND AUDITORS
STATUTORY AUDITORS

M/s S.R.Batliboi& Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants (Firm’s Registration No. E300004),
have been appointed as Statutory auditors of the Company at the Annual General Meeting held
on 28.09.2018 for a period of four years subject to ratification by members at every consequent
Annual General Meeting.



The Observations of the Statutory Auditors in their report read together with the Notes on
Accounts are self-explanatory and therefore, do not call for any further explanation.

SECRETARIAL AUDITQR

As required under Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules thereunder, Company is
not required to appoint Practicing Company Secretaries, as a Secretarial auditor of the Company
for Financial Year 2019-20.

17. BOARD'S COMMENT ON THE AUDITORS' REPORT

Notes to Accounts and Auditors remarks in their report are self-explanatory and do not call for
any further comments.

18. PARTICULARS OF LOANS AND INVESTMENT

Details of Loans, Guarantees and Investments covered under the provisions of Section 186 of
the Companies Act, 2013 are given in the Financial Statements as on 31¢March, 2020.

19. CONTRACTS AND ARRANGEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES

During the Financial Year ended 31 March 2020, all the contracts or arrangements or
transactions entered into by the Company with the Related Parties were in the ordinary course
of business and on an arm’s length basis and were in compliance with the applicable provisions
of the Companies Act, 2013.

Form AOC-Z containing the details of the material Related Party Transactions entered into
during the Financial Year 2019-20 as per the Related Party Transactions Policy is attached as
Annexure-11 to this Report and forms a part of it. The Related Party Transaction Policy as
approved

20.MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS, IF ANY, AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY WHICH HAVE OCCURRED BETWEEN THE END OF THE
FINANCIAL YEAR OF THE COMPANY TO WHICH THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RELATE

AND THE DATE OF THE REPORT;

No significant material changes and commitments have occurred between the end of the
financial year of the company to which the financial statements relate and the date of
the report.

21. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY. TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE
EARNINGS & OUTGO

The information pertaining to conservation of energy, technology absorption, Foreign exchange
Earnings and outgo as required under Section 134 (3}{m) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with
Rule 8(3) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is furnished in Annexure Il and is attached
to this report.

22, RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Company has adopted the measures concerning the development and implementation of a

Risk Management System in terms of Section 134(3)(n) of the Companies Act, 2013 after
identifying the elements of risks which in the opinion of the Board may threaten the very
existence of the Company itself. The Company has an elaborate Risk Management process of
identification, assessment and prioritization of risk followed by coordinated efforts to minimize,
monitor and mitigate/control the probability and/or impact of unfortunate events or to



maximize the realization of opportunities.

The Risk Management procedure is reviewed by the Board from time to time, to ensure that the
executive management controls risks through means of a properly defined framework. Major
risks identified are systematically addressed through mitigating actions on a continuing basis.

23. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) POLICY

The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee had formulated and recommended to the Board,
a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy (“CSR Policy”) which was subsequently adopted by it
and is being implemented by the Company.

The CSR Policy including a brief overview of the projects or programs proposed to be
undertaken can be accessed at the Company’s website through the Web-link:

https://www.easemytrip.com/investor-relations.html
24, CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) COMMITTEE

The CSR Committee re-constitute w.ef 204 July, 2020and details of members such as:

1. Mr. Satya Prakash (Non Executive Independent Director)- Chairman
2. Mr. Rikant Pittie (Executive Director)- Member
3. Mr. Nishant Pitti (Executive Director)- Member

The Committee, inter alia, monitors the CSR activities.

Details of amount spend is furnished in Annexure IVand is attached to this report.

25. PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

Section 197 sub section (12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5 of the Companies
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 doesn't apply to the
Company.

26. DEPOSITS

The Company has not accepted any deposits during the financial year 2019-20 under review.

27.INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL

The Management of the Company has appointed ADMS & Co., Chartered Accountancy firm to
assist in updating of Risk Control Matrix ("RCM") and perform necessary testing of controls.
RCM and Testing results are adopted by the Management and shared with the Statutory
Auditors for their review and report thereon. The Statutory Auditor has reviewed the report
and given their comments. The Board duly adopted the comments of the auditors.

The Risk Control Matrix will improve the overall effectiveness of the company growth in long
run also help in removing hindrances.

28. COST RECORD
The provisions of Cost recordas per section 148 doesn’t apply to the Company.

29.DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATORS
COURTS AND TRIBUNALS

No significant and material ordershas been passed by the regulators, courts, tribunals impacting
the going concern status and Company’s operations in future.

30. PREVENTION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT AT WORKPLACE



In terms of the provisions of the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention,
Prohibition & Redressal) Act, 2013(“Act”) and Rules made there under, Company has
constituted Internal Complaints Committees {ICC) to redress complaints received regarding
Sexual Harassment at all Units. All employees (permanent, Contractual, Temporary, trainees)

are covered under this policy. The Company has complied with the provisions relating to the
constitution of ICC and during the year no cases/complaints have been fi led under the Act.

31. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL S EMENTS

During the year, the Company has been prepared standalone and consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) as notified by the
Ministry of Corporate Affairs.

32.DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Pursuant to Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Directors, to the best of their
knowledge and belief, confirm that:

a) in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards had been
followed, along with proper explanation relating to material departures;

b) the Directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent, so as to give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year and of the profit and loss of
the Company for that period;

¢) the Directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of
the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

d) the Directors had prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis;

e} The Company being unlisted, sub clause (e) of section 134(3) of the Companies Act, 2013
pertaining to laying down internal financial controls is not applicable to the Company.

f) the Directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all
applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively
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Annexure-1

FORM NO. MGT 9
EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

{As on financial year ended on 31.03.2019)

[Pursuant to Section 92 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of the Company
{Management & Administration) Rules, 2014]

LREGISTRATION & OTHER DETAILS:

1. | CIN | U63090DL2008PLC179041
2. Registration Date 04/06/2008
3. Name of the Company Easy Trip Planners Limited
(Formerly Known as Easy Trip Planners Private Limited)
4, Category/Sub-category | Company Limited by Shares/Indian Non-Government Company
L | of the Company N

5. Address of the | 223, F.I.E.,, Patpatganj Industrial Area,Delhi -110092
Registered office &
contact details 011-43131313

6. Whether listed company | No

-

Name, Address & contact | KFIN TECHNOLOGIES PRIVATE LIMITED

details of the Registrar & | Selenium, Tower B, Plot No- 31 & 32, Financial District,
Transfer Agent, if any. Nanakramguda, Serilingampally Hyderabad Rangareddi TG 500032
TeL: P: +91 40 6716 1595

ILPRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY (All the business activities contributing
10 % or more of the total turnover of the company shall be stated)

| S.No. | Name and Description of main | NIC Code of the| % to total turnover of the |
products / services Product/service company
1 Travel Agency Activities 7911 100 |

IILPARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES {All the business
activities contributing 10% or more of the total turnover of the company shall be stated)

S.No. Nameand Description ofNIC Code of the% of total turnover of the
mainproducts / services Product/ service company

1 N/A N/A N/A ) ‘

IV.SHARE HOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of Total Equity)

(A)  Category-wise Share Holding

‘ Category of | No. of Shares held at the beginning of | No. of Shares held at the end of the | %

Shareholders the year [As on 01-April-2019] year [As on 31-March-2020] Change
Dem ‘ Physical | Total | %  of | Demat | Physical | Total ‘ %  of | during
at Total Total the year

I Shares Shares
| A.Promoter s

(1) Indian _

Nil 10,86,4 | 10,86,45, | 100 10,86, | Nil 10,86,4 | 100 Nil

a) Individual/ 5,000 000 44,99 4,996

HUF | 6 |




| b) Central Goyt | Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
| c) State Govt(s) | Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
d) Bodies Corp. Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
e) Banks / FI Nil | Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
f) Any other Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Sub-total Nil 10,864 | 10,86,4 | 100 10,86, | Nil 10,864 | 100 Nil
{A)(1): 5,000 5,000 44,99 4,996
6
(2) Foreign
a) NRI- | Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Individuals
b) Other- | Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Individual
c) Bodies Corp. | Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
d) Banks / FI Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
| e) Any other Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil
?:;’('2“)’:“' NI | Nil NiI Nil [Nl | Nil Nil Nil Nil
Total Nil 10,864 | 10,864 | 100 10,86, | Nil 10,86,4 | 100 Nil
shareholding of 5,000 5,000 44,99 4,996
Promoter 6
(A)=(A)(1) +
(A)(2)
B. Public
' Shareholding
1. Institutions Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
' a) Mutual Funds | Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil ' Nil
'b) Banks / FI Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
¢) Central Govt Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil
d) State Govt(s) | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nii Nil Nil Nil
e) Venture | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Capital Funds
f) Insurance | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Companies
g) Flls Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
h) Foreign | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Venture Capital
Funds
i} Others | Nil Nil Nil Nil 4 Nil 4 Nil Nil
| (specify)* ~
Sub-total Nil Nil Nil Nil 4 Nil 4 Nil Nil
(B)(1):-
2. Non-
Institutions |
a) Bodies Corp. | Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil
Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
i) Indian
ii) Overseas Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
b) Individuals Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
i) Individual | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil
shareholders
holding nominal
share capital up
to INR 1 lakh




ii) [ndividual | Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil ' Nil Nil Nil ' Nil
shareholders |
holding nominal
share capital in
excess of Rs 1
lakh
c} Others | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
(specify) .
Non  Resident | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Indians -
Overseas Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Corporate
Bodies |
Foreign Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Nationals |
Clearing Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Members
Trusts Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Foreign Bodies - | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
' DR
| Sub-total Nil | Nil | NI Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
(B)(2)- |
Total Public | Nil Nil Nil Nil 4 Nil 4 Nil Nil
Shareholding
(B)=(B)(1)+
(B)(2) ._
C. Shares held | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
by Custodian
for  GDRs &
ADRs
Nil 10,86,4 | 10,86,4 | 100 10,86, | Nil 10,86,4 | 100 Nil
Grand Total 5,000 5,000 45,00 | 5,000
| (A+B+() | | 0
* Nominee Shareholders
(B) Shareholding of Promoter
SN | Shareholder’s | Shareholding at the beginning of | Shareholding at the end of the year | % change
Name the year in
No. of | %  of | %of No. of [%  of | %of Shares | Sharehal
Shares total Shares Shares total Pledged /| 9ing
Shares | Pledged / Shares of | encumbered | 4uring
of the | encumber the to total | the year
compa | ed to total company | shares
X ny shares
1 | Nishant Pitti 541,19,565 | 49.81 NIL 541,19,561 | 49.81 NIL NIL
(Face Value (Face Value
of INR 2 of INR 2
each) each)
2 | Prashant Pitti 5,52,675 00.51 NIL 5,52,675 00.51 NIL NIL
(Face Value | (Face Value
of INR 2 of INR 2
each) each) -
3 | Rikant Pittie 5,39,72,760 | 49.68 | NIL 5,39,72,760 | 49.68 NIL NIL
(Face Value (Face Value
of INR 2 of INR 2
each) | | | each)

(C) Change in Promoters’ Shareholding (please specify, if there is no change)



1. NISHANT PITTI

SN | Particulars Shareholding at the beginning | Cumulative Shareholding
of the year during the year
No.ofshares | % of total | No.ofshares | % oftotal
shares of the shares of the
company , company
At the beginning of the year 5,41,19,561 49.81 | 541,19,561 49.81
Date wise Increase in Promoters | 1,80,39,855%* i
Shareholding during the year due to | Sub-division of No Change 1.80,39,855 No Change
Bonus Issue Shares _
04 Share 0 0 '
transfer 0.00% 04 0.00%
At the end of the year 5,41,19,565 49.81 5,41,19,565 49.81
| |
2. PRASHANT PITTI
SN | Particulars Shareholding at the beginning | Cumulative Shareholding
of the year during the year
No. of shares % of total | No.ofshares | % oftotal
shares of the shares of the
company company
At the beginning of the year 5,52,675 00.51 No Change | No Change
| |
At the end of the year 552,675 00.51 No Change No Change |
|
3. RIKANT PITTIE
SN | Particulars Shareholding at the beginning | Cumulative Shareholding |
of the year during the year
No.ofshares | % of total | No.ofshares | % of total
shares of the shares of the
company __company
At the beginning of the year 5,39,72,760 49.68 No Change No Change
No change |
At the end of the year 5,39,72,760 49.68 No Change No Change
|
(D} Shareholding Pattern of top ten Shareholders:
(Other than Directors, Promoters and Holders of GDRs and ADRs):
SN | For Each of the Top 10 Shareholders Shareholding at the beginning | Cumulative Shareholding |
of the year during the year
No.of shares | % of total No.of shares | % of total
shares of the shares of the
company . company
At the beginning of the year NIL NIL NIL NIL
Date wise increase / Decrease in
Promoters Shareholding during the | NiL NIL NIL NIL
for

year specifying the reasons




[ increase /decrease (e.g. allotment /

| transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc):

|_
' At the end of the year
Nitesh Gupta* 1 0.00 1 0.00
Aditya Chawla* 1 0.00 1 0.00
Sankalp Kaul* 1 0.00 1 0.00
|| Nutan Gupta* 1 0.00 1 | 0.00
* Nominee Shareholders
(D) Shareholding of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel:
(E)
SN | Name of the Directors/Key Managerial | Shareholding at the beginning | Cumulative Shareholding
Personnel | of the year during the year
No. of shares | % of total No.of shares | % of total
| shares of the shares of the
company company
1. | Mr. Nishant Pitti (Director)
At the beginning of the year 5,41,19,565 49.81 5,41,19,565 49.81
Transfer of shares 04 0.00 04 0.00
At the end of the year 541,19,561 | 49.81 541,19,561 | 49.81
2. | Mr. Prashant Pitti (Director)
" At the beginning of the year 5,52,675 5,52,675
00.51 00.51
Increased During the year
No Change No Change No Change No Change
At the end of the year | 5,52,675 552,675 .
00.51 00.51
3. | Mr. RikantPittie (Director) _
At the beginning of the year 35,98,184 49.68 35,98,184 49.68
Increased During the year
No Change No Change No Change No Change
' | At the end of the year 5,39,72,760 49.68 5,39,72,760 49.68

V) INDEBTEDNESS -Indebtedness of the Company including 1nterest outstanding/accrued but

not due for payment.

Secured Loans Unsecured
excluding L Deposits Total Indebtedness
. oans

deposits
Indebtedness at the beginning of
the financial year
i) Principal Amount NIL NIL NIL NIL

| ii) Interest due but not paid NIL NIL NIL NIL

iii) Interest accrued but not due NIL NIL NIL NIL
Total (i+1i+iif) NIL NIL NIL NIL
Change in Indebtedness during the
financtal year
* Addition NIL NIL NIL NIL
* Reduction NIL NIL NIL NIL
Net Change o NIL NIL NIL NIL
Indebtedness at the end of the
financial year
i) Principal Amount | NIL NIL | NIL | NIL




| ii) Interest due but not paid | NIL | NIL NIL NIL
iii) Interest accrued but not due NIL NIL NIL NIL
Total (i+ii+iii) NIL NIL | NIL NIL

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL-

A. Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and/or Manager/Executive

Director:
(Amount In Million)
SN. Particulars of Remuneration Name of Directors Total Amount
Nishant Pitti | Prashant Pitti | Rikant Pittie
1 Gross salary
| (@) Salary as per provisions | 39.51 9.60 28.61 77.72
contained in section 17(1) of
the Income-tax Act, 1961
(b} Value of perquisites u/s | NIL NIL NIL NIL
17(2) Income-tax Act, 1961
{c) Profits in lieu of salary under | NIL NIL NIL NIL
section 17(3) Income- tax Act,
1961
2 Stock Option NIL NIL NIL NIL
3 Sweat Equity NIL NIL NIL NIL
4 Commission NIL NIL NIL NIL
- as % of profit
- others, specify...
5 Others,: please specify NIL NiL NIL NiL
Board Sitting Fees Ceiling as per
B Total (A) 39.51 9.60 28.61 7772
e |
B. Remuneration to other directors:
(Amount In Million)
SN. | Particulars of Remuneration Name of Directors Total Amount
Mr. Maxy | Mr. Satya | Justice | Vinod
Francis Prakash Usha Mehra | Kumar
Assis (Retired) Tripathi
Fernandes
1 | Independent Directors
Fee for attending board | 0.40 0.31 0.40 0.10 1.21
committee meetings
Commission NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL
Others, please specify NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL
Total (1) 0.40 0.31 0.40 0.10 1.21
2 Other Non-Executive Directors |
Fee for attending board
committee meetings NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL
Commission NIL
Others, please specify NIL
Total (2) NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL
Total (B)=(1+2) NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL
Total Managerial NIL | NIL NIL NIL




' Remuneration

NIL

Overall Ceiling as per the Act

0.40

0.31

0.40

0.10 1.21

C. REMUNERATION TO KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL OTHER THAN MD/MANAGER/WTD

_ (Amount In Million)
SN Particulars of Remuneration T Key Managerial Personnel
L CEO cs [ CFO | Total
1 Gross salary 39.51 0.72 | 5.43 45.66
(a) Salary as per provisions contained in | NIL NIL NIL NIL
section 17(1) of the Income-tax Act, 1961
(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income- | NIL NIL NIL NIL
tax Act, 1961
(¢) Profits in lieu of salary under section | NIL NIL NIL NIL
17(3) income-tax Act, 1961
2 Stock Option NIL | NIL NIL NIL
3 Sweat Equity NIL NIL NIL NIL
4 Commission NIL NIL NIL NIL
- as % of profit NIL NIL NiL NIL
others, specify... NIL NIL NIL NIL T
5 Others, please specify NIL NIL NIL NIL
| Total 39.51 0.72 543 | 45.66
|
VIL. PENALTIES / PUNISHMENT/ COMPOUNDING OF OFFENCES:
Type Section of the | Brief | Details of | Authority Appeal
Companies Act Description | Penalty / | [RD / NCLT/ COURT] | made,
Punishment/ if any
Compounding (glve
fees imposed Details)
A. COMPANY
Penalty - - NIL - NIL
Punishment | -- - NIL -- NIL
Compounding | Section 92/159, | Delay in | Compounding Regional Director | NIL
96/166, 129/210 | Holding of | fees Rs.310,000 | (Northern Region)
and 137/220 of the | AGM
Companies Act,
| 2013/1956
Section 39/75 of | Delay in filing | Compounding Regional Director | NIL
Companies Act, | of Form | fees Rs.1,20,000 | (Northern Region)
2013/1956 2/PAS-3
B. DIRECTORS B
Penalty - - | NIL - | NIL
Punishment | -- - NiL -- NIL
Compounding | Section 39/75 of | Delay in filing | 100,000 Regional Director | NIL
Nishant Pitti | Companies Act, | of Form (Northern Region)
2013/1956 | 2/PAS-3
Nishant Pitti | Section 92/159, | Delay in | 560,000 Regional Director
96/166, 129/210 | Holding of (Northern Region)
and 137/220 of the | AGM
Companies Act, ‘




[ 2013/1956 -
Prashant Pitti | Section 92/159, | Delay in | 356,000 Regional Director
96/166, 129/210 | Holding of (Northern Region)
and 137/220 of the | AGM
Companies Act,
- 2013/1956
Rikant Pittie | Section 92/159, | Delay in | 522,000 Regional Director
96/166, 129/210 | Holding of (Northern Region)
and 137/220 of the | AGM
Companies Act,
2013/1956 -
| C. OTHER OFFICERS IN DEFAULT B
Penaity | - -- NIL - NIL B
Punishment | -- | -- - NIL - - NIL
Compounding | ~- IL-- NIL .- NIL
Annexure-II
Form No, AQC-2

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the
company with related parties referred to in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the
Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm'’s length transactions under third proviso

thereto

1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis: NIL

Name(s) | Nature of | Duratio | Salient terms of
of  the | contracts/ | n of the | the contracts or
related arrangeme | Contrac | arrangements or
party nt/ ts/ transactions

and transaction | arrange | including the
nature of ments/ | value,ifany
relations transact

hip ions

Justificati
on for
entering
into such
contracts
or
arrangem
ents or
transactio
ns

Date(s)
of
approva
1 by the
Board

Amou | Date on
nt which the
paid special
as resolution
advan | was passed
ces, if | in general
any meeting as
required
under flrst
proviso to
section
188.

2. Details of material contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm’s length basis

the
party

nature

Name(s)
related

relationship

Nature
contracts/

of

and

of | transactions

of

arrangements/

Duration of the | Salient terms
contracts/ of the
arrangements/ | contracts or
transactions arrangements
or
transactions
including the
value, if any

Date(s) of
approval
by the
Board, if
any

Amount paid as
advances, if any




NearGroup Rent earned Transaction As per the | 0204.2019 | INR96,000/-
Services Pvt based transaction
Led document
(Common
Director)
Nishant Rent Paid Transaction As per the | 02.04.2019 | INR 75,000/-
Pitti(Director) period transaction

document
Easemytrip Purchase of | 12 Months As per the | 02.04.2019 | INR2,86,00,000/-
Middleast Services transaction
DMCC document
Mr. Rikant
Pittie,
Director  of
the Company,
hold 39%
holding of
Easemytrip
Middleast
Singapore Purchase of | 12 Months As per the | 02.04.2019 | INR2,86,45,000/-
Arrivals Pte. | Services transaction
Ltd document
Mr. Rikant
Pittie,
Director  of
the Company
holds 100%
holding of
Singapore
Arrivals Pte.
Ltd
Snoby Private | Purchase of | 12 Months As per the | 02.04.2019 | INR2,86,45,000/-
Limited Services transaction

document
Common
Directors
Mr. Anil | Sale of the |- - 10.05.2019 | INR 7,75,00,000 /-
Kumar Pitti, | Property
Father of
Directors of
the Company.

Annexure HI

Information under Section 134(3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 8(3) of
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and forming part of the Report of the Directors

(A} Conservation of energy-

()the steps taken or impact on conservation of energy: NIL




(ii)the steps taken by the Company for utilizing alternative source of energy: NIL
(iii}the capital investment on energy conservation equipments: NIL

(B) Technology absorption-

{i)the efforts made towards technology absorption: NIL

(iD) the benefits derived like product improvement, cost reduction, product development or
import substitution: NIL
(iii) in case of imported technology (imported during the last 3 years reckoned from the

beginning of the financial year)-: NIL
(iv)the expenditure incurred on Research and Development.:-NIL

(C) Foreign exchange earnings and Outgo

Particulars FY 2019-20 FY 2018-19

Earnings Nil Nil

Cutflows 136,226,409.00 121,273,250.00

Net foreign exchange earning (136,226,409.00) | (121,273,250.00)
ANNEXURE IV

ANNUAL REPORT ON CSR ACTIVITIES:

1. A Brief outline of the Company’s CSR policy, including overview of projects or
programs proposed to be undertaken and a reference to the web- link to the CSR policy
and project or programs.

2.

The Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy of Easy Trip Planners Limited (Formerly
Known as EASY TRIP PLANNERS PRIVATE LIMITED) (hereby referred to as “Company”) has been
developed in accordance with Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies
(Corporate Social Responsibility) Rules, 2014 (hereby collectively referred to as the “Act”)
notified by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India. It can be viewed on the

Company website: https://www.easemytrip.com/investor-relations.htmi

The Composition of the CSR Committee.

The CSR Committee comprises of following members:

1. Mr. Satya Prakash (Non Executive Independent Director)- Chairman
2. Mr. Rikant Pittie {Executive Director}- Member
3. Mr. Nishant Pitti (Executive Director)- Member

3. Average net profit of the Company for last three financial years for the purpose of
computation of CSR: - INR22,3.5 Million

4. Prescribed CSR Expenditure (two percent of the amount as in item 2 above): INR
4.4 Million

5. Details of CSR spend during the financial year:-

a) Total amount to be spent for the financial year 2019-20: INR 4.4 Million
b) Amount unspent (until March, 2020): Nil
c) Manner in which the amount spent during the financial year as per details below:



(1) [2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)

SI.  [CSR Sector in |[Projectsor |Amount |AmountspentCumulative |Amount spent:

No  |projector which the programs |outlay on the expenditure |Direct or through
activity Project is [(1) Local  (budget}) projectsor [uptotothe [implementing
Identified. covered [Areaor otherprojector programs reporting agency *

(2) programs Sub-heads: period
Specify the |wise

State and (1) Direct

district expenditure

where on projects

projects or programs

or programs (2)

was Overheads:
undertaken

1 To provide Legal Delhi INR15 [INR15 INR 1.5 Through an
logistical Research Million  Million Million implementing
support to theand Socio Legal
government [Education Research &
agencies Education
involved in Foundation as
protection and registered
preservation charitable trust
of under section 12A

. of Income Tax Act,
:231:\3?5?;? 1962 and having its
) registered office at
Flat No. T2, North |
Side Third Floor,
Uday Kiran Appts,
: 62 MasjidMouth,
uday Park, Delhi-
110004

2 To treat needyHealth& AllIndia  [INR3.0 |INR3.0 INR 3.0 Through an
patients food Million  Million Million implementing
particularly to Aadhar
destitute Foundation as
women and registered
children, to charitable trust
admit them in under section 12A

. of Income Tax Act,
;l;f ::::Eltal 1962 and having its
registered office at
treatment and D-21, Shanti
to su'p-ply Compiex, opp
nutritious and Vejaipur,
food. Ahmedabad-38001




FormAOC-1

(Pursuanttofirstprovisotosub-section(3) ofsection! 29readwithrul eSofCompanies(Accounts)Rules,2014)

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries or associate

companies orjointventures

Part ASubsidiaries

(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in Rs.)

Sl

1

2

Name of the Subsidiary

Reporting  period for the |

Singapore Arrivals
Pte. Ltd,,

May 15, 2019 to ‘ August 15, 2019 to

Easemytrip

| -
Middleeast DMCC, | EaseMyTrip UK Limited

subsidiary concerned, if different May 21, 2019 to March
from the holding company's March 31, 2020 March 31, 2020 31,2020
reporting perio
|
Reporting currency Indian Rupees Indian Rupees Indian Rupees
| |
' |
Exchange rate as on the last date
of the relevant financial year 52.79 ! 2049 93.26
! | — ]
Authorised Share Capital SGD 150,000 | AED 60,000 | GBP 100
|
150,000 equity 60 equity shares of .
Paid-up share capital shares of face value ‘ face value of AED fggf‘gig?%g;a;e:;;
of SGD 1 each 1,000 each
| Reserves & surplus (5.463,629) [ (21,597,228} (2,072,180)
Total assets 3,762,620 7,015,636 £5,506,857 |
Total Liabilities 3,762,620 7,015,636 65,506,857
Investments - - -
Turnover 1,032,024 | 2,719,471 -
Profit/Loss Before Tax | (8432,909) | (5,345,491) (2,072,180) |
Provision for taxation J , ‘
Profit t After Tax | (8432,909) | (5345491) | (2,072,180)
| Proposed Dividend - - -
% of shareholding 100% 100% 100% ]

Notes: The following information shall be furnished at the end of the statement:

F.. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations; None
2. Namesof subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year.None



Part "B": Associates and Joint Ventures-NIT,

Statement pursuant to Section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related to

Associate Companies and Joint Ventures

Name of Associates or JoiniVentures

1. Latest audited Balance SheetDate

vonthe yearend

2.SharesofAssociateorJointVenturesheld bythecompan

No.

AmountoflnvestmentinAssociatesor) ointVenture

Extent of Holding (inpercentage)

3.Descriptionofhowthereissignificantinfluence

d

4.Reasonwhytheassociate/jointventu reisnotconsalidate

5. Networth attributable to shareholding as per
atestauditedBalanceSheet

6. Profit or Loss for theyear (after tax)

i. Considered inConsolidation

ii. Not Considered inConsolidation

I Namesoﬁissocia‘[esorjoint\r‘entureswhichareyettocommenceoperations.
i Namesofassocizuesoqiuimventurcswhichhavebeenliquidatedorso}dduringtheyear.

Note:ThisFormistobecertiﬁedinthesamemannerinwhichtheBaIanceSheetistobecertiﬁed”.

Date:28.12.2020
Place: New Delhi

For and on behalf of the Board
Easy Trip Planners Limited
(Formerly Known As “Easy Trip Planners Private Limited)

AL L
\/c‘ﬁ e " |
Nishant Pitt ;U%Pitﬁe

(Director) (Director)
DIN: 02172265 DIN: 03136369



S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP e setiogd

IGI Airport Hospitality District, Aerocity
Chartered Accountants New Delhi - 110 037, India

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Tel :+91 11 4681 9500

To the Members of Easy Trip Planners Limited (“Formerly known as Easy Trip Planners Private
Limited™)

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying standalone Ind AS financial statements of Easy Trip Planners
Limited (“Formerly known as Easy Trip Planners Private Limited”) (“the Company”), which comprise
the Balance sheet as at March 31 2020, the Statement of Profit and Loss, including the statement of
Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and the Statement of Changes in Equity for
the year then ended, and notes to the standalone Ind AS financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information .

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act,
2013, as amended (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity
with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at
March 31, 2020, its profit including other comprehensive income, its cash flows and the changes in
equity for the year ended on that date,

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the standalone Ind AS financial statements in accordance with the Standards
on Auditing (SAs), as specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those
Standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Ind
AS Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with
the ‘Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act
and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone Ind AS financial
statements.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 38 in the financial statements, which describes the possible effect of
uncettainties relating to COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s financial performance as assessed by
the management. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Information

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Director’s report but does not include the standalone Ind AS
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the standalone Ind AS financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone Ind AS financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether such other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material

S.R. Batlibol & Associates LLP, a Limited Liability Partnership with LLP identity No.
Regd. Office : 22, Camac Street, Block 8", 3rd Floor, Kolksta-700 016
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misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibility of Management for the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act
with respect to the preparation of these standalone Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair
view of the financial position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash flows
and changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted
in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act
read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. This responsibility
also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act
for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness
of'the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone Ind AS financial
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the standalone Ind AS financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations. or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone Ind AS financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these standalone Ind AS financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs. we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone Ind AS financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery. intentional omissions. misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also
responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such
controls.

= Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
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and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone Ind AS financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the standalone Ind AS financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.

As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (*the Order™), issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the
“Annexure 17 a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of those books;

(¢) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other
Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt
with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial statements comply with the
Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Companies (Indian
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended;

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2020
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on
March 31, 2020 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act;

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the
Company with reference to these standalone Ind AS financial statements and the operating
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure 2” to this report;

(2) In our opinion, the managerial remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2020 has been paid
/ provided by the Company to its directors in accordance with the provisions of section 197 read
with Schedule V to the Act;
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(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with
Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to
the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in
its standalone Ind AS financial statements — Refer Note 26 to the standalone Ind AS

financial statements;

ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for
which there were any material foreseeable losses;

iii.  There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education
and Protection Fund by the Company.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP

Chartered Accountants
CAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

per Yogesh Midha

Partner

Membership Number: 09494 ]
UDIN: 2009494 1 AAAAGA4684
Place of Signature: New Delhi
Date: December 28, 2020
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Annexure 1 referred to in paragraph 1 of “Report on other legal and regulatory requirements”
Re: Easy Trip Planners Limited (“Formerly known as Easy Trip Planners Private Limited”) (“The
Company”)

vi,

vii.

(a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative
details and situation of Property, plant and equipment.

(b) The Property, plant and equipment were physically verified by the management in the
previous year in accordance with a planned programme of verifying them once in two years
which, in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of
its assets. No material discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

(¢) According to the information and explanations given by the management, the title deeds of
immovable properties included in property, plant and equipment are held in the name of the
company.

The Company’s business does not involve inventories and, accordingly, the requirements under
paragraph 3(ii) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

(a) The Company has granted loan to a Company covered in the register maintained under
section 189 of the Companies Act. 2013. In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us, the terms and conditions of the grant of such loan is not prejudicial to
the Company's interest.

(b) The Company has granted loan that is re-payable on demand, to a Company covered in the
register maintained under section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013. We are informed that the
Company has not demanded repayment of any such loan during the year, and thus, there has
been no default on the part of the party to whom the money has been lent. The payment of
interest has been regular.

(¢) There are no amounts of loans granted to companies, firms or other parties listed in the
register maintained under section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013 which are overdue for more
than ninety days.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, provisions of
section 185 and 186 of the Companies Act 2013 in respect of loans to directors including entities
in which they are interested and in respect of loans and advances given, investments made and,
guarantees, and securities given have been complied with by the company.

The Company has not accepted any deposits within the meaning of Sections 73 to 76 of the Act
and the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014 (as amended). Accordingly, the
provisions of clause 3(v) of the Order are not applicable.

To the best of our knowledge and as explained, the Central Government has not specified the
maintenance of cost records under Section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, for the
products/services of the Company

(a) Undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, employees’ state insurance, goods and
service tax, cess and other statutory dues have not been regularly deposited with the appropriate
authorities and there have been serious delays in large number of cases in case of goods and
service tax and slight delays in case of Equalization deducted at source and employees
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viii.

state insurance. The provisions relating to duty of custom, sales-tax, value added tax and duty
of excise are not applicable to the Company.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us. no undisputed amounts payable
in respect of provident fund, employees’ state insurance, goods and service tax, cess and other
statutory dues were outstanding, at the year end, for a period of more than six months from the
date they became payable. Undisputed dues in respect of income tax which were outstanding,
as at year end, for the period of more than six months from the date they became payable, are
as follows:

Statement of Arrears of Statutory Dues Outstanding for More than Six Months

Name of | Nature of | Amount Period to which | Due Date | Date of Payment
the Statute | the Dues (Rs. amount relates
millions)
Income Advance | 8.71 1 April 2019 to | 15th June | Unpaid
Tax Act, | tax 15% June 2019 2019
1961
Income Advance | 26.57 16" June 2019 to | 15" Unpaid
Tax Act, | tax 15t September | September
1961 2019 2019

(¢) According to the records of the Company, the dues of income-tax, sales-tax, service tax,
duty of custom, duty of excise, value added tax and cess on account of any dispute, are as
follows:

Name of the | Nature of the | Amount** (Rs | Period to which | Forum where the
statute dues millions) the amount | dispute is
relates pending
Income tax | Income tax | 222.93 AY. 2012-13 | Commissioner of
Act, 1961 demand to A.Y. 2017- | Income-tax
18 (Appeals)
Income tax | Interest on | 134.05 AY. 2012-13 | Commissioner of
Act, 1961 Income tax to AY. 2017- | Income-tax
demand 18 | (Appeals)

** The Company has deposited Rs. 9.60 million under protest.

The Company did not have any outstanding loans or borrowing dues in respect of a financial
institution or bank or to government or dues to debenture holders during the year.

According to the information and explanations given by the management, the Company has not
raised any money way of initial public offer / further public offer / debt instruments and term
loans hence, reporting under clause (ix) is not applicable to the Company and hence not
commented upon.

Based upon the audit procedures performed for the purpose of true and fair reporting on the
financial statements and according to information and explanations given by the management,
we report that no fraud by the Company or on the Company by the officers or employees of the
Company has been noticed or reported during the year. As detailed in note 39 to the financial
statements, the Company has alleged that one of the employees has misappropriated funds




'S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartered Accountants

xi.

xil.

xiii.

xiv.

XV.

XVi.

amounting to Rs. 5.73 million, owed to the Company from its travel agents. The Company has
terminated his employment and has also recovered Rs. 3.40 million from the travel agents.

According to the information and explanations given by the management, the managerial
remuneration has been paid / provided in accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by
the provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013.

In our opinion, the Company is not a nidhi company. Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(xii)
of the order are not applicable to the Company and hence not commented upon.

According to the information and explanations given by the management, transactions with the
related parties are in compliance with section 177 and 188 of Companies Act, 2013 where
applicable and the details have been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, as required
by the applicable accounting standards.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination of the
balance sheet, the company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of
shares or fully or partly convertible debentures during the year under review and hence, reporting
requirements under clause 3(xiv) are not applicable to the company and, not commented upon.

According to the information and explanations given by the management, the Company has not
entered into any non-cash transactions with directors or persons connected with him as referred
to in section 192 of Companies Act, 2013.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the provisions of section 45-1A of
the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 are not applicable to the Company.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

0y

per Yogesh Midha

Partner
Membership Number: 094941
UDIN: 2009494 1AAAAGA4684

Place of Signature: New Delhi
Date: December 28, 2020
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Annexure 2 to the Independent Auditor’s Report of even date on the standalone Ind AS Financial
Statements of Easy Trip Planners Limited (“Formerly known as Easy Trip Planners Private
Limited™)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Easy Trip Planners Limited
(“Formerly known as Easy Trip Planners Private Limited”) (“the Company™) as of March 31, 2020 in
conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial statements of the Company for the year ended on
that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls
based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering
the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial
controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business,
including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and
detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely
preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls over financial
reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial
Reporting (the “Guidance Note™) and the Standards on Auditing as specified under section 143(10) of
the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls and, both
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to
these standalone financial statements was established and maintained and if such controls operated
effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements and
their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these
standalone financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements. whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion on the internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these
standalone financial statements.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting With Reference to these
Financial Statements

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to these standalone
financial statements is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control over financial
reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail. accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting With Reference
to these Standalone Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference
to these standalone financial statements, including the possibility of collusion of improper management
override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference
to these standalone financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial
control over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls over
financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements and such internal financial
controls over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements were operating
effectively as at March 31, 2020. based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria
established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of India.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

7=

per Yogesh Midha

Partner

Membership Number: 094941
UDIN: 2009494 |AAAAGA4684
Place of Signature: New Delhi
Date: December 28, 2020




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited"™)
Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2020
{Amount in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

Asat Asat

Particulars Hafes March 31,2020 March 31, 2019
ASSETS
L Non-current assets
(a) Property, plant and equipment 3 77.58 7149
{b) Intangible assets 4 126 0.34
{c) Investment property ;i 5 2321 83.50
(d) Intangible assets under development 4 333 -
{g) Financial assets
(1) Investments 6 12.01 “
(i1) Other financial assets & 149.20 i
() Deferred tax asset (net) 16 30.59 2719
Total non-current assets 297.18 182,52
IL. Current assets
{a) Financial assets
(i) Loans 6 13239 367.57
(i1) Investments 6 .99 =
{ii1) Trade receivables 8 583.68 41840
(iv) Cash and cash equivalents o 130.78 340.75
(v} Other bank balances 9 1,177.95 519.72
(vi) Other financial assets & 204.23 426,64
(b) Other current assets 7 287,17 175.28
Total current assets 2,526.19 2,248.36
Total Assets (I+11) 2,823.37 2,430 88
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
1L EQUITY
{a) Equity share capital 10 217.29 217.29
{b) Other equity
(i) Retained earnings 11 809.87 462.04
1,027.16 679.33
LIABILITIES
IV, Non-current liabilities
(a) Financial liabilities
(i} Other financial liabilities 12 1.63 270
(b} Contract liability 13 386,82 33178
(c) Long term provisions 14 17.54 12,58
Total non-current liabilities 405.99 347.06
¥. Current liabilities
{a) Financizl liabilities
{1) Trade payables 12
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises; - &
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and
smalt intarprisis 248.46 284,90
(if) Other financial liabilities 12 T03.45 474,94
(b) Contract lizbility 13 222.56 397.60
{¢) Provisions 14 294 142
{d) Other current liabilities 15 98.04 205.96
(e) Liabilities for current tax {net) 16 114.77 39.69
Total current liabilities 1,390.22 1,404.50
Total Liabilities 1,796.21 1,751.56
Total Equity and Liabilities (III+IV+Y) 2,823.37 2,430.88
! v of signi ing policies 2
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date
For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners
Private Limited")
CAI firm registrgtion number: 101 049W/E300004 CIN - U63090DL2008PTC 179041
N
Yogesh Midha P s nt Pittie
Plrtner Darector irecior
Membership No.: 94941 DIN: 02172265 DIN: 03136368
Place: New Delhi Place: New Delhi
Place: New Delhi Date: December 28, 2020 Date: December 28, 2020
Date: December 28, 2020 -
Preet: Sharma
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Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Priva
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss for the vear ended March 31, 2020
(Amount in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

te Limited")

" For the year ended For the year ended
Fentlonlin ey March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
1 Revenue from operations 17 1,409.85 1,011.07
I Other income 18 387.39 500.04
I Total income (I +11) 1,797.24 1,511.11
v Expenses
Service cost 37.54 -
Employee benefits expense 19 299.54 220,18
Finance costs 20 30,98 31.68
Depreciation and amortization expense 21 7.07 4.64
Other expenses 22 946.96 842.84
Total expenses 1,322.09 1,089.34
Profit before tax from continuing operations (I11-TV) 475.15 411.77
i | Tax expense: 16
Current tax 132.52 130.54
Adjustment of tax relating to earlier years - (4.54)
Deferred tax charge/(credit) (3.85) (7.62)
Total tax expense 128.67 118,38
VI Profit for the year (V-VI) 346.48 293.39
VII  Discontinued aperations 34
Profit / (loss) before tax for the year from discontinued operations - (35.62)
Tax (Income)/ expense of discontinued operations = 17.84
Profit/(Loss) for the year from discontinued operations - (53.46)
IX  Profit for the year (VII+VIII) 346.48 239.93
X Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be reclassified to statement of profit and loss 23
in subsequent periods
Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans 1.80 (0.26)
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit (0.45) 0.08
and loss
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 1.35 (0.18)
XI Total comprehensive income of the year, net of tax (IX+X) 347.83 23975
Total Earnings/(Loss) per share: (INR) [face value of share
INR 10 split into face value of INR 2 per share |
Basic and Diluted 24
Computed on the basis of profit from continuing operations 319 2,70
Computed on the basis of loss from discontinued operations - (0.49)
Computed on the basis of total profit for the year 3.19 22k
2

Summary of significant accounting policies
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amount in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

p For the year ended For the year ended
Toe March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
A Cash flow from operating activities
1 Profit before tax from continuing operations 475.15 411.77
Profit / (Loss) before tax from discontinued operations - (35.62)
Profit before tax 475.15 376.15
1 Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:
Depreciation and amortization 7.07 4.64
Advance written off 9.02 29.50
Finance cost 2878 3136
Interest income from:
- On deposits with bank (53.34) (35.08)
= On loans (35.57) {38.89)
Loss/{Gain) on sale of investments - 145
Impairment allowance of trade receivables 27.03 2372
Provision for doubtful advances 6.72 -
Bad debts 15.71 9.09
Dividend income (0.13) (1.92)
Liability no longer required written back and Claims written back (243.78) (307.57)
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipments - (0.11)
I from Financial G (0.50) Z
Profit on sale of investment property (17.69) _ (26.58)
{256.68) (310.38)
3 Operating profit before working capital changes (1+2) 218.47 65.77
4  Working Capital adjustments:
Decrease in trade and other receivables, financial assets, contract assets and other assets 132.98 3483
Decrease/{increase) in inventories - 3147
Increase in trade and other payables, financial liabilities, contract liability and other liabilities 177.90 678,94
Movements in provisions 6.47 4.16
Net changes in working capital 31735 749.41
5 Net cash flows from operating activities (3+4) 535.82 B15.18
6  Direct taxes paid (net of refunds) (57.44) (113.37)
7  Net cash flows from operating activities (5-6) 478.38 701.81
B Cash flow from investing activities:
Purchase of investments (9.99) -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - 0,13
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets (14.87) (10.91)
Proceeds from sale of In t property 77.49 176.67
Purchase of Investment property - (137.46)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (8.82) -
Inv in bank deg (having original maturity of more than three months) (807.43) (500.45)
Dividend received 013 1.92
Interest received 77.87 49.63
Net cash used in investing activities: (685.62) (420.48)

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amount in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

For the year ended For the year ended
Particulars
R March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
C Cash flow from financing activities:
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (L7 -
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities (0.54) -
Finance costs paid (0.42) {17.31)
Net cash flows used in financing activities: (2.73) (17.31)
D Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (209.97) 264.02
(A+BHC)
E Cash & cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year 340.75 76.73
Cash & cash equivalents as at the end of the year (D+E) 130.78 340.75
Cash and cash equivalents comprises:
Cash on hand 0.78 0.65
Funds in transit 10.67 167.25
Balances with banks:
- Current account 119.33 172.85
= Deposit account (with original maturity of three months or less) - -
Total cash and cash equivalents (Refer note 9) 130.78 340.75
Summary of significant accounting policies 2
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date
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Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Standalone Statement of Changes in equity for the year ended March 31, 2020

All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)
(a) Equity Share Capital

Particalars

Balance as at March 31, 2018

Add: Adjustment due to split of shares *

Add: Changes in equity share capital during the year
Balance as at March 31, 2019

Add: Changes in equity share capital during the year
Balance as at March 31, 2020

*Refer Note 10(b)(ii)

(b) Other Equity

Balance as at April 1,2018

Add: Profit for the year

Add: Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

Less: amounts utilized towards issue of fully paid up bonus shares
Balance as at March 31, 2019

Add: Profit for the year

Add: Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance as at March 31, 2020

As per our report of even date

For 8.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI firm registration number: 101049W/E300004

//

per Yogesh Midha
Partner
Membership No.: 94941

Place: New Delhi
Date: December 28, 2020

Number of shares Amount
7,243,000 72.43
28,972,000 -
72,430,000 144.86
108.645,000 217.29
108,645,000 217.29
Retained earnings  Total other Equity
367.15 367.15
23993 23993
(0.18) (0.18)
239.75 239.75
(144.86) (144 86)
462,04 462.04
346.48 34648
1.35 1.35
347.83 347.83
809.87 809.87

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners

Private Limited")

CIN - U63090DL2008PTC179041

Nishant Pitti

Director

DIN: 02172265

Place: New Delhi

Date: December 28, 2020

Company Secretary
Membership No: 34417
Place: New Delhi

Date: December 28, 2020

ikant Pittie
Director

DIN: 03136369
Place: New Delhi
Date: December 28, 2020




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

1. Corporate Information

Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited") (‘the Company’) was a
private limited company domiciled in India and incorporated on June 04, 2008 under the provisions of the
erstwhile Companies Act, 1956 replaced with Companies Act, 2013 w.e.f April 01, 2014. The Company is
engaged in the business of providing reservation and booking services related to travel and tourism through ease
my trip-portal, ease my trip-app or in-house call-centre. Till the financial year 2017-18, the Company was also
engaged in trading of coal, trading of shares and distribution of cinema movie rights. The registered office of the
Company is located at 223, Patparganj Industrial Area, Delhi 110092, The Company has become a Public Limited
Company w.e.f. April 12, 2019 and consequently the name of the Company has changed from Easy trip Planners
Private Limited to Easy trip Planners Limited.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation

The Standalone financial statements have been prepared to comply in all material aspects with the Indian
Accounting Standard (‘Ind AS’) notified under section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, read together with rule 3
of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended and presentation requirements of
Division II of Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013 (Ind AS compliant Schedule IIT). The financial statements
comply with Ind AS notified by Ministry of Company Affairs (MCA).

Accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Company to all the periods presented in these financial
statements except where a newly issued accounting standard is initially adopted or a revision to an existing
accounting standards requires a change in the accounting policy hitherto in use.

These financial statements are authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of directors on December 28, 2020.

The preparation of the said financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and
judgements. It also requires the management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies. The areas where estimates are significant to the financial statements, or areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, are disclosed in Note 2.23.

All the amounts included in the financial statements are reported in millions of Indian Rupees and are rounded to
the nearest millions, except per share data and unless stated otherwise.

2.2 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price at the measurement date at which an asset can be sold or paid to transfer a liability, in an
orderly transaction between market participants. The Company’s accounting policies require, measurement of
certain financial/ non-financial assets and liabilities at fair values (either on a recurring or non-recurring basis).
Also, the fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are required to be disclosed in the said
financial statements.

The Company is required to classify the fair valuation method of the financial/ non-financial assets and liabilities,
either measured or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements, using a three-level fair value hierarchy (which
reflects the significance of inputs used in the measurement). Accordingly, the Company uses valuation techniques
that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs,

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are unobservable.




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited™)
Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

2.3 Current versus non-current classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current / non-current classification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

An asset is classified as current when it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal
operating cycle, held primarily for the purpose of trading, expected to be realised within twelve months after the
reporting period, or cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for
at least twelve months after the reporting period.

A liability is classified as current when it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle, it is held primarily
for the purpose of trading, it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or there is no
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment ("PPE')

An item is recognised as an asset, if and only if, it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. PPE are initially recognised at cost. The initial
cost of PPE comprises purchase price (including non-refundable duties and taxes but excluding any trade discounts
and rebates), borrowing costs if capitalization criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to
its working condition for the intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as separate assets, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with expenditure will flow to the Company and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to Statement of Profit

and Loss at the time of incurrence.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of PPE are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when the asset is

derecognized.
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis using the rates arrived at

based on the useful lives estimated by the management which are in line with the useful lives prescribed in
Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.

The Company has used the following useful lives to provide depreciation on its PPE.

Particulars Years
Buildings 60
Furniture and fixtures 10
Motor vehicles 10
Computers : 3
Office equipment 5
Vehicle- Others 8

Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and hence, is not depreciated.

The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of PPE are reviewed, and adjusted appropriately, at-least
as at each reporting date so as to ensure that the method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from these assets. The effects of any change in the estimated useful lives, residual
values and / or depreciation method are accounted prospectively, and accordingly the depreciation is calculated
over the PPE’s remaining revised useful life. The cost and the accumulated depreciation for PPE sold, scrapped,
retired or otherwise disposed off are derecognised from the balance sheet and the resulting gains / (losses) are
included in the statement of profit and loss within other expenses / other income.




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

Subsequent costs are capitalised on the carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when future economic benefits associated with the item are probable to flow to the Company and cost of the item
can be measured reliably. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Company recognises such components separately and depreciates them based on their specific
useful lives. All repair and maintenance are charged to statement of profit and loss during the reporting period in
which they are incurred.

2.5 Intangible assets

Identifiable intangible assets are recognised when the Company controls the asset, it is probable that future
economic benefits attributed to the asset will flow to the Company and the cost of the asset can be measured

reliably.

Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic life. The Company
amortizes software over the best estimate of its useful life which is three years Website maintenance costs are
charged to expense as incurred.

The amortization period and the amortization method are reviewed at least at each financial year end. If the expected
useful life of the asset is significantly different from previous estimates, the amortization period is changed
accordingly. If there has been a significant change in the expected pattern of economic benefits from the asset, the
amortization method is changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such changes are accounted for in accordance with
Ind AS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when
the asset is derecognized.

2.6 Investment property

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss, if any.

An investment in land or buildings, which is not intended to be occupied substantially for use by, or in the
operations of, the Company, is classified as investment property.

The cost comprises purchase price, borrowing costs if capitalization criteria are met and directly attributable cost
of bringing the investment property to its working condition for the intended use. Any trade discounts and rebates
are deducted in arriving at the purchase price,

Depreciation on building component of investment property is calculated on a straight-line basis over the period
of 60 years.

Depreciation on leasehold land compenent of investment property is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
period of lease, i.e., 90 years.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period of
derecognition.




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

2.7 Inventories

Inventories in the form of traded coal is valued at lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes cost of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, Cost is
determined on a first in first out (“FIFO™) basis.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment, whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable or when annual impairment testing for
an asset is required. Such circumstances include, though are not limited to, significant or sustained decline in
revenues or earnings and material adverse changes in the economic environment.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. To calculate value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market rates and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not
generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. Fair value less costs to sell is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, less the costs of disposal.

2.9 Leases
The Company has applied Ind AS 116 — ‘Leases’ using the full retrospective approach.

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset,
the Company assesses whether:

— the contract involves the use of an identified asset — this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should
be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has
a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified;

— the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset throughout
the period of use; and

— the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Company has this right when it has the decision-
making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where
the decision about how and for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the Company has the right to direct
the use of the asset if either:

- the Company has the right to operate the asset; or

- the Company designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.
Where the Company is the lessee
The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right of use

asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to
the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful
lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the
right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of
the lease liability. ' '

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, Generally, the Company uses its incremental borrowing
rate as the discount rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

— fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

— variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

— amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

— the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in
an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties
for early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is
a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The Company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant
and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘other non-current financial liabilities’ in the statement of financial position.

The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of machinery
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises the lease
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies Section 2.8 Impairment of
non-financial assets.

Where the Company is the lessor

When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease.

Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating lease is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease is based on whether fulfilment of the arrangement is
dependent on the use of a specific asset and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is
not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the
lessee. Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the Company’s net investment
in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the net investment outstanding in respect of the lease.

2.10 Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective
asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange
differences to the extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

2.11 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity.

(i) Financial assets

All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are added to the fair
value measured on initial recognition of financial asset. Purchase and sale of financial assets are accounted for at

settlement date.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash in banks and short-term deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,

Classification

The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.

Financial instruments at amortized cost
A financial instrument is measured at the amortized cost if both the following conditions are met:

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash
flows, and

b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate (EIR) method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in other income
in the statement of profit and loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the statement of profit and
loss. This category includes cash and bank balances, loans, unbilled revenue, trade and other receivables.
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Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

Financial instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (*FVTOCI’)
A financial instrument is classified and measured at fair value through OCI if both of the following criteria are met:

a) The objective of the business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
financial assets, and

b) The asset’s contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest.

Financial instruments included within the OCI category are measured initially as well as at each reporting date at
fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in OCI. On derecognition of the asset, cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from OCI to statement of profit and loss.

Financial instruments at Fair Value through Profit and Loss (‘FVTPL?)

Any financial instrument, which does not meet the criteria for categorization at amortized cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, is classified at fair value through profit and loss. Financial instruments
included in the fair value through profit and loss category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized
in the statement of profit and loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company are initially measured at their fair values
and, if not designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

e The amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with impairment requirements of Ind AS 109;
and

e The amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of Ind AS 115.

Equity investments

All equity investments in scope of Ind AS 109 are measured at fair value. Equity instruments which are held for.
trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Company may make an irrevocable election

to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value. The Company makes such election

on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable.

If the Company decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes on the
instrument, excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling of the amounts from OCI to
P&L, even on sale of investment.

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in
the statement of profit & loss.
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognizes loss allowances using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for the financial assets which
are not fair valued through profit and loss. Lifetime ECL allowance is recognized for trade receivables with no
significant financing component. For all other financial assets, expected credit losses are measured at an amount
equal to the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk from initial recognition in
which case they are measured at lifetime ECL. The amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required
to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date is recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

The Company follows simplified approach for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trade receivables. The
application of simplified approach does not require the company to track changes in credit risk. Rather, it
recognizes impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date, right from its initial
recognition.

ii) Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. The Company’s financial liabilities include trade
payables and other payables.

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when the liabilities are
derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization
is included as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance
costs in the statement of profit and loss. This category generally applies to borrowings.

2.12 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Company and revenue
can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into
account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty.

The Company assesses its revenue arrangement against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as
principal or agent. The Company has concluded that it is acting as agent in case of sale of airline tickets and hotel
packages as the supplier is primarily responsible for providing the underlying travel services and the Company
does not control the service provided by the supplier to the traveller.

Ind AS 115 was issued on March 28, 2018 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers Under Ind AS 115, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to
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which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The Company
has adopted the new standard on the transition date using the full retrospective method.,

Income from services
A, Air ticketing

Income from the sale of airline tickets is recognized as an agent on a net commission, incentives and fees on earned
basis net of discounts given to customers, as the Company does not assume any performance obligation post the
confirmation of the issuance of an airline ticket to the customer. Company records allowance for cancellations at
the time of the transaction based on historical experience.

Incentives from airlines are considered as earned when the performance obligations under the incentive schemes
are achieved / expected to be achieved at the end of year.

The Company has measured the revenue in respect of its performance obligation of a contract at its standalone
selling price. The price that is regularly charged for an item when sold separately is the best evidence of its
standalone selling price.

The specific recognition criteria described below is also considered before revenue is recognised.
Variable consideration

If the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the Company estimates the amount of consideration
to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

The Company recognizes incentives from airlines when incentives are expected to be achieved as per the threshold
specified in the contract. To estimate the variable consideration, the Company applies the expected value method
for contracts. The selected method that best predicts amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by the
amount of volume thresholds contained in the contract. The Company uses historical data for forecasting future
cancellations to come up with expected cancellation percentages. These percentages are applied to determine the
expected value of the variable consideration.

B.  Hotels Packages

Income from hotel reservation is recognized as an agent on a net basis. Revenue is recognised at the time of issuance
of hotel voucher including for non-refundable transactions as the Company does not assume any performance
obligation post the confirmation of the issuance of hotel voucher to the customer,

Packages assembled by individual travellers through packaging functionality on our websites generally includes a
merchant hotel component and some combinations of an air, car or destination services component. The individual
package components are accounted for as separate performance obligations and recognised in accordance with our
revenue recognition policies stated above. In few cases of corporate packages managed by the Company on an end
to end basis, the Company acts as a principal and takes full responsibility of delivering the services, the revenues
are recognised on a gross basis and cost of services against these packages is recognised as service costs.

Contract balances

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Company performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or
before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
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Trade Receivables

A receivable represents the Company’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the
passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to accounting policies of financial
assets in section (2.11) Financial instruments.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Company has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before
the Company transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is
made, or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Company
performs under the contract.

The Company receives upfront advance from Global Distribution System (“GDS”) provider for facilitating the
booking of airline tickets on its software which is recognised as deferred revenue at the time of receipt. A pre-
agreed incentive is given to the Company by the GDS provider in periodic intervals for each eligible and confirmed
‘segment’ which is recognised as revenue and adjusted against amount recognised as deferred revenue. A Segment
means a booking for the travel of one passenger over one leg of a journey on a direct flight operated by a single
aircraft under a single flight number.

Non- cash Consideration

Ind AS 115 requires that the fair value of such non-cash consideration, received or expected to be received by the
customer, is included in the transaction price. The Company measures the non-cash consideration at fair value. If
Company cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of the non-cash consideration, the Company measures the
consideration indirectly by reference to the standalone selling price of the goods or services promised to the
customer in exchange for the consideration.

Income from sale of Coal

Revenue from customers is recognised when control of the goods is transferred to the customer at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods. Revenue is
recognized at actual transaction price net of taxes.

Income from distribution of movie rights

Income from distribution of movie rights is recognized on revenue sharing basis when the film is exhibited as and
when movie tickets are sold. Revenue share arising from sale of movie tickets are recognized at point in time,
generally upon when film is exhibited.

Income from trading of Shares

Income from sale of shares is recognized as per settlement date accounting i.e., when control of shares has been
passed to the buyer. Revenue is recognized net of taxes.

Income from other sources

Income from other sources, primarily comprising advertising revenue, income from sale of rail and bus tickets and
fees for facilitating website access to travel insurance companies are being recognized when performance
obligation being sale of ticket and sale of insurance in case of advertisement income is satisfied. Income from the
sale of rail and bus tickets is recognized as an agent on a net commission earned basis, as the Company does not
assume any performance obligation post the confirmation of the issuance of the ticket to the customer.

Interest income

For all debt instruments measured at amortized cost, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate
(EIR). EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of the financial
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asset or to the amortized cost of a financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Company
estimates the expected cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not
consider the expected credit losses. Interest income is included in other income in the statement of profit and loss.

2.13 Foreign currency transactions

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees which is the functional and presentational currency of the
Company. '

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the relevant functional currency at the rates prevailing
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency at the closing exchange rate prevailing as at the reporting date with the resulting foreign
exchange differences, on subsequent restatement / settlement, recognized in the statement of profit and loss within
other expenses / other income,

2.14 Employee benefits (Retirement & Other Employee benefits)

Retirement benefit in the form of Provident Fund is a defined contribution scheme and the Company has no
obligation, other than the contribution payable to the provident fund. The Company recognizes contribution
payable to the provident fund scheme as an expenditure, when an employee renders the related service. If the
contribution payable to the scheme for service received before the balance sheet date exceeds the contribution
already paid, the deficit payable to the scheme is recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already
paid.

The Company operates defined benefit plan for its employees, viz., gratuity. The costs of providing benefits under
the plan are determined on the basis of actuarial valuation at each year-end. Actuarial valuation is carried out for
using the projected unit credit method. In accordance with the local laws and regulations, all the employees in India
are entitled for the Gratuity plan. The said plan requires a lump-sum payment to eligible employees (meeting the
required vesting service condition) at retirement or termination of employment, based on a pre-defined formula.
The obligation towards the said benefits is recognised in the balance sheet, at the present value of the defined
benefit obligations less the fair value of plan assets (being the funded portion). The present value of the said
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows, using interest rates of government
bonds. The interest income / (expense) are calculated by applying the above-mentioned discount rate to the plan
assets and defined benefit obligations liability. The net interest income / (expense) on the net defined benefit
liability is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. However, the related re-measurements of the net defined
benefit liability are recognised directly in the other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. The
said re-measurements comprise of actuarial gains and losses (arising from experience adjustments and changes in
actuarial assumptions), the return on plan assets (excluding interest). Re-measurements are not re-classified to the
statement of profit and loss in any of the subsequent periods.

Accumulated leave, which is expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as short-term employee
benefit. The Company measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that it expects to pay
as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.

The Company treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward beyond twelve months, as long-term
employee benefit for measurement purposes. Such long-term compensated absences are provided for based on the
actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method at the year-end. Actuarial gains / losses are immediately
taken to the statement of profit and loss and are not deferred.

The Company presents the leave as a current liability in the balance sheet, to the extent it does not have an
unconditional right to defer its settlement for 12 months after the reporting date. Where Company has the
unconditional legal and contractual right to defer the settlement for a period beyond 12 months, the same is
presented as non-current liability.
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2.15 Income taxes

The income tax expense comprises of current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognised in the statement
of profit and loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the related income tax is also recognised accordingly.

a. Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rates, laws and regulations, which have been enacted or
substantively enacted as at the reporting date. The payment made in excess / (shortfall) of the Company’s
income tax obligation for the period are recognised in the balance sheet as current income tax assets /
liabilities. Any interest, related to accrued liabilities for potential tax assessments are not included in Income
tax charge or (credit), but are rather recognised within finance costs.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are off-set against each other and the resultant net amount is presented
in the balance sheet, if and only when, (a) the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off
the current income tax assets and liabilities, and (b) when it relates to income tax levied by the same taxation
authority and where there is an intention to settle the current income tax balances on net basis.

b. Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The unrecognised deferred tax assets / carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date for recoverability and adjusted appropriately.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Appendix C to Ind AS 12 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment

The Interpretation is applicable from April 01, 2019 and addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax
treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of Ind AS 12 Income Taxes. It does not apply to taxes
or levies outside the scope of Ind AS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and
penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.

The Interpretation specifically addresses the following:

Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately.

The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities.

How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates.
How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.

The Company determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more
other uncertain tax treatments and uses the approach that better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty.
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The Company applies significant judgement in identifying uncertainties over income tax treatments. Upon
adoption of the Interpretation, the Company considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions, particularly
those relating to income tax. The Company determined, based on its tax compliance, that it is probable that its tax
treatments will be accepted by the taxation authorities. The Interpretation does not have an impact on the financial

statements of the Company.
Other disclosures:
When there is uncertainty over income tax treatments, an entity shall determine whether to disclose:

(2) Judgements made in determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and
tax rates applying paragraph 122 of Ind AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements; and

(b) Information about the assumptions and estimates made in determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates applying.

If an entity concludes it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity shall
determine whether to disclose the potential effect of the uncertainty as a tax—related contingency applying
paragraph 88 of Ind AS 12.

2.16 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the period attributable to equity
shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period. The weighted average
number of equity shares outstanding during the period is adjusted for events such as bonus issue, bonus element in
a rights issue, share split, and reverse share split (consolidation of shares) that have changed the number of equity
shares outstanding, without a corresponding change in resources.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity
shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted for the effects

of all dilutive potential equity shares.
2.17 Provisions

A provision is recognized when the Company has a present obligation as a result of past event, it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not discounted to their present value if the effect of
time value of money is not material and are determined based on the best estimate required to settle the obligation
at the reporting date. These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best

estimates.

Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract,
the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The
expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of profit and loss net of any reimbursement.

2.18 Contingent liabilities
A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that may,
but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation or a present obligation

in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is made. The
Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in financial statements.

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less (that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and cash equivalents and subject to an
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insignificant risk of changes in value) and funds in transit. However, for the purpose of the statement of cash flows,
in addition to above items, any bank overdrafts / cash credits that are integral part of the Company’s cash
management, are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

2.20 Segment reporting policies

Identification of segments — Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). Only those business activities are identified as operating
segment for which the operating results are regularly reviewed by the CODM to make decisions about resource
allocation and performance measurement.

Segment accounting policies — The Company prepares its segment information in conformity with the accounting
policies adopted for preparing and presenting financial statements of the Company as a whole.

2.21 Discontinued operations

A disposal Group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has been disposed
of, or is classified as held for sale, and:
a) Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations,

b) is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations.

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single
amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the statement of profit and loss.

Additional disclosures are provided in Note 34. All other notes to the financial statements mainly include amounts
for continuing operations, unless otherwise mentioned.

2.22 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

Ind AS 116 Leases

Ind AS 116 supersedes Ind AS 17 Leases. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise most leases on the balance sheet.

Lessor accounting under Ind AS 116 is substantially unchanged from Ind AS 17. Lessors will continue to classify
leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles as in Ind AS 17. Therefore, Ind AS 116 does
not have an impact for leases where the Company is the lessor.

The Company adopted Ind AS 116 using the full retrospective method of adoption, with the date of initial
application of April 1, 2019. The Company elected to use the transition practical expedient to not reassess whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease at April 1, 2019. The Company did not have any contracts that was previously
identified as leases applying Ind AS 17 at the date of initial application. The Company also elected to use the
recognition exemptions for lease contracts that, at the commencement date, have a lease term of 12 months or less
and do not contain a purchase option (short-term leases), and lease contracts for which the underlying asset is of
low value (low-value assets).

The effect of adopting Ind AS 116 is, as follows:

Impact on Standalone Balance Sheet (increase/(decrease)):
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Particulars As at March 31, As at March As at April
2020 31,2019 1,2018
Assets
Right-of-use assets - - -
Deferred tax assets - - -
Total assets i - - -
Liabilities
Lease Liability (Non-Current) - - -
Lease Liability (Current) - - -
Total liabilities - - -
Impact on Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (increase/(decrease)):
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Finance costs 0.54 -
Depreciation and amortization expense 2.13 -
Loss for the period 2.67 -
Impact on Standalone Statement of Cash Flows (increase/(decrease)):
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Operating lease payments* (2.85) -
Interest paid 0.54 -
Net cash flows from operating activities (2.31) -
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (2.31) -
Net cash flows from financing activities (2.31) -

* Composed of different line items in the indirect reconciliation of operating cash flows
There is no material impact on other comprehensive income or the basic and diluted earnings per share.

Upon adoption of Ind AS 116, the Company applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases
for which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognised
lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
In accordance with the full retrospective method of adoption, the Company applied Ind AS 116 at the date of initial
application as if it had already been effective at the commencement date of existing lease contracts.

As at March 31, 2020:

* ‘Right-of-use assets’ were recognised and presented separately in the Standalone Balance Sheet.

e Lease liabilities were recognised and included under ‘Other financial liabilities’.

= ‘Deferred tax assets’ increased because of the deferred tax impact of the changes in recognised lease related
assets and liabilities.

» ‘Profit during the year’ decreased due to the net impact of these adjustments,

For the year ended March 31, 2020:

» ‘Depreciation expense’ increased because of the depreciation of additional assets recognized by INR 2.13
million during the year.

= ‘Rent expense’ increased due to rental charges of short-term lease by INR 1.73 during the year.

» ‘Finance costs’ increased by INR 0.54 during the year relating to the interest expense on lease liabilities
recognised.
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* Cash outflows from operating activities decreased by INR 2.31 million and cash outflows from financing
activities increased by the same amount, relating to decrease in operating lease payments and increases in principal
and interest payments of lease liabilities.

2.23 Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The estimates used in the preparation of the said financial statements are continuously evaluated by the Company
and are based on historical experience and various other assumptions and factors (including expectations of future
events), that the Company believes to be reasonable under the existing circumstances. The said estimates are based
on the facts and events, that existed as at the reporting date, or that occurred after that date but provide additional
evidence about conditions existing as at the reporting date. Although the Company regularly assesses these
estimates, actual results could differ materially from these estimates - even if the assumptions underlying such
estimates were reasonable when made, if these results differ from historical experience or other assumptions do
not turn out to be substantially accurate. The changes in estimates are recognized in the financial statements in the
period in which they become known.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Claims written back

The Company writes back unadjusted credits from airlines over a period of time. Till financial year 2017-18, the
amounts unclaimed and outstanding for more than 4 years were written back. Based on past trends, the Company
re-assessed the estimate and effective financial year 2018-19, it has written back amount unclaimed and outstanding
for more than 2 years from the refund date. Due to this change in estimate, it led to increase in other income on
account of additional claims written back amounting to INR 243.84 Mn during the year ended 31, 2019.

a. Allowance for uncollectible trade receivables and advances

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts. Estimated irrecoverable amounts are based on the ageing of the
receivable balances and historical experience. Additionally, a large number of minor receivables is grouped into
homogeneous groups and assessed for impairment collectively. Individual trade receivables are written off when
management deems them not to be collectible are provided in note 8 and 33.

b. Defined benefit plans

The costs of post-retirement benefit obligation under the Gratuity plan are determined using actuarial valuations.
An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future.
These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increase, mortality rates and future pension
increases. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation
is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. For details,
refer to note 25.

¢. Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured
based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the
present valuation technique. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but
where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include
considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. For details, refer to note 31, 32 and 33.
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d. Contingencies

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required. or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote. Contingent liabilities are disclosed on the basis of judgment of the management/independent experts.
These are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are adjusted to reflect the current management estimate.

e. Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowihg rate

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.

f. Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options — Company as lessee

The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to
terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Company has lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Company applies judgement
in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease.
That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or
termination. After the commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option
to renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to
the leased asset).

Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably
certain to be extended (or not terminated). Termination options in given in lease of office space to the lease, which
have been included in the lease liability as Company is not intended to terminate the lease. Reason for not to
exercise the termination option is because Company requires the office premise for future period, location of office
premise is prominent and lease rentals are reasonable. There is no future cash outflow in respect to extension and
termination option which is not included in the lease liability.

2.24 Standards notified but not yet effective

The new and amended standards that are notified, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Company’s
financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these new and amended standards if
applicable, when they become effective.

a. Amendments to Ind AS 1 and Ind AS 8: Definition of Material

The amendments to Ind AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and Ind AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors align the definition of ‘material’ across the standards and clarify certain aspects
of the definition. The new definition states that, ’Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting
entity. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, either
individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial statements.

A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the
primary users.

These amendments are applicable prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after the 1 April 2020. The
amendments to the definition of material are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s standalone
financial statements.
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Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

4 Intangible assets

Computer Software Total
Gross block
As at April 1, 2018 0.55 0.55
Additions . 0.09 _0.09
As at March 31, 2019 0.64 0.64
Additions 1.41 1.41
Adjustment during the year - 5
As at March 31, 2020 2.05 2.05
Accumulated amortisation
As at April 1, 2018 0.10 0.10
Charge for the year 0.20 0.20
As at March 31, 2019 0.30 0.30
Charge for the year 0.49 0.49
Adjustment during the year - \
As at March 31, 2020 0.79 0.79
Net carrying value
As at March 31, 2020 1.26 1.26
As at March 31, 2019 0.34 0.34

Intangible assets under development

Intangible assets

under development Tossl

As at April 1, 2018 : - =
Add: Additions during the year = -
Less: Capitalization during the year = -
As at March 31, 2019 - -
Add: Additions during the year 3.33 3.33
Less: Capitalization during the year - o
As at March 31, 2020 3.33 3.33

(i) The Company has elected Ind AS 101 exemption and continue with the carrying value for all of its intangible
assets at its deemed cost.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

5

Investment property
Amount

Opening balance at April 01,2018 . 99.30
Add: Additions made during the year 137.46
Less: Disposals during the year (151.36)
Closing balance at March 31, 2019 85.40
Add: Additions made during the year =
Less: Disposals during the year (61.98)
Closing balance at March 31, 2020 23.42

Depreciation and impairment

Opening balance at April 01, 2018 0.96
Add: Depreciation charge for the year 2.21

Less: On disposals during the vear (1.27)
Closing balance at March 31, 2019 1.90

Add: Depreciation charge for the year 0.49
Less: On disposals during the year (2.18)
Closing balance at March 31, 2020 0.21
Net carrying value

As at March 31, 2020 23.21
As at March 31,2019 83.50

The Company has elected to continue with the carrying value for all of its investment property as recognised in its previous GAAP financial
statements as deemed cost.

Information regarding income and expenditure of Investment March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
property

Rental income derived from investment properties 6.30 25.28
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) that - 0.17
did not generate rental income

Profit arising from investment properties before depreciation and 6.30 25.11

indirect expenses

Less - Depreciation 0.49 221
Profit arising from investment properties before indirect expenses 5.81 22.90
Fair Value of Investment properties

Number of investment properties 2 3
Fair value of investment properties outstanding as at that date 69.06 13492

Investment properties consists of land and buildings situated in India for rental income and capital appreciation. The fair values of
investment properties have been determined by independent valuer. The fair valuation is based on prevailing market prices/ price trend of the
property in that locality/ city considering the location, size of plot, approach road, amenities, locality ete.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerky known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

6 Financial assets

Asat Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
(a) Loans (unsecured, considered good)
Current :
Security deposits 16.10 1513
Loans
Loans to employees 1.78 1.09
Loans to related parties (Refer note 28) - 67.15
Loans to other parties (Refer note 35) # 114.51 284.20
Total 132.39 367.57
# It includes loan amounting to INR 114.51 Mn to party which cease to be related party after September 12, 2019.
(b) Investments at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
Asat Asat

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Current
Quoted mutual funds
755,510 (March 31, 2019; Nil) units of INR 13.23 each fully paid 9.9
up of IDFC cash fund-growth i i
Total FVTPL investments 5.99 -

—rrm e

Current 9.99 -
Non-current ”
Total 9.99 -
Aggregate book value of quoted investments 9.99 .

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments -
Aggregate market value of quoted investments 9,99 4
Aggregate amount of impairment in the value of investments = =

(c) Investments in unquoted equity instruments valued at cost

Non-current
Asat Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Subsidiaries
Easemytrip Middleeast DMCC: 60 shares (March 31, 2019: Nil) of AED 1000 each fully paid up L15 -
Singapore Arrivals Pte Limited: 150,000 shares (March 31, 2019: Nil) of SGD 1 each fully paid up 7.66 -
Easemytrip UK Ltd: 100 shares (March 31, 2019: Nil) of GBP 1 each fully paid up* 3.20 -
12.01 -
Total Current - -
Total Non-current 12.01 -

* The Company has furnished a financial guarantee on behalf of Easemytrip UK Limited for working capital demand loan taken from ICICI Bank UK
PLC. Such financial guarantee has been fair valued and recorded as an additional investment in the subsidiary.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

(d) Other financial assets

Asat Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Non-current
Deposits with original maturity for more than 12 months : 149.20 B
149.20 -
Current
Interest accrued
- On fixed deposits 42.58 31.64
- On security deposits 0.51 0.40
Receivable from related parties * (refer note 28) 79.45 20.27
Receivable from others parties 1.22 992
Amount recoverable from airlines 15.47 124.41
Advances recoverable against property** 65.00 240.00
204.23 426.64
Total 353.43 426.64
Total current 204.23 426.64
Total non- current 149.20 -

* Receivable from related parties includes amount receivable from "Promoter shareholders”, Promoter shareholders are proposing to have an initial public
offering (‘the offer) through offer for sale. All expenses with respect to the Offer shall be borne by the Selling Shareholders in proportion to the Equity
Shares offered by each of them in the Offer. Payments, if any, made by our Company in relation to the Offer shall be on behalf of the Selling Shareholders
and such payments will be reimbursed by the Selling Shareholders to our Company in proportion to the Equity Shares offered by each of them in the Offer,
The amount recorded till March 31, 2020 have been shown as recoverable as the Company's approval from SEBI is valid till March 31, 2021.

** Initially the amount was paid for purchase of property however the transaction got cancelled and amount was shown as recoverable at year end.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

7 Other assets

Current

Deferred advertisement expense

Prepaid expenses

Tax paid under protest
Advance to employees
Advance to suppliers
Considered doubtful
Advance to suppliers

Less: Provision for doubtful advances [Refer note 22]

Total

As at Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
- 0.22
0.90 0.83
9,60 -
0.15 -
276.52 174.23
6.72 -
(6.72) -
287.17 175.28

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited')
Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

8 Trade receivables
(a) Details of trade receivables is as follows:

Asat Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Trade receivables 583.68 41840
' i 583.68 418.40

Trade receivables include unbilled receivables of INR 342.62 (March 31, 2019 : INR 222.35) and represents the gross value of air ticket and
hotel packages booking to be collected from customer.

(b) Break-up for security details :

As at Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Trade Receivables
Considered good - unsecured 583.68 418.40
Trade receivables which have significant increase in credit risk 65.53 38.50
649.21 456.90
Impairment allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful debts)
Trade receivables which have significant increase in credit risk (65.53) (38.50)
Total Trade receivables 583.68 418.40
Movement in expected credit loss allowance
As at Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Balances at the beginning of the year 38.50 14.78
Additions during the year 27.03 23.72
Balances at the end of the year 65.53 38.50

Notes:
1 For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables, refer note 28.
2 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 0 to 30 days.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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9

0]

(ii)

Cash and cash equivalents

Details of cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

Asat As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Cas_h on hand ) 0.78 0.65
Funds in transit * 10.67 167.25
Balances with banks:
Current account 119.33 172.85
Total 130.78 340.75
For the purpose of the statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:
As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31. 2019
Balances with banks:
Current account 119.33 172.85
Deposits with original maturity of less than three months - -
Funds in transit * 10.67 167.25
Cash on hand 0.78 0.65
Total 130.78 340.75

* Funds in transit represents the amount collected from customers through credit or debit cards / net banking which is outstanding as at the

year end and credited to the company's bank accounts subsequent to the year end.

Other bank balances
As at As at
March 31,2020 March 31,2019
Bank deposits with original maturity of more than three months but less than twelve 1.177.95 519.72
months
1,177.95 519.72

Bank deposits at at March 31, 2020 include INR 592.32 (March 31, 2019: INR 508.70) pledged with banks against bank guarantees, bank

overdraft and credit card facility.

(This space has been intentionally lefi blank)
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Notes to Standalone financial for the year ended March 31, 2020
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10 Equity Share Capital

(a)

(b}

()

(i)

(<)

@

(e)

Details of share capital is as follows:
As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Equity share capital
Authorised share capital
125,000,000 (March 31, 2019 125,000.000) equity shares of INR 2/- each. 250.00 250,00
Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up share capital
108,645,000 (March 31, 2019: 108.645,000) equity shares of INR 2/- each 217.2% 217.29
TV TR
Reconciltation of autherised, issued and subscribed share capital:
Reconciliation of authorised share capital as at year end :
uity shares
No. of shares Amount
Ordinary Equirty shares
As at April 1, 2018 {Equity shares of INR 10 each) 10,000,000 100.00
Increase during the year 115,000,000 150.00
As at March 31, 2019 (Equity shares of INR 2 each) 125,000,000 250,00
Increase during the year = "
As at March 31, 2020 (Equity shares of INR 2 each) 125,000,000 250.00
Reconcifiation of issued, subseribed and fully paid-up share capital as at yearend :
Equity shares
No. of shares Amount
Ordinary Equity share
As at April 1, 2018 (Equity shares of INR 10 each) 7,243,000 T2.43
Increase during the year 101,402,000 144.86
As at March 31, 2019 (Equity shares of INR 2 each) 108,645,000 217.29
Increase during the vear - -
As at March 31, 2020 (Equity shares of INR 2 each) 108,645,000 217.29
Notes:

On March 4, 2019, the members of the Company approved a split of the companys equity shares in the ratio of 1:5, with a corresponding change in the nominal value per share from INR. 10 per share 10
MR 2 per share (thereby keeping the paid up share capital of the Company intact). Accordingly the Company has issued share certificates for 36,215,000 equity shares of TNR. 2 each in lieu of 7,243,000
equity shares of INR. 10 each. This stock split became effective on the date of intimation to Registrar of Companies ('RoC’) i.e, March 28, 2019, Subsequently on March 28, 2019, the Company allotted
72,430,000 equity shares of INR. 2 each as banus shares in proportion of two equity share for every one equity share held from the retained eamings, This was approved by the Board of Directors and
members in the meeting held on March 6, 2019 and March 20, 2019 respectively, -

Terms/Rights attached to equity shares

The Company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of INR 2 per share (March 31, 2019 : INR 2/~ each) . Each holder of equity is enulled 10 .0ne vole per share, [n the event of hqludanen
of the Company, the holders of the equity shares will be entitled to receive any of the remaining assets of the Company, afler distribution of all p The distribution will be in

to number of equity shares held by the shareholders, The Company has not paid any dividend during the vear ended March 31, 2020 and year ended March 31, 2019,

Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company

As at March 31,2020 As at March 31, 2019
Name of Sharcholder % holding im the % holding in the
No. of shares held fi No. of shares held G
Nishant Pitti 54,119,561 49.81% 54,119,565 49.81%
Rikant Pittie 53,972,760 49.68% 53,972,760 49.68%
As per the records of the Compasny, including its register of shareholders/ members and other declarations received from sharehold diny beneficial interest, the sbove shareholding represents both

iegal and beneficial ownerships of shares.

Aggregate number of Shares allotted as fully paid by way of bomus shares (during 5 years immediately preceeding March 31, 2020):
Aggregate number
Particulars of shares issued in 5 March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016
Years

Equity shares allotted as fully paid bonus shares by capitalisation " x A -
of Securities Premium Account Frizas0 TR
Eaquity shares allotted as fully paid bomus shares by capitalization 72,430,000 ] 72.430.000 . " &
of accumulated profits

During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company allotted 72,430,000 equity shares of Rs 2 each as bonus shares in proportion of ane equity share for every two equity shares held by capitalization of
accumulated profits. During the previous yvear March 31, 2018, the Company allotted 7,117, 14 equity shares of Rs 10 each as bonus shares in proportion of one squity share for every two equity shares
held by capitalisation of Securities Premium Account

{This space has been intennionally left blank)
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Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
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11 Other Equity

(a) Retained earnings Amount
As at April 01,2018 367.15
Add: Profit for the year 23993
Add: Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year net of tax (0.18)
Less: Amount utilized against issue of bonus shares (144.86)
As at March 31, 2019 462.04
Add: Profit for the year 346.48
Add: Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax : 1.35
As at March 31, 2020 809.87

(This space has been intentionally lefi blank)
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Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
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12 Trade payables

(a) Details of trade payables is as follows:

As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Current
Trade payables - dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises ’ - .
Trade payables - other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 248.46 284,90

Total 248.46 284.90

(i) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 0-60 day terms.

{ii) Refer note 28 for trade payables to related parties.

(iif) The amount due to micro, small and medium enterprises as defined in the "The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006"
("MSMED") has been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of information available with Company, The disclosures
relating to the micro, small and medium enterprises are as follows:

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

(a) The amounts remaining unpaid to suppliers as at the end of the year;
Principal amount . -
Interest due thereon - &

(b) Amount of payments made to suppliers beyond the appointed day during the year;

Principal amount - -
Interest actually paid under section 16 of MSMED " .

(¢) The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have - -
been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but without adding the interest specified
under the MSMED Act

(d) The amount of interest:
Accrued at the end of each accounting year = =

Remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year = =

(e) Interest remaining due and payable to suppliers disallowable as deductible expenditure deductible - Tos
expenditure under section 23 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006

(b) Other financial liabilities

As at Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

A. Non current

Lease liability*** - -
Security deposit received - 270
Financial guarantee obligation 1.63 -
Total (A) 1.63 2,70

B. Current

Lease liability*** - -
Other payable 702.39 474.94
Financial guarantee obligation 1.06 -
Total (B) 703.45 474.94

Total (A+B) 705.08 477.64

Total current 703.45 474,54
Total non- current 1.63 270

*#% The Company has vacated its office subsequent to the year end on which right of use assets ("ROU") and the lease liability has been created as per
Ind AS116. Accordingly the carrying value of ROU and corresponding lease liability amounting to INR 4.51 and INR 4.78 respectively has been reversed
and the difference INR 0.35 has been recorded as other income.
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Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

13 Contract liability

Deferred revenug *
Advance from customers *

Total

Total current
Total non- current

* Refer note 17 (¢)

(This spuce has been intentionally lefi blank)

Asat Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
425.28 667.39
184.10 61.99
609.38 729.38
222,56 397.60
386.82 331.78
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14 Provisions

(a) Details of provisions are as follows:

_A. Non- current

Provision for employee benefits
Provision for gratuity
Total (A)

B. Current

Provision for employee benefits
Provision for gratuity

Provision for compensated absences
Total (B)

Total (A+B)

Total current
Total non- current

Other current liabilities

Provident fund payable

Tax deduction at source payable
Goods and service tax payable
Others

Salary Payable

Total

.(??ffs space has been intentionally left blank)

As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
17.54 12.58
17.54 12.58
0.23 0.17
2.71 1.25
2.94 1.42
20.48 14.00
2.94 1.42
17.54 12.58
As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
1.47 1.39
1.80 4.74
79.66 186.10
0.19 0.16
14.92 13.56
98.04 205.96
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Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

16 Income tax

®

The major components of income tax expense for the year ended March 31, 2020 are:

Income tax expense in the statement of profit and loss comprises:

. Tax Expense:

(if)

(iii)

(a)

Current income

Adjustment of tax relating to earlier years

Deferred tax:

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss

Other comprehensive income (OCI) section

Deferred tax relating to items in OCI in the period:
Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans

Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate(s)

Profit before income taxes
Profit / (loss) before tax from a discontinued operation
Accounting profit before income tax

At India's statutory income tax rate of 25.17% (March 31, 2019: 29.12%)
Non-deductible expenses / (income) for tax purposes

Adjustment of tax related to earlier year

Rate difference

Others

Income tax expense

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss
Income tax attributable to a discontinued operation

Liabilities for current tax (net)

Tax liabilities
Current tax liabilities (net)

(This space has been intentionally left blank)

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
132.52 130.54
= (4.54)
(3.85) (7.62)
128.67 118.38
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
(0.45) 0.08
(0.45) 0.08
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
475.15 411.77
- (35.62)
475.15 376.15
119.59 109.54
2.15 31.01
= (4.54)
7.21 (0.18)
(0.28) 0.39
128.67 136.22
128.67 118.38
- 17.84
128.67 136.22
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
114.77 39.69
114.77 39.69
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(%]

Deferred tax asset (net): Balance Sheet
As at As at

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Fixed assets: impact of difference between tax depreciation and depreciation/ amortization charged for the 030 0.75
financial reporting ) ’
Impact of expenditure charged to the statement of profit and loss in the current year and earlier years but .41 1523
allowable for tax purposes on payment basis -
Allowance for impairment of trade receivables 18.18 11.21
Net deferred tax asset (net) 30.59 27.19

Statement of profit and loss
For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Fixed assets: impact of difference between tax depreciation and depreciation/ amortization charged for the 048 041
financial reporting Z ;
Impact of fair valuation of financial instruments - 0.15
Impact of expenditure charged to the statement of profit and loss in the current year and earlier years but 312 3.91)
allowable for tax purposes on payment basis ’ '
Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (6.97) i (4.42)
Provision for diminution i investment - 2821
Deferred tax expense/(income) {3.40) 20.44
Reconciliation of deferred tax asset (net):

As at Asat

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Opening balance of deferred tax asset (net) 27.19 4763
Tax income/(expense) during the year recognised in profit or loss 3.85 (20.52)
Tax income/(expense) during the year recognised in OCI (0.45) 0.08
Closing balance of deferred tax asset (net) 30.59 27.19

Notes:
The Company offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is probable, that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax assets will not be
realised. The ultimate realisation of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which the temporary
differences become deductible. Management considers the projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based on the level
of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable incomes aver the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes that it
is probable that the Company will be able to realise the benefits of those deductible differences in future.

The Company has elected to exercise the option permitted under section 115BAA of the Income - tax Act, 1961 as introduced by the Taxation Laws (Amendment)
Ordinance, 2019 dated September 20, 2019, Accordingly, during the year ended March 31,2020, the Company has recognised the provision for income tax and
remeasured its deferred tax assets basis the rate prescribed thereby and the related impact is recognised. The impact of change in tax rate on deferred tax assets is
disclosed above.

(This space has been intentionally lefi blank)
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17 Revenue from operations

(a) Disaggregated revenue information
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Company's revenue from contracts with customers:

For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Type of goods or service
Rendering of services
Air passage 1,133.67 885.56
Hotel packages 101.70 24.34
Other services 7.51 1.65
Total revenue from contracts with customers (A) 1,242.88 011.55

Given that Company's products and services are available on a technology platform to customers globally, consequently,
the necessary information to track accurate geographical location of customers is not available.

Timing of revenue recognition

Services transferred at a point in time 1,242.88 911.55
Services transferred over time = =
Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,242.88 911.55

(b) Set out below, is the reconciliation of the revenue from operations with the amounts disclosed in the segment information:

For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Revenue :
External customers 1,242.88 911.55
Inter-segment - -
1,242.88 911.55
Inter-segment adjustments and eliminations - ¥
Total revenue from contract with custometrs 1,242.88 911.55

(¢) Contract balances

For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Trade receivables 583.68 418.40
Contract liabilities 609.38 729.38

(i) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 0 to 30 days. In March 31, 2020, INR 27.03
(March 31, 2019: INR 23.72) was recognised as Impairment allowance of trade receivables.

(ii) Contract liabilities consists of deferred revenue of INR 425.28 (March 31. 2019: INR 667.39) which is advance received
towards productivity incentive which will be recognised as revenue on the basis of active and confirmed segment
bookings. During the year, Company has earned INR 242.10 (March 31, 2019: INR 335.61).

(iii) Contract liabilities also consists of advance from customers of INR 184.10 (March 31, 2019: INR 61.99) which refers to
advance received from B2B customers (travel agents) and corporate customers for issue of tickets and hotel packages. The
Company acts as an agent in such cases, hence, only a part of this advance i.e. Commission income from such advance
will be transferred to revenue. There are no significant movements in these balances throughout the periods presented.
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(d) Reconciling the amount of revenue recognised in the statement of profit and loss with the contracted price:

(e)

M

For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Revenue as per contracted price ‘ 2,483.73 1.652.68
Adjustments
Less:l Discounts offered to customers on airline ticket 1240.85 741 13
booking
Revenue from contracts with customers 1,242.88 911.55

Performance obligations
Information about the Company's performance obligations are summarised below:

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are as
follows:

As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Within one year 222.56 397.60
More than one year 386.82 331.78
609.38 729.38

The performance obligations expected to be recognised in more than one year relate to Global Distribution System
(“GDS™) provider for facilitating the booking of airline tickets on its software that is to be satisfied beyond one year. All
the other remaining performance obligations are expected to be recognised within one year.

Other operating revenue

For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Advertisement revenue* 166.97 99.52
Total other operating revenue (B) 166.97 99.52
Total revenue from operations (A + B) 1,409.85 1.011.07

* Advertising revenue majorly comprises of fees for facilitating website access to a travel insurance company and co-
funding arrangements with a banking company wherein a part of discount is borne by the banking company.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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Other income
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31,2020 March 31,2019

Interest income:

On deposits with bank 53.34 35.08

On loans 35.57 38.89
Dividend income 0.13 1.92
Rental income 7.46 26.46
Liabilities no longer required written back 36.92 6.79
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipments (net) - 0.11
Profit on sale of investment property (net) 17.69 26.58
Bad debts and advances written off recovered 28.92 63.42
Claims written back 206.86 300.79
Income from financial guarantee 0.50 -
Total 387.39 500.04

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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19 Employee benefits expense

20

Salaries, wages and bonus
Contribution to PF and other funds

Gratuity expenses
Staff welfare expenses
Total

Finance costs

Interest on:
Overdrafis
Others

Bank charges
Total

Depreciation and amortization expense

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
280.45 206.96
9.19 7.49
6.82 4.90
3.08 0.83
299.54 220.18
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
0.42 12.77
28.37 18.58
2.19 0.33
30.98 31.68

For the year ended
March 31, 2020

For the year ended
March 31, 2019

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of investment property
Depreciation on right-of-use

Total

3.98 2.23
0.49 0.20
0.47 221
2.13 -

7.07 4.64

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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(b)

Other expenses
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Power and fuel 5.96 2.93
Rent 1.73 0.90
Rates and taxes 22.75 4.42
Insurance 1.91 4.54
Repair and maintenance
- Plant and machinery 2.75 1.17
- Building 4.80 5.58
- Others 22.46 15.36
Advertising and sales promotion 269.94 306.35
Commission 80.29 76.39
Travelling expenses 15.92 9.84
Communication costs 7.07 453
Printing and stationery 1.59 2.69
Impairment allowance of trade receivables 27.03 23.72
Legal and professional expenses 18.35 18.72
Pavment to auditors [Refer note (a) below] 2.65 4.50
Advance written off’ 9.02 29.50
Provision for doubtful advances 6.72 -
Loss on ticket booking 046 7.54
Bad debts 15.71 3.66
Credit card charges 73.54 55.01
Expenditure towards corporate social responsibility (CSR) activities 597 590
[Refer note (b) below] . ’
Loss on sale of Investments (net) - 1.45
Outsourcing Expenses - 12.2]
Payment gateway charges 349.28 242.06
Miscellaneous expenses 1.06 4.07
946.96 842.84
Details of payment made to auditors are as follows:
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
As auditors:
Audit fee 2.50 4.50
Others Services 0.07 -
In other capacity
Reimbursement of expenses 0.36 0.25
2.93 4.75

Details of CSR expenditure: For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year 4.47 2.94
Particulars Paid in cash Yet to be paid Total
Amount spent during the year ended on March 31, 2020: - - -
i) Construction/acquisition of any asset % @ &
i) On purposes other than (i) above 1.50 447 5.97
Amount spent during the year ended on March 31, 2019: - - -
i) Construction/acquisition of any asset = = -
ii) On purposes other than (i) above 5.70 - 5.70
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(a)

(b)

(©)

(@

Components of Other Comprehensive Income

Retained earnings

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans 1.80 (0.26)
Income tax effect % (0.45) 0.08
1.35 (0.18)

Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic and diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company by the

weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year.

The following reflects the profit and share capital data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Number of equity shares at the beginning of the year 108.65 7.24
Equity shares issued during the year - 7243
Number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the year 108.65 79.67
Effect of bonus shares issued - =
Effect of share split . 2897
Adjusted/Revised number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the year 108.65 108.65
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year (based
2 e g 108.65 108.65
on date of issue of shares and share split) (in million)
Continuing Operations
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company 346.48 293.39
Weighaed average numl‘:er of: equity shares for the purpose of basic and diluted 108.65 108.65
earnings per share (no. in millions)*
Earning/(loss) per share [Nominal value Rs. 2 per share] 3.19 2.70
Discontinued Operations
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company - (53.46)
Weighted average number of equity shares for the purpose of basic and diluted - 108.65
eamings per share (no. in millions)*
Earning/(loss) per share [Nominal value Rs. 2 per share] - (0.49)

Total operations for the year

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company 34648 239.93
Weighted average number of equity shares for the purposes of diluted EPS (no. 108.65 108.65
in millions)*
Earning/(loss) per share [Nominal value Rs. 2 per share] 3.19 2.21

*Adjusted for bonus issue and share split. refer note 10.

On 4 March 2015, the members of the Company approved a split of the Company's equity shares in the ratio of 1:5, with a
corresponding change in the nominal value per share from INR 10 per share to INR 2 per share. This stock split became effective on
the date of intimation to Registrar of Companies ('RoC') i.e. March 28, 2019 and, unless otherwise indicated, all share amounts and
per share data, where applicable, has been adjusted retrospectively in accordance with the requirements of Ind AS 33 Earnings per

Weighted average number of shares is the number of equity shares outstanding at the beginning of the year adjusted by the number of
equity shares issued during the year, multiplied by the time weighting factor. The time weighting factor is the number of days for
which the specific shares are outstanding as a proportion of total number of days during the year.




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amount in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

25 Employee Benefits

A. Defined Contribution Plans
The Company has a defined contribution plan. Contributions are made to provident fund in India for employees at the rate of 12% of basic salary as per

regulations. The contributions are made to registered provident fund administered by the government. The obligation of the Company is limited to the
amount contributed and it has no further contractual nor any constructive obligation. The expense recognised during the year towards defined contribution
plan is INR 7.00 million (March 31, 2019: INR 4.90 million). The plan is unfunded. :

B. Defined Benefit Plans
Gratuity:
The gratuity plan is governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Under the Act, employees who have completed five years of service are entitled to
specific benefit. The level of benefit provided depends on the member's length of service and salary retirement age. The employee is entitled to a benefit
equivalent to 15 days salary last drawn for each completed year of service with part thereof in excess of six months subject to maximum limit of INR 2
million. The same is payable on termination of service or retirement or death whichever is earlier.
The present value of the obligation under such defined benefit plan is determined based on an actuarial valuation as at the reporting date using the
projected unit credit method, which recognises each period of service as giving rise to additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each
unit separately to build up the final obligation. The obligations are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The discount rate used
for determining the present value of the obligation under defined benefit plans is based on the market vields on Government bonds as at the date of
actuarial valuation. Actuarial gains and losses (net of tax) are recognised immediately in the Other Comprehensive Income (OCI).
This is an unfunded benefit plan for qualifying employees. The scheme provides for a lump sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death while in
employment or on termination of employment. Vesting occurs upen completion of five years of service.
The following tables summarise the components of net benetit expense recognised in the statement of profits or losses and the funded status and amounts
recognised in the balance sheet for the respective plans:

Movement in obligation

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Present value of obligation at beginning of the year 12.75 7.89
Interest cost 1.14 0.61
Current service cost 5.86 429
Actuarial loss on obligation -
- Economic assumptions 2.68 026
- Demographic assumptions 0.01 -
- Experience adjustment (4.49) -
Benefits paid (0.18) (0.30)
Present value of obligation at the closing of the year 17.77 12.75
Balance Sheet
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Present value of defined benefit obligation 17.77 12.75
Fair value of plan assets a =
Present value of defined benefit obligation (net) 17.77 12.75
Expenses recognised in Statement of profit and loss
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Current service cost 5.86 429
Past service cost - -
Interest cost on benefit obligation 1.14 0.61
7.00 4.90

Net benefit expense

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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Expenses recognised in Statement of other comprehensive income

For the vear ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Actuarial (gains) / losses
- change in financial assumptions 268 0.26
- change in demographic assumptions .01 : -
- experience variance (i.e. Actual experience vs assumptions) (4.49) -
(1.80) 0.26
The principal actuarial assumptions nsed for estimating the Company's defined benefit obligations are set out below:
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Discount rate 6.08% 7.66%
Future salary increase 10% 10.00%
Average expected future working life (Years) 28.22 29.25
Expected rate of return on plan asset Not applicable Not applicable
Retirement age (years) 58.00 5800
Mortality rates inclusive of provision for disability* 100% of IALM (2012-14)  100% of I‘;;M (2006 -
Withdrawal rate (per annum)
- Up to 30 years 5.00% 5.00%
- From 31 years to 44 years 3.00% 3.00%
. From 44 years to 58 years 2.00% 2.00%

*Indian Assured Lives Mortality (2012-14) Ultimate represents published mortality table used for mortality assumption.

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption is as

For the vear ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

Impact of the change in discount rate
a) Impact due to increase of 0.50 % (1.58) (1.12)
b) Impact due to decrease of 0.50 % 1.77 1.26
Impact of the change in salary increase
a) Impact due to increase of 0.50 % 1.39 1.11
b) Impact due to decrease of 0.50 % (1.38) (1.03)

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on the defined benefit obligation as a result of
reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period. These analysis are based on a change in a significant assumption,
keeping all other assumptions constant and may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that changes in
assumptions would occur in isolation of one another,

The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years:

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Year 1 0.23 0.17
Year2 0.52 0.16
Year 3 0.47 0.18
Year 4 0.58 0.30
Year 5 0.51 022
Year 6 onwards 15.46 11.72
Total expected payments 17.77 12.75

The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 17.76 years (March 31, 2019: 17.97 years).

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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(8)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(B)

(2)

Commitments and contingencies

Contingent liabilities
As at As at

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts .
- Litigation & claims (Refer Note (a) below) 667.68 667.68
- Service tax demand (Refer Note (b) below) 93.18 71.81
~ Guarantees (Refer Note (c) below) 210.00 120.00
- Income tax demand (Refer Note (d) below) ’ 356.98 -
Total 1,327.84 859.49

The Company has ongoing legal cases against the Company on account of various matters including recovery of moneys advanced in the course
of business, infringement of trademarks and seeking damages thereof. The cumulative amounts claimed against the Company in these cases is
INR 667.68; details of which are mentioned below:

(i) Air Worth Travel & Tours Private Limited; one of the ticketing partner with the Company, has filed claim of INR 574.62 against the Company
on grounds of claiming wrongful refunds on flown tickets, failed to make payment of cancellation charges, lower ticket charges for higher class
tickets, excess refunds claimed. This case against the Company is pending for acceptance by the Honourable High Court of Delhi.

Further, the Company had also filed a case against Air Worth amounting to INR 92.50 in 2015 on account of advances given to them for ticketing
business and is pending for hearings.

(ii) Payim, the e-commerce platform provider, managed by One97 Communications Limited has filed a case against the Company for non-
payment of cancellation refunds of INR 53.06 for the period till May 2017 which have been paid by Paytm to its customers on behalf of EMT,
non-payment of performance linked bonus, ete,

{i11) MakeMyTrip has filed a claim of INR 40 for Permanent Injunction Restraining Infringement of Trademarks, Copyrights, Passing Off,
Dilution of Goodwill, Unfair Competition, Rendition of Accounts of Profits/Damages, Delivery Up etc for use of similar name.

The Company based on assessment of its legal counsel believes that any chances of liability devolving upon the Company upon final conclusion
of the cases mentioned above in Court of Law, is not probable and hence has not provided for any amounts in the financial statements towards
any adverse outcome of these cases.

The Company had an outstanding service tax demand of INR 30.62 for the financial years 2012-13 to 2016-17 pertaining to incorrect availment
of Cenvat credit on input services in cases where it has taken abatement and exemptions for provision of output services. The Company in
December 2019 has paid INR 1531 under section 127 of Finance (No. 2) Act, 2019 read with rule 9 of the Sabka Vishwas {Legacy Scheme,
2019) as full and final settlement against such demand. As per the scheme, such payments would not be construed as admission of liability for
any subsequent years if assessed under the GST regime. Further, the Company based on internal assessment and expert opinion believes chances
of any liability devolving on this matter is not probable and hence have not provided for any amounts in the financial statements which if
computed for years subsequent to FY 2016-17 shall be INR 93.18 (March 31,2019: INR 41.19).

(i) INR 120 (March 31, 2019: INR 120): 'The Company has given joint bank guarantees to Travel Agents Federation of India (*TAFI’) in respect
of air travel business.

(if) INR 20 Mn (March 31, 2019: Nil): 'The Company has given bank guarantees to International Air Transport Association(‘IATA") in respect of
air travel business.

(111) INR 70 (March 31, 2019: Nil): The Company has issued a SBLC (Standby letter of credit) to ICICI bank towards issuance of working capital
loan to its wholly owned subsidiary Easymytrip UK Limited against fixed deposits. The bank can invoke the SBLC in full in case of default of
repayments of loan and/or interest by Easemytrip UK Limited.

A search under section 132 of the Income Tax Act, 1961 was carried out at the premises of the Company by the Income Tax authorities during
the financial year 2017-18. On December 27th, 2019, the Company has received demand orders amounting to INR 356.98 for financial years
2011-12 to 2016-17 pertaining to disallowances of certain expenses and addition of sales. The Company is contesting these demands at the
Appellate level and basis its intermal assessment and expert opinion it believes that the likelihood of these demands being sustained is not
probable and hence has not accrued any amounts towards these demands in the financial statements.

There are numerous interpretative issues relating to the Supreme Court (SC) judgement on PF dated 28th February, 2019. As a matter of caution,
the Company has made a provision on a prospective basis from the date of the SC order. The Company will update its provision, on receiving
further clarity on the subject.

Capital commitment

At March 31, 2020, the Company had commitments of INR 0.56 million (March 31, 2019: Nil) relating to software implementation contract
remaining to be executed and not provided for.
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Leases

Company as a lessee

The Company has lease contract for office premise having lease term of 3 years. The Company's obligations under its leases are secured by the
lessor’s title to the leased assets. The Company has also lease contracts for office premise having term of 12 months or less. The Company applies

the ‘short-term lease’ recognition exemptions for that lease contracts,

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year:

Amount
As at April 01, 2018 -
Additions -
As at March 31, 2019 -
Additions 6.64
Depreciation expense (2.13)
Adjusted during the year 5 (4.51)
As at March 31, 2020 =
Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year:

Amount
As at April 01, 2018 -
Additions -
As at March 31, 2019 .
Additions 6.55
Accretion of interest 0.54
Payments (2.31)
Adjusted during the year (4.78)
As at March 31, 2020 =
Current (Note 12 (b)) ; -
Non-current (Note 12 (b)) ¥
Maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows:

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Within one year - -
After 1 year but not more than five years < -
More than five years = =
The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 2.13 -
Interest expense on lease liabilities 0.54 -
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in other expenses) 1.73 0.90
4.40 0.90

Total amount recognised in profit or loss

The Company had total cash outflows for leases of INR 4.04 (March 31, 2019: INR 0.90).
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28 Related Party Disclosures

(a) Names of related parties and related party relationship

(i) Enterprises owned or significantly Near Group Services Private Limited
infl d by key gerial personnel or  Snoby Private Limited
their relatives Pitti Coal Company
i Easemytrip Middle East DMCC ]
Singapore Arrival Pte Ltd
Easemytrip UK Limited

Thai Arrivals (till April 30, 2019)
Easy Productions Pvt Ltd (till September 12, 2019)

(ii) Key managerial personnel (KMP) 1. Prashant Pitti (Whole Time Director)
2. Nishant Pitti (Chief Executive Officer and Whole Time Director)
3. Rikant Pittie (Whole Time Director)
4. Maxy Francis Assis Fernandes (Independent Director) (w.e.f July 02, 2019 to Feb 18, 2020)
5. Satya Prakash (Independent Director) (w.e.f July 2, 2019)
6. Usha Mehra (Independent Director) (w.e.f July 2, 2019)
7. Vinod Kumar Tripathi (Independent Director) (w.e.f Feb 24, 2020)
8. Abani Kant Jha (Chief Financial Officer) (w.e.f May 10, 2019)
9. Preeti Sharma {Company Secretary) (w.e.f April 2, 2019)

(iii) Relative of Key managerial personnel 1. Sakshi Pitti (Wife of Mr. Nishant Pitti)
2. Anil Pitti (Father of Mr, Prashant Pitti, Mr. Nishant Pitti and Mr, Rikant Pittie)
3. Renn Aggarwal (Mother of Mr. Prashant Pitti, Mr. Nishant Pitti and Mr, Rikant Pittie)
4. Hina Vanjani (Wife of Mr. Rikant Pittie)
5. Minal Bansal (Wife of Mr. Prashant Pitti)
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Related Party Disclosures (Contd...)

(d} Details of related party transactions are as below:

Particulars

For the year ended March 31, 2020

For the year ended March 31, 2019

Subsidiary

Enterprises owned
or significantly
influenced by key
managerial
personnel or their
relatives

Relative of
KMP

KMP

Coyletdt

Enterprises owned
or significantly
influenced by key

managerial
personnel or their

relatives

Relative of
KMP

KMP

(A} Salary paid during the year

Nighant Pitti

39.51

Prashant Pitti

Rikant Pittie

2861

Abani Kant Jha

Preett Sharma

Sakshi Pitti

Renu Aggarwal

Hina Vanjani

Minal Bansal

(B) Director sitting fecs paid during the year
Maxy Francis Assis Fernandes

0.40

|Satya Prakash

0.31

Usha Mehra

Vinod Kumar Tripathi

0.10

(C) Rent income earned

Near Group Services Pvt Ltd

115

(D) Rent expenses paid

Mr. Nishant Pitti

0.50

0.80

(E) Purchase of Services

Easemytrip Middle East DMCC

18.88

8.54

30.30

|Singapore Arrival Pte Lid

19.35

116

Thai Arrivals

3.90

33.65

Snoby Private Limited

020

119

F) Sale of zoods { services

Thai Arrivals

0.02

Pitti Coal Company

5,58

Singapore Arrival Pte Ltd

(G) Loans given

Easy Productions Pvt Ltd

335.50

335.70

(H} Repayment

Easy Productions Pvt Ltd

139.55

268.55

(I) Advance received against property*

Anil Pitti

Prashant Pitti

2.00

|(7) Interest Amount

Easy Productions Pvt Ltd

15.02

8.66

(K) Sale of investment Property

Hina Vanjani

Nishant Pitti

20.00 |

Anil Pitti

(L) Reimbursement expenses incorred on behalfl

[Nishant Pittt

2992

10.77

Rikant Pittie

27.76

10.08

Anil Pitti

Easemytrip Middlesast DMCC

3.19

1.20

Singapore Arrivals Pte Ltd

(M) Purchase of equity shares from Rikant

Easemytrip Middl DMCC

1.15

|Singapore Arrivals Pre Lid

7.65

(N} Investment in subsidiary

Easemytrip UK Ltd,

(0) Income from financial guarantee*

Easemytrip UK Litd,

0.50
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(b)

Related Party Disclosures (Contd...)

For the year ended March 31, 2020 For the year ended March 31, 2019
Enterprises owned Faterpones
or significantly E owned or
Particulars influenced by key " = .slgulﬁcanﬂy z
Subsidiary mansgiial Relative of KMP KMP Subsidiary | influenced by |Relative of KMP KMP
i key managerial
personnel or their
relatives "ef”""". e
their relatives

(A) Balance receivable at the year end
Nishant Pitti = - - 40.08 - - - 10.79
Rikant Pittie - - - 38.02 - - - 10.07
Anil Pitti - - 1.35 - - - - -

Productions Pvt Ltd (Loan Principal) * - - - - - 67.15 - -
Near Group Services Pvt Ltd = 021 - - = 0.03 - -
Easeniytrip Middle East DMCC 4,02 - - - - 5.56 - -
(B) Balance Pavable at the year end
Nishant Pitti - - - 142 - - - =
Minal Bansal - - - - - - 0.11 -
Renu - - - - - - 0.18 -
Rikant Pittie - = - = = - - 1.35
Prashant Piti - - - 0.54 - - - 0.54
Sin e Arrival Pte Lid 0.76 - - - - 2,06 - -
Thai Arrivals # - - - - = 3.99 - -
Snoby Private Limited®** - 0.00 - - - 0.03 - -
{C) Advance Salary given
Rikant Pittie - - = 015 - - - -
(D) Investment in Subsidiary outstanding at year
end
Easemytrip Middleeast DMCC 115 - - - - - - -
Easemytrip UK Ltd ** 330 - - - . g . =
Singapore Arrivals Pte Ltd 7.66 - - - - - - -
(E) Advance against property at the year end*
Anil Pitti - - - - - - 5.00 -
Prashant Pitti - - = = - - = 2.00
* Initially the token money was received against sale of property | the tr ion got {led and was shown as payable at year end.
~ Easy Production Pvt Ltd ceases to be related party after September 12, 2019, Bal receivable from Easy Production Pvt Lid as at September 12, 2019 to TNR 263.13.
# Thai Arrivals ceases to be related party with effect from May 01, 2019. Balance payable to Thii Arrivals as at April 30, 2019 amounts to INR 43.85. .
*# It includes INR 3.19 (March 31, 201%: Nil) d d in on of fair value of premium pertaining to financial guarantes of INR 70 Mn on behalf of Easemytrip UK Limited for
working capital demand loan taken from ICICI Bank UK PLC.
*++¢ Absolute balance as at March 31, 2020 of Snoby Private Limited is INR 4,963.
Key ent personnel I jon

. For the year ended For the year ended
Partenl s March 31,2020  March 31, 2019
Short term employee benefits 83.87 61.44
Sitting fees 1.20 -
Total compensation §5.07 61.44
The amounts disclosed in the table are the recognised as an ex; during the reporting period related to key management personnel.
The ion to the key Tet P | does not include the provision made for gratuity & leave benefit, as they are determined on an actuarial basis for the Company as a whole.
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
The sale and purchase from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevailing arm's length ion. O ling bal at the year end are unsecured and interest free and
settlement occurs in cash. For the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties (March 31, 2019 ‘Nil), This
assessment in undertaken each financial year through ining the fi 1al position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates. There have been no guarantees provided
or received for any related party receivables or payables except fi ial guarantee of INR 70 (March 31, 2019; Nil) given on behalf of Easemytrip UK Limited for working capital demand loan taken

from ICICI Bank UK PLC, There were no commitments given to related parties.
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29 Segment Information

Business segments

For management purposes the Company is organized into Lines of Business (LOBs) based on its products and services and has following reportable segments based on

the nature of the products the risks and returns the organisation structure and the internal financial reporting systems. The segment results are regularly reviewed and

performance is assessed by its Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). LOB wise profits before taxes finance costs other income depreciation and amortisation are
-reviewed by CODM on monthly basis. The whole time director(s) monitor the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about

The following summary describes the operations in each of the Company’s reportable segments:

1 Air Ticketing: Through an internet and mobile based platform and call-centres the Company provides the facility to book and service international and domestic air
tickets to ultimate consumer through B2C (Business To Consumer) and B2B2C (Business to Business to Consumer) channel. Both these channels share similar
characteristics as they are engaged in facilitation of air tickets. Management believes that it is appropriate to aggregate these two channels as one reporting segment due
to similarities in the nature of business.

2 Hotels and Packages: The Company provides holiday packages and hotel reservations through call-centers and branch offices. The hotel reservations form integral part
of the holiday packages and accordingly management believes that it is appropriate to aggregate these services as one reportable segment due to similarities in the nature

3 Other operations primarily include the advertisement income from hosting advertisement on its internet web-sites income from sale of rail and bus tickets and income
from facilitating website access to a travel insurance companies. The operations do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds to be a reportable segment for any of the
periods presented in these financial statements.

Other operation segments
The Company is into the trading in Coal business and Distribution of Movie Rights in North India and Trading of shares; all these segments have been discontinued in

the financial year 2017-18.

Adjustments;
1. Finance cost other income and depreciation and amortization are not allocated to individual segments as they are managed at Company level.
2. Current tax and deferred tax assets and liabilities are not allocated to individual segments as they are managed at Company level,

Entity wide disclosures
Revenue of INR 474.37 is derived from two external customers for the year ended March 31 2020 (March 31 2019: INR 572.58) individually accounted for more than

10% of the total revenue.

The summary of the segmental information for the year ended and as at March 31 2020 is as follows:

Continuing Operations

e Air Passage Hotel Packages  Other services Total Operations
Sale of Services 1,133.67 101.70 7.51 1,242.88
Other operating revenue

-Advertisement revenue 152.30 13.66 1.01 166.57
Total Revenue 1,285.97 11536 8.52 1,409.85
Segment results
Less; Operating expenses 1,171.22 105.06 7.76 1,284.04
Operating profit 114,75 10.30 0.76 125.81
Less: Finance cost - - - 30.98
Less: Depreciation and Amortization - - - 7.07
Add: Other income - - - 387.39
Profit before tax 114.75 10.30 0.76 475,15
Segment assets
Allocable assets 2,755.69 29.05 8.04 2,792.78
Unallocable assets - - - 30.59
Total assets 2,755.69 29.05 8.04 2.823.37
Segment liabilities
Allocable liabilities 1,660.22 2122 - 1,681.44
Unallocable liabilities - - - 114.77
Total liabilities 1,660.22 21.22 - 1.796.21
Additions to non-current assets
Property Plant and Equipment 10.13 - - 1013
Intangible assets 1.41 - - 1.41
Right-of-use asset 6.64 - - 6.64

3.33 - - 333

Intangibles under development
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The summary of the segmental information for the year ended and as at March 31 2019 is as follows:

Continuing Operations

Bystioubus Air Passage Hotel Packages  Other services Total Operations
Sale of Services 88556 2434 1.65 911.55
Other operating revenue

-Advertisement revenue - 96.68 2.66 018 99.52
Total Revenue 982.24 27.00 1.83 1,011,07

Segment results

Less: Operating expenses 1,032.71 28.39 1.52 1,063.02
Operating loss (50.47) (1.39) (0.09) (51.95)
Less: Finance cost - - - 31.68
Less: Depreciation and Amortization - - - 4.64
Add: Other income = - - 500.04
Profit/ (loss) before tax gg.f‘?) {1.39) (0.09) 411.77
Segment assets

Allocable assets 2,383.93 13.34 = 239727
Unallocable assets - - - 27.19
Total assets 2.383.93 13.34 = 2.424.46
Segment liabilities

Allocable liabilities 4 1,705.84 6.03 - 1,711.87
Unallocable liabilities - - - 39.69
Total liabilities 1,705.84 6.03 - 1,751.56
Other Segment information

Additions to non-current assets

Property Plant and Equipment 10.81 - - 10.81
Intangible assets 0.09 - - 0.09
Investment property 137.46 - - 137.46
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30 Capital Management

For the purpose of Company’s capital g t, capital includes issued equity capital, securities premium and all other equity reserves atiributable to the equity
holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Company's capital T is to maximise the shareholder value.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Company may adjust return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital
plus net debt. The Company includes within net debt. interest bearing borrowings, trade and other pavables, less cash and cash equivalents.

As at As at
Marech 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

Trade Payables 248.46 284.90
Other financial liabilities 705.08 477.64
Less: cash and cash equivalents (130.78) (340.75)
Net debts 822.76 421.79
Equity share capital (Note 10) 217.29 217.29
Other equity 3 R09.87 462.04
Total capital 1,027.16 679.33
Capital and net debt 1,849.92 1,101.12

44.48% 38.31%

Gearing ratio (%)

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets terms & conditions attached to the
interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended March 31, 2020 and year ended March 31, 2019,

(This space has been intentionally lefl blank)
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31 Fair value measurements

Set out below, is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Company’s financial instruments, including those with carrying amounts
that are reasonable approximations of fair values:

Carrying value Fair value

) As at As at
¥ March 31,2020 | March31,2019 | March31,2020 | March 31,2019
Financial assets
Loans 132.39 367.57 132.39 367.57
Investments 22,01 - 22.01 -
Trade receivables 583.68 418.40 583.68 418.40
Cash and cash equivalents 130.78 340.75 130.78 340.75
Other bank balances 1,177.95 519.72 1,177.95 519.72
Other financial assets 353.43 426.64 35343 426 64
Total 2,400.24 2,073.08 2,400.24 2.073.08
Financial liabilities
Trade payables 248 46 284.90 248.46 28490
Other financial liabilities 705.08 477.64 705.08 477 64
Total 953.54 762.54 953.54 762.54

Management has assessed that loans, trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, trade payables and borrowings approximate their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. The fair values of the quoted shares, mutual funds and bonds are based on price

Discount rate used in determining fair value

The interest rate used to discount estimated future cash flows, where applicable, are based on the incremental borrowing rate of borrower which in case of
financial liabilities is average market cost of borrowings of the Company and in case of financial asset is the average market rate of similar credit rated
instrument. The Company maintains policies and procedures to value financial assets or financial liabilities using the best and most relevant data available,

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between

willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:
The fair values of the Company's advances are determined by using discount rate that reflects the incremental borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting

period.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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32 Fair value hierarchy

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

Level 1: This level of hierarchy includes financial assets that are measured by

1o quoted (unadj

d) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

Level 2; This level of hierarchy includes financial assets that are measured using inputs, other than quoted prices included within fevel 1, that are observable for such items, directly or

indirectly.

1

Level 3: This level of hierarchy includes items i using a
in the same instruments ner based on gvailable market data.

Specific valuation techniques used to valus financial instruments is discounted cash flow analysis,

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Company’s assets and liabilities:

Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at March 31, 2020:

maodel based on assumptions that are neither supported by prices from observable current market transactions

Fair value measurement using
: Quoted prices in active | Significant observable Significant
Facticulats Total markets inputs unobservable inputs
{Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Financial assets measured at fair value
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
- Mutual funds 9.99 9.99 - -
= Shares - = = =
-Bonds i # . ¥
= Debentures - " s =
9.99 9.99 - -
Other financial assets
Interest accrued on bonds 5 = = ¥
Interest accrued on debentures = e # Z
Financial liabilities measured at Fair value
Other financial assets
Financial g ablig 2.69 - - 2.69
2.69 - - 2.69
There are no transfer between levels during the year ended March 31, 2020,
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy her with & fve sensitivity analysis as at March
31, 2020 is shown below:
” ' h Significant Input Sensitivity of the input
Particulars Valuation technigue R b Tt valve
100 bps increase!
Fi | g bligati Discounted cash flow  |Interest rate 2,80-5.80% (decrease) would result
method in increase (decrease) in.
fair value by INR 0.90
100 bps  increase
Discount rate 14.00% (decrease) would result
in (decrease) increase by
INR 0.04.
Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at March 31, 2019:
Fair value measurement using
Pirticilucs Total Quoted prices in active | Significant observable Significant
markets inputs unobservable inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Financial assets measured at fair value
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
- Mutual funds 475.75 47575 = =
= Shares = = E: =
- Bonds - iz G .
= Debentures - - a =
475,75 475,75 " 4
Other financial assets
Interest accrued on bonds B # i L
Interest accrued on debentures & = = L

There are no transfer between levels during the year ended March 31, 2019.
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33

(a)

(@)

(i)

(iii)

(®)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Company's activities are exposed to variety of financial risk; credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. The Company’s senior management oversees the
management of these risks. The Company’s senior management ensures that the Company’s financial risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and
procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Company’s policies and risk objectives. The Company reviews and
agrees on policies for managing each of these risks which are summarized below:

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is
exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables), including deposits with banks and finanecial institutions, foreign exchange transactions

and other financial instruments.
Trade receivables
Trade receivables are typically unsecured. Credit risk is managed by the Company through credit approvals, establishing credit limits and continuously monitoring the

creditworthiness of customers to which the Company grants credit terms in the normal course of business.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables as of the reporting date is as follows:

Particulars Not Due 0 to 60 days 60 to 120 days 120 to 180 days More than 180 days Total
As at March 31, 2019 33575 59.63 22,85 10.30 28.37 456.90
As at March 31, 2020 41496 72.40 84.72 50.72 26.41 645.2]

* The ageing of trade receivables does not include expected credit loss.

Expected credit loss for trade receivables using simplified approach

As at As at
March 31,2020  March 31, 2019
Gross carrying amount 649,21 456.90
Expected credit losses (Loss allowance provision) 65.53) (38.50)
Carrying amount of trade receivables (net of impairment) 583.68 418.40

Financial Guarantees
The Company is exposed to credit risk in relation to financial guarantee given to bank. The Company’s maximum exposure in this respect is the maximum amount the

Company could have to pay if the guarantee is called on. Financial guarantees are accounted as explained in note 2.12. The maximum amount Company could be
forced to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee is INR 70. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period. the Company considers that it is more likely than not that such an amount will not be payable under the arrangement.

Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses. The
Company’s objective is to, at all times maintain aptimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. The Company closely monitors its liquidity
position and deploys a robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing including loans from banks at an optimised cost.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments.

As at March 31, 2019 Carrying t On Demand Upto 1 Year More than 1 year Total

Other financial liabilities 477 64 47494 - 2.70 477.64
Trade payables 284.90 - 284.90 - 284.90
Total 762.54 474.94 284.90 2.70 762.54
As at March 31, 2020 Carrying amount On Demand Upto 1 Year More than | year Total

Other financial liabilities 705.08 702.39 1,06 1.63 705,08
Financial guarantee contracts* 70.00 70.00 - 70.00
Trade payables 248 46 - 248.46 - 248.46
Total 1,023.54 772.39 249.52 1.63 1,023.54

* * Based on the maximum amount that can be called for under the financizal guarantee contract.
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(c¢) Foreign currency risk:
The fluctuation in foreign curréncy exchange rates may have potential impact on the statement of profit or loss, where any transaction references more than one
currency or where assets/liabilities are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the Company. The Company undertakes transactions
denominated in foreign currencies and thus it is exposed to exchange rate fluctuations. The Company has a treasury team which evaluates the impact of foreign
exchange rate fluctuations by assessing its exposure to exchange rate risks and advises the management of any material adverse effect on the Company.

Particular of unhedged foreign exposure payables as at the reporting date :

As at March 31, 2020 As at March 31, 2019 |
Foreign Rupee equivalent Foreign Rupee equivalent
Currency currency Amount (INR million) currency Amount (INR million)
(in million) {in _million)
uUsD 0.09 6.58 0.09 6.27
EUR 0.00 0.24 0.01 0.45
THB 0.09 022 - -
AUD - - 0.00 0.21
SGD 0.01 0.76 0.04 2.06

Foreign currency sensitivity on unhedged exposure
3% increase / decrease in foreign exchange rates will have the following impact on profit before tax:

Impact on profit before tax

As at As at
Mareh 31,2020  March 31, 2019
Increase by 5% in forex rate ) 039 0.45
Decrease by 5% in forex rate (0.39) (0.45)
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34 Discontinwed Operations

‘nae Cmam in hoard mccurq, dnwd March 31, 201# announced its decision of its board of directors to discontinug the Coal, Movie and Share trading business which is also o separate segment os per Ind AS 108 Segment
is i with the Company’s long-term strategy to focus its activities in the areas of Travel and Tourism. All assets and liabilities of Coal, Movie and Share Trading business as at
March 31, 10]5 have been brought at realisable value (fair value less cost to sale)

The following statement shows the revenuz and ol di
Particula For the year ended March 31, 2020 For the year ended March 31, 2019
Trading of coal Movie distriburion Share Trading Total Trading of coal Movie distributipn Share Trading Total
Revenue
Revenue from operations - - - - 34 80 - 499,52 £34.32
Other income = - = = B.55 - T 20,64
- - - - 43.35 - 51157 554.92
Expenses i
Cost of movie distribution rights - - - - - - - -
Purchase of traded goods - - - - - - 475.74 473.74
Increase in inventories - - - - 3147 = - 3147
Emplovee benefits expense - - - - 015 - 046 0.61
Finance costs - - - - - - - -
Other expenses* - - - - 014 529 77.25 8272
- - - - 3.7 529 55349 590.54
Profit/ (loss) before tax - - - - 11.60 (5.29) (41.92) (35.62)
Income-tax expenses/ (reversal) - - - s 338 (1.54) 1600 1784
Profit! (lass) after tax = - - - 522 (3.75) (57.92) (53.46)

“includes loss on fair valuation of shares in share tradine business.

The carrying amounts of the total assets and liabililies to be disposed of are as follows, Comparative information for discontinuing operations is included in accordance with Ind AS 105 Discontinuing Operations,

Particulars As at March 3[.2030 a\saﬂ\v!mh 31,2019

Trading of coal ie distr
Total assets - - - - G.42 - - 6.42
Total liabilities - - - - - - - -
Net assets - - - - 6.42 - - 6.42
The net cash flows arributable to the di ini ions are &5 below:
Particulsrs For the year ended March 31, 2020 For me yu: tnd:d March 31, 2019

Trading of coal Movie distribution hare Trading ol ading of coal on
Operating activities - - - - 217.18 ?2.04 1731 306.33
Investing activities - - - - - - - .
Financing activitics - - - - = i o
Nt cash inflows / (outflaws) - - - - TLH 17.11 30633
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35 Disclosure required ander section 186(4) of the companies Act 2013
Particulars of loans as required by Section 186(4) of Companies Act 2013 are as follows:

Name of party Rate of interest Due date mmﬁu:l Purpose of Loan F;;;f:hy:; ::;: ;d F;;::I:h’::;;l?d
Carnival Motion Pictures Private Limited 16% On Demand Ui d Movie production - 15.81
. Wizeraft International Entertainment Private Limited 12% March 31, 2019 Unsecured  Organising [IFA event S 80.00
Easy Production Private Limited 16% On Demand Unsecured  Movie production 335.50 335.70
Ezeego One Travels & Tours Limited 24% December 18,2019  Unsecured Business operations - 200,00
Total 335.50 631.51
Movement in loans are as follows:
Asat Asat
March 31,2020 March 31,2019
Opening balance 35135 152,57
Add: Loans given during the year 335,50 631,51
Less: Received back during the year 57234 41740
Less: Written off during the year - 25.00
Add: Ind AS Adjustment - 9,67
Net amount appearing in Loans (Note 6)* 114.51 351.35

* This amount represents loans appearing in Note 6 excluding loans given to employees amounting to INR 1.78 and security deposit of INR 16,10,

The Company provides financial assistance to movie producers and other branding companies for advertisement and branding of travel, tour and ticketing business during the making and relaase of the
movies and award functions, The Company had during the financial year 2018-19, written off some of these loans due to uncertainty of collectability.

For the year ended For the year ended
S March 31,2020 March 31,2019
Jindal Stainless Limited: Nil {March 31, 2019: 970,714 shares) - 63.53
Mational Fertilizers Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 50,000 shares) - 1.84
Radha Madhav Corporation Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 100,000 shares) - 2.96
Spicelet Limited; Nil (March 31, 2019: 862,909 shares) = 75.98
Aditya Birla Capital Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 100,000 shares) - 9.50
Ashok Leyland Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 25,000 shares) - 213
Bharat Electronics Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 131,859 shares) - 11.03
Ceat Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 31,500 shares) E 39.02
Eros International Media Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 50,000 shares) - 392
ICICI Prudential Life Insurance Co. Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 25,000 shares) - 769
InterGlobe Aviation Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 100,000 shares) - 109.19
Jet Airways India Led: Nil (March 31, 2019: 70,000 shares) - 17.61
Jindal Stainless (Hisar) Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 365,000 shares) - 3227
NBCC (India) Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 75,000 shares) - 4.23
Punjab National Bank: Nil {(March 31, 2019: 25,000 shares) - 1.95
Reliance Communications Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 4,624,000 shares) - 30,06
Sterlite Technologies Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 33 000 shares) - 9.83
Tata Coffee Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 12,500 shares) - 1.93
Tata Motors Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 100,000 shares) - 1683
Tata Steel Bs! Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 200,000 shares) - 835
Tribhovandas Bhimji Zaveri Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 160,000 shares) - 10.69
Yes Bank Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 100,000 shares) - 15.21
Easemytrip Middiesast DMCC: 60 shares (March 31, 2019: Nil) 115 -
Singapore Arrivals Pte Limited: 150,000 shares (March 31, 2019: Nil) 7.68 -
Easemytrip UK Limited: 100 shares (March 31, 2019: Nil) 3.20 -

12.01 4‘?5&'
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36 Sections 92-92F of Income Tax Act, 1961 prescribe Transfer Pricing regulations for computing the taxable income and expenditure from 'international
transactions' between 'associated enterprises' on an 'arm's length' basis. These regulations, inter alia, also require the maintenance of prescribed
documents and information including furnishing a report from an Accountant within the due date of filing the return of income. The Company has
undertaken necessary steps to comply with the Transfer Pricing regulations. The Management is of the opinion that the international transactions are at
arm’s length, and hence the aforesaid legislation will not have any impact on the financial statements, particularly on the amount of tax expense and
that of provision for taxation.

37 The Code on Social Security. 2020 (‘Code’) relating to employee benefits during employment and post-employment benefits received Presidential
assent in September 2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette of India. However, the date on which the Code will come into effect has not
been notified and the final rules / interpretation have not yet been issued. The company will assess the impact of the Code when it comes into effect
and will record any related impact in the period the Code becomes effective.

38 COVID-19 Pandemic
The outbreak of Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic globally has resulted in economic slowdown. Various restrictions on travel have been imposed
across the globe which have led to huge amount of cancellations and limited new air travel, hotel packages, bus and train bookings. The Company has
undertaken certain cost reduction initiatives, including implementing salary reductions and work from home policies, deferring non-critical capital
expenditures and renegotiating the supplier payments and contracts. The Company expects to continue to adapt these policies and cost reduction
initiatives as the situation evolves. Although travel restrictions and quarantine orders are gradually being lifted, it remains difficult to predict the
duration of the long-term impact from the virus. Basis the available resources, Company does not consider significant impact on the financials,

39 The Company. during the year alleged that an employee of the Company working in the capacity of sales development manager has misappropriated
funds of the Company amounting to Rs 5.73 million owed by certain travel agents mapped to him through passing unauthorised credits to those agents
and also collecting money from the agents in cash against the sales and not depositing with the Company. The Company suspecting the breach of trust
has taken immediate steps by terminating the employment of the employee and taking steps to recover the money from the travel agents. The Company
was able to recover Rs 3.40 million from the agents. In the absence of evidence against the employee, a legal case could not be filed against the
employee. The Company is hopeful of recovering the balance amount from the respective agents and the amount is not overall material for the

financial statements.

40 Previous year figures
Previous year figures have been regrouped/reclassified, where necessary, to conform to this year's classification.

As per our report of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
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S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartered Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Easy Trip Planners Limited (“Formerly known as Easy Trip Planners Private
Limited™)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Ind AS financial statements of Easy Trip Planners
Limited (“Formerly known as Easy Trip Planners Private Limited”) (hereinafter referred to as “the
Holding Company™ ), its subsidiaries (the Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as
“the Group™) which comprise the Consolidated Balance sheet as at March 31 2020, the Consolidated
Statement of Profit and Loss, including the statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year
then ended, and notes to the Consolidated Ind AS financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid Consolidated Ind AS financial statements give the information required by the Companies
Act, 2013, as amended (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity
with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Group as at
March 31, 2020, its consolidated profit including other comprehensive income, its consolidated cash
flows and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the Consolidated Ind AS financial statements in accordance with the
Standards on Auditing (SAs), as specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under
those Standards are further described in the ‘ Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Ind AS Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the
Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the Consolidated Ind AS financial
statements.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 41 in the financial statements, which describes the possible effect of
uncertainties relating to COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s financial performance as assessed by
the management. Qur opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Information

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Director’s report, but does not include the

consolidated Ind AS financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the Consolidated Ind AS financial statements does not cover the other information and
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

artmership with LLP Identity No. AAB RE
3rd Floor, Kolkata-700 016
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In connection with our audit of the Consolidated Ind AS financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether such other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibility of Management for the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act
with respect to the preparation of these Consolidated Ind AS financial statements that give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial performance including other
comprehensive income, consolidated cash flows and consolidated statement of changes in equity of the
Group in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the
Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 (as amended) specified under section 133 of the Act,
read with the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2015 (as amended), The respective Board of Directors of
the Companies included in the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records
in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Group and for
preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design,
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively
for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and
presentation of the Consolidated Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of
preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements by the Board of Directors of the Holding
Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the Consolidated Ind AS financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the
Companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those respective Board of Directors of the Companies included in the Group are also responsible for
overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process of the Group.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Ind AS financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these Consolidated Ind AS financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Consolidated Ind AS financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
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misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also
responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such
controls.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Consolidated Ind AS financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the Consolidated Ind AS financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

*  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group of which we are the independent auditors and whose financial
information we have audited, to express an opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction. supervision and performance of the audit of the
financial statements of such entities included in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements of
which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated Ind AS
financial statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such other entities
included in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements of which we are the independent auditors
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Other Matter

We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information, in respect of three
subsidiaries, whose financial statements include total assets of Rs 76.29 million as at March 31, 2020,
and total revenues of Rs 3.75 million and net cash inflows of Rs 3.36 million for the year ended on that
date, These financial statement and other financial information have been audited by other auditors,
whose financial statements, other financial information and auditor’s reports have been furnished to us
by the management. Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the
amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries and our report in terms of sub-sections
(3) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based solely on the
reports of such other auditors.
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Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on Other Legal and
Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our
reliance on the work done and the reports of the other auditors and the financial statements and other
financial information certified by the Management.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.

As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(H)

(g

(h)

We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit:

In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of aforesaid
consolidation of the financial statements have been kept by the Group so far as it appears from
our examination of those books;

The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss including the
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with
the books of account;

In our opinion, the aforesaid Consolidated Ind AS financial statements comply with the
Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 (as amended) specified under section 133 of
the Act, read with the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2015 (as amended);

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2020
taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and of its subsidiary
companies. none of the directors of the Group’s Companies, incorporated in India is disqualified
as on March 31, 2020 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act;

With respect to the adequacy and the operating effectiveness of the internal financial controls
over financial reporting with reference to these Consolidated Ind AS financial statements of the
Holding Company and its subsidiary companies incorporated in India, refer to our separate
Report in “Annexure 17 to this report;

In our opinion, the managerial remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2020 has been paid
/ provided by the Holding Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in India to their directors
in accordance with the provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act;

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with
Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to
the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

i.  The group has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its
Consolidated Ind AS financial statements — Refer Note 28 to the Consolidated Ind AS
financial statements;

ii.  The Group did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which
there were any material foreseeable losses;
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iii.  There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education
and Protection Fund by the Holding Company, its subsidiaries incorporated in India during
the year ended March 31, 2020.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

B f)er Yogesh Midha
Partner
Membership Number: 09494
UDIN: 20094941 AAAAGB7814
Place of Signature: New Delhi
Date: December 28, 2020
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Annexure 1 to the Independent Auditor’s report of even date on the Consolidated financial
statement of Easy Trip Planners Limited (“Formerly known as Easy Trip Planners Private
Limited”)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements of Easy Trip Planners
Limited (“Formerly known as Easy Trip Planners Private Limited™) as of and for the year ended March
31, 2020, we have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Paytm E-Commerce
Private Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Holding Company”) and its subsidiary companies, which
are companies incorporated in India, as of that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, which are
companies incorporated in India, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial
controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Holding
Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of India. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct
of its business, including adherence to the respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets,
the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting
records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditer’s Responsibility

Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on the company's internal financial controls over financial
reporting with reference to these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial
Reporting (the “Guidance Note™) and the Standards on Auditing, both, issued by Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India, and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these
consolidated financial statements was established and maintained and if such controls operated
effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these consolidated financial statements and
their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these
consolidated financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists. and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion on the internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these
consolidated financial statements.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting With Reference to these
Consolidated Financial Statements

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to these consolidated
financial statements is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control over financial
reporting with reference to these consolidated financial statements includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting With Reference
to these Consolidated Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference
to these consolidated financial statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be
detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting
with reference to these consolidated financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the
internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to these consolidated financial
statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Holding Company, which are companies incorporated in India, have, maintained in
all material respects, adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these
consolidated financial statements and such internal financial controls over financial reporting with
reference to these consolidated financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31,2020,
based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Holding Company
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal
Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

pe.r Yogesh Midha

Partner

Membership Number; 094941
UDIN: 20094941AAAAGB7814
Place of Signature: New Delhi
Date: December 28, 2020




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2020
{Amount in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

: As at Asat
Aaticaars i March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
ASSETS
1. Nom-current assets

{a) Property, plant and equéipment 3 T1.58 7144
(b) Intangible assets 4 126 134
{c) Goodwrill  * 4 15.96 %
{d) Investment property -] 2321 83,50
(e} Intangible asscts under development 4 333 -
() Financial asscts 3
(i) Loans 65.29 E
(if) Other financial assets 150.23 -
{g) Deferred v asset (tet) 17 30.59 2719
Total non-current assets 367.45 182,52
IL Current assets
(2) Financial asscts
(i) Loans & 13239 367.57
(i} Investments [ 9.99 -
{im) Trade recenvables ] 58192 41840
{iv} Cash and cash equivakngs ° 134,14 340.75
(v} Othier bank balances 9 1,177.95 519,72
{vi) Other financial asscts & 204,27 420,60
(b) Other current asscts 7 28073 175.28
Total current assets 2,531.39 224836
Total Assets (I+11) 2.598.84 2,450.88
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
L EQUITY
(1} Equity share capital 10 1739 2171
(k) Other equity 1
(i} Retained eamings 793.21 46203
{ii) Capital Reserves .97 -
{iii} Other Reserves {0.96) &
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Group 101251 70,52
Marrcontrolling inlcrests - -
Total equity 1,002.51 679,32
LIABILITIES
TV. Non-current liabilities
(2) Financial Habilities
(i) Other fingneial Habilities 13 - 2.90
{b) Contract liability 14 35682 33178
{c} Long term provisions 15 17.53 12,58
Total non-current liabilities 404,35 347,06
V. Current lisbilities
(a) Finaneial habdlities
(i) Borrowings 12 6760 "
(i) Trade pavobles 13
Tewzl outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enierprises. 5 5
::ﬁmmfimgfhmufmdmmh«mmm:mmmm %639 —
{ii) Other financial liabilities 13 702,39 474.04
(b} Contract liability 14 119.85 397.60
(c) Provisions 15 254 L42
{d) Otlser current liabilities 18 95,04 19239
{¢) Liabilities for current tax (net) 17 114.77 30.69
Tatal current liabilities 1,481.98 1,404.50
Total Liabilities 1,886.33 1,751.56
Total Equity and Liabilities (IIF+IV+V) 189884 243088
S
S ; of significant accounting s 2

The accompanyving notes arc an integrel part of the financial staiemends
As per our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners
Private Limited™)

For 5.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants

ICAI firm registration number; 10 1049W/ES (0004

embership No.: 94941

DIN: 02172265
Place: New Delhi

Place: New Delhi
Date: December 28, 2020

Sharmza

Membership Noc 34417
Place: New Delhi
Date: December 25, 2020



Easy Trip Planners Limited (formesly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amount in INR million; uniess otherwise stated)

: For the year ended For the year ended
P
Articalary Notes March 31, 2020 March 31,2019
I Revenue from operations 18 1LA413.60 1,010.07
o Orther income 19 396.51 500.04
I Total income (I + IT) 1,810.11 L511.11
w Expenses
Serviea cost 3754 -
Employee benefits expense 20 301.96 22013
Finanice costs 21 = 33.02 3168
Depreciation end amortization expense 22 707 4§.64
Other expenses 23 971L.70 B42.84
Total expenses 1.351.29 1,099.34
v Profit before tax from continuing operations (TI-IV) 458.87 411,77
VI ‘Tax expense: 17
Current tax 132.52 13054
Adjustment of tax relating to earlier years - (4.54)
Deferred tax credit (3.53) (7.62)
Total tax expense 12899 L1838
VII  Profit for the year (V-¥1) 320.83 253.39
VIII  Discontinued operations 36
Loss before tax for the vear from discontinued operations - {35.62)
Tax exp ofd d operan = 17.84
Laoss for the year from discontinued operations - 153.46)
IX  Profit for the year (VII+VIIT) 329.83 139.93
X Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be reclassified to statemtent of profit and loss in 24
subsequent years
Re-measurement gains/ {losses) on defined benefit plans 1.80 (0.26)
Income tax relzling to items that wall not be reclassified to profit and loss (0.45) 0.08
Ttems that will be reclassified to statement of profit and loss in
subsequent periods
Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on exchange differences on ranslation (1.28) 3
of foreign operations >
Income tax relanng to items that will be reclassified to profit and loss 0.32
Other comprehensive income/{loss) for the year, net of tax 0,39 {0.18)
XI Total comprehensive income of the year, net of tax (IX+X) 330.22 239.75
Profit for the period
Aunbuted o
Equity holders of the Parent 329.83 239.93
Mon controlling interest - H
Comprehensive gain for the period
Atribured to :
Equity holders of the Parent 0.39 (018}
Non controlling interest " =
Total comprehensive income for the period
Attributed to :
Equity holders of the Parent 33022 239,75
Non controlling interest & -
Total Earnings/(Loss) per share: {INR) [face value of share INR 10
split into face value of INR 2 per share |
Bacsic and Diluted 5
Computed on the basis of profit from continuing operations 3.04 270
Computed on the basis of loss from discontined operations - (0:45)
Computed on the basis of total profit for the year 3.04 2321
Summary of sipnificant acconnting policies 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date

For &R, Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants

TCAI firm registration number: 101049W/E300004

per Yogesh Midha
Partuer
Membership No.: 94941

Place: New Delhi
Date: December 28, 2020

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly lmown
Private Limited™)
CIN - Us3090DL2008FTCITo041 J
. |

Tsha - \{}
rector N
DIN: 02172265
Place: New Delhi
Date: December 28, 2020

Sharma
Company Sacratary
Membership No: 34417
Place: New Delhi
Date: Decambar 28, 2020

as "Easy Trip Planners

t'ﬁ.

Director

DIN: 03136369

Place: New Delhi

Date: Dzcember 28, 2020




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly kmown as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the period ended March 31, 2020
(Amount in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

g For the period ended For the period ended
THiey _ March 31,2020 March 31,2019
A Cash flow from operating activities
1  Profit before tax from continuing operations 458.82 411.77
Profit before tax from discontinued operations - (35.62)
Profit before tax 458.82 376.15
2 Adjustments to recomcile profit before tax to net cash flows:
Depreciation and amortization 7.07 4.64
Advance written off 9.02 29.50
Finance cost 2970 3136
Interest income from:
- On deposits with bank {53.38) (35.08)
= On loans and others {35.57) (38.89)
Loss/{(Gain} on sale of investments - 145
Impairment allowance of trade receivables 3247 23.72
Provision for doubtful advances 23.01 -
Bad debits 1571 9.09
Dividend income (0.13) (1.92)
Liability no longer required written back and Claims written back {243.78) (307.37T)
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipments - (0.11)
Profit on sale of investment property (17.69) {26.58)
(233.57) {310.38)
3 Operating profit before working capital changes (1+2) 225.25 65.77
4 Working Capital adjustments:
Decrease in trade and other receivables, financial assets, contract assets and other assets (106.08) 34,83
Decrease/(increase) in inventories - 3147
Increase in trade and other payables, financial liabilitics, contract liability and other liabilities 206.41 678.94
Movements in provisions 6.47 4.16
Net changes in working capital 106.80 749.41
5 Net cash flows from operating activities (3+4) 332.05 815.18
6 Direct taxes paid (net of refunds) (57.44) (113.37)
7  Net cash flows from operating activities (5-6) 274.61 701.81
B Cash flow from investing activities:
Purchase of investments {9.99) -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - 0.13
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets (30.32) (109D
Proceeds from sale of Investment property 7749 176.67
Purchase of Investment property - (137.46)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (1.63) .
Intvestments in bank deposits (having otiginal maturity of more than three months) (658.23) (500.45)
Dividend received 0.13 192
Interest received 77.87 49.63
Net cash used in investing activities: (545.18) (420.48)

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly kmown as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the period ended March 31, 2020
(Amount in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

For the period ended For the period ended
Particulars March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

C  Cash flow from financing activities:

Proceeds for short-term borrowings 67.60 -
Payment of principal portion oflease liabilities 4 (1.77) -
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities (0.54) -
Finance costs paid (1.33) (17.51)
Net cash flows used in financing activities: 63.96 (17.31)

D Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (206.61) 264.02
(A+B+C)

E Cash & cash equivalents as at the beginning of the period 340,75 76.73
Cash & cash equivalents as at the end of the period (D+E) 134.14 340.75
Cash and cash equivalents comprises:

Cash on hand 232 0.65
Funds in transit 10,67 167.25
Balances with banks: !
= Current account 121.15 172.85
- Depoesit account (with original maturity of three months or less) - -
Total cash and cash equivalents (Refer note 9) 134.14 340.75
Summary of significant accounting policies 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

Chartered Accountants Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip
Planners Private Limited")

ICAL firm registration number: 101049W/E300004 ¢ CIN - Us3020DL200SPTCI 79041

hant Pitti

Parmer Director o
Membership No.: 94941 DIN: 02172265 N DIN: 03136369
Place: New Delhi Place: New Delhi
Place: New Delhi Date: December 28, 2020 Date: December 28, 2020
Date: December 28, 2020
P Sharma
Company Secretary

Membership No: 34417
Place: New Delhi
Date: December 28, 2020




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Consolidated Statement of Changes in equity for the vear ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

(a) Equity Share Capital

Particulars Number of shares Amount
As at April 1,2018 7,243,000 72.43
Add: Adjustment due to split of shares * 28,972,000 -
Add: Changes in equity share capital during the year 72,430,000 144.86
As at March 31, 2019 108,645,000 217.29
Add: Changes in equity share capital during the year - -
As at Mareh 31, 2020 108.645,000 217.29

ErErr—
*Refer Note 10(b)(ii)

(b) Other Equity
Retained earnings Capital reserve T;‘;Tf:ﬂsmﬁ Total other Equity
i

Asat April 1, 2018 367.14 - - 367.14
Add: Profit for the year 239.93 - - 23993
Add: Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax {0.18) - - {0.18)
Total comprehensive income for the year 239.75 - - 239,75
Less: amounts utilized towards 1ssue of fully paid up bonus shares (144.86) - - (144.86)
As at March 31, 2019 462.03 - = 462.03
Add: Profit for the year 32683 - - 329,83
Add: Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 1.35 - (1.28) 0.07
Add: Bargain Purchase Gain - 297 s 297
Total comprehensive income for the year 331.18 297 (1.28) 332.87
Less: armounts utilized towards issue of fully paid up bonus shares - - - -
As at March 31, 2020 793.21 2.97 (L_2=8) 794.90
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Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

1. Corporate Information

The Consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly
known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited") (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries (collectively, ‘the Group®) for
the year ended March 31, 2020. The Company was a private limited company domiciled in India and incorporated
on June 04, 2008 under the provisions of the erstwhile Companies Act, 1956 replaced with Companies Act 2013
w.e.f April 01, 2014. The registered office of the Company is located at 223 Patparganj Industrial Area, Delhi
110092. The Company has become a Public Limited Company w.e.f. April 12, 2019 and consequently the name has
changed from Easy Trip Planners Private Limited to Easy Trip Planners Limited.

The Group is primarily engaged in the business of providing reservation and booking services related to travel and
tourism through ease my trip-portal, ease my trip-app or in-house call-centre. Till the financial year 2017-18, the
Group was also engaged in trading of coal, trading of shares and distribution of cinema movie rights.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The Consolidated financial statements have been prepared to comply in all material aspects with the Indian
Accounting Standard (‘Ind AS’) notified under section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, read together with rule 3
of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended and presentation requirements of Division
11 of Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013 (Ind AS compliant Schedule III). The financial statements comply
with Ind AS notified by Ministry of Company Affairs (MCA).

Accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group to all the periods presented in these financial
statements except where a newly issued accounting standard is initially adopted or a revision to an existing
accounting standards requires a change in the accounting policy hitherto in use.

The Comparative financial information for year ended March 31, 2019 presented in the accompanying financial
statements is based on audited unconsolidated financial statements as the subsidiaries came into existence post April
01, 2019.

These consolidated financial statements are authorized for issue by the Board of directors on December 28, 2020.

The preparation of the said consolidated financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates
and judgements. It also requires the management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas where estimates are significant to the financial statements, or areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, are disclosed in note 2.23.

All the amounts included in the financial statements are reported in millions of Indian Rupees and are rounded to
the nearest millions, except per share data and unless stated otherwise.

1.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at
March 31, 2020. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

e Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee)
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
e The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee

e Rights arising from other contractual arrangements ,'”'l_ "“‘
e The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights A
| R
(’A
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Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited™)
Notes to consolidated financial statements for the yvear ended March 31, 2020
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

s The size of the group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of the holdings of the other
voting rights holders

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to contro! the subsidiary.

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other
events in similar circumstances. If a member of the group uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments
are made to that group member’s financial statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the group’s accounting policies.

The financial statements of all entities used for the purpose of consolidation are drawn up to same reporting date as
that of the parent Company, i.e., for the year ended March 31, 2020. When the end of the reporting period of the
parent is different from that of a subsidiary, the subsidiary prepares, for consolidation purposes, additional financial
information as of the same date as the financial statements of the parent to enable the parent to consolidate the
financial information of the subsidiary, unless it is impracticable to do so.

Consolidation procedure:

(a) Combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent with those of its
subsidiaries. For this purpose, income and expenses of the subsidiary are based on the amounts of the assets and
liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements at the acquisition date.

(b) Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent’s investment in each subsidiary and the parent’s portion of
equity of each subsidiary. Business combinations policy explains how to account for any related goodwill.

(c) Eliminate in full intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between entities of the group (profits or losses resulting from intragroup transactions that are recognised in assets,
such as inventory and fixed assets, are eliminated in full). Intragroup losses may indicate an impairment that
requires recognition in the consolidated financial statements. Ind AS 12 Income Taxes applies to temporary
differences that arise from the elimination of profits and losses resulting from intragroup transactions.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction,
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary

Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests

Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity

Recognises the fair value of the consideration received

Recognises the fair value of any investment retained

Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss

Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to profit or loss or retained earnings,
as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
2.1  Business combination and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition- related costs are expensed as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their acquisition
date fair values. For this purpose, the liabilities assumed include contingent liabilities representing present obligation
and they are measured at their acquisition fair values irrespective of the fact that outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits is not probable. However, the following assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination
are measured at the basis indicated below:

o  Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and measured in accordance with Ind AS 12 Income Tax.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed.

If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-
assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews
the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results
in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is
recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity as capital reserve. However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain
purchase, the entity recognises the gain directly in equity as capital reserve, without routing the same through OCI,

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit, Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative
values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

2.2  Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price at the measurement date at which an asset can be sold or paid to transfer a liability, in an
orderly transaction between market participants. The Group’s accounting policies require, measurement of certain
financial/ non-financial assets and liabilities at fair values (either on a recurring or non-recurring basis). Also, the
fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are required to be disclosed in the said financial
statements. Sy
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The Group is required to classify the fair valuation method of the financial/ non-financial assets and liabilities, either
measured or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements, using a three-level fair value hierarchy (which reflects
the significance of inputs used in the measurement). Accordingly, the Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the
use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets
Level 2: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are directly or indirectly observable
Level 3: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are unobservable.

2.3  Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current / non-current classification.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

An asset is classified as current when it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal
operating cycle, held primarily for the purpose of trading, expected to be realised within twelve months after the
reporting period, or cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting period,

A liability is classified as current when it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle, it is held primarily for
the purpose of trading, it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or there is no
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

2.4  Property, plant and equipment ("PPE")

An item is recognised as an asset, if and only if, it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. PPE are initially recognised at cost. The initial
cost of PPE comprises purchase price (including non-refundable duties and taxes but excluding any trade discounts
and rebates), borrowing costs if capitalization criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to
its working condition for the intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as separate assets, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to Statement of Profit and Loss
at the time of incurrence.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of PPE are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when the asset is

derecognized.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis using the rates arrived at based
on the useful lives estimated by the management which are in line with the useful lives prescribed in Schedule Il
of the Companies Act, 2013.

The Group has used the following useful lives to provide depreciation on its PPE.

Particulars Years

Buildings 60 o
Furniture and fixtures 10
Motor vehicles 10

Computers 3

Office equipment 5

Vehicle- Others 8 ]
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Frechold land has an unlimited useful life and hence, is not depreciated.

The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of PPE are reviewed, and adjusted appropriately, at-least
as at each reporting date so as to ensure that the method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from these assets. The effects of any change in the estimated useful lives, residual
values and / or depreciation method are accounted prospectively, and accordingly the depreciation is calculated over
the PPE’s remaining revised useful life. The cost and the accumulated depreciation for PPE sold, scrapped, retired
or otherwise disposed-off are derecognised from the balance sheet and the resulting gains / (losses) are included in
the statement of profit and loss within other expenses / other income.

Subsequent costs are capitalised on the carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
future economic benefits associated with the item are probable to flow to the Group and cost of the item can be
measured reliably. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such components separately and depreciates them based on their specific useful lives. All
repair and maintenance are charged to statement of profit and loss during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

2.5 Intangible assets

Identifiable intangible assets are recognised when the Group controls the asset, it is probable that future economic
benefits attributed to the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably,

Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis qver the estimated useful economic life. The Group amortizes
software over the best estimate of its useful life which is three years. Website maintenance costs are charged to
expense as incurred.

The amortization period and the amortization method are reviewed at least at each financial year end. If the expected
useful life of the asset is significantly different from previous estimates, the amortization period is changed
accordingly. If there has been a significant change in the expected pattern of economic benefits from the asset, the
amortization method is changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such changes are accounted for in accordance with
Ind AS 8 - Aecounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when
the asset is derecognized.

2.6 Investment property

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss, if any.

An investment in Jand or buildings, which is not intended to be occupied substantially for use by, or in the operations
of, the Group, is classified as investment property.

The cost comprises purchase price, borrowing costs if capitalization criteria are met and directly attributable cost of
bringing the investment property to its workmg condition for the intended use. Any trade discounts and rebates are
deducted in arriving at the purchase price.

Depreciation on building component of investment property is calculated on a straight-line basis over the period of
60 years.

Depreciation on leasehold land component of investment property is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
period of lease, i.e., 90 years.
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Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period of derecognition.

2.7 Inventories

Inventories in the form of traded coal is valued at lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes cost of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is
determined on a first in first out (“FIFO™) basis.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment, whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable or when annual impairment testing for
an asset is required. Such circumstances include, though are not limited to, significant or sustained decline in
revenues or earnings and material adverse changes in the economic environment.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. To calculate value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market rates and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Fair value less costs to sell is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, less the costs of disposal.

2.9 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the
Group assesses whether:

— the contract involves the use of an identified asset — this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should be
physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a
substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified;

— the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the
period of use; and

— the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset, The Group has this right when it has the decision making
rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision
about how and for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the Group has the right to direct the use of the
asset if either:

- the Group has the right to operate the asset; or
- the Group designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.

Where the Group is the lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right of use
asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
less any lease incentives received.
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The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to
the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful
lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the
right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements
of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as
the discount rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

— fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

— variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

—the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an
optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early
termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The Jease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or ]oss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant
and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘other non-current financial liabilities’ in the statement of financial position.

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of machinery
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises the lease
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies Section 2.8 Impairment of
non-financial assets.

Where the Group is the lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating lease is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease is based on whether fulfilment of the arrangement is
dependent on the use of a specific asset and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is
not explicitly specified in an arrangement.
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Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the
lessee. Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the Group’s net investment
in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the net investment outstanding in respect of the lease.

2.10 Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective
asset, All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange
differences to the extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

2.11 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity.

(i) Financial assets

All financjal assets are recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are added to the fair
value measured on initial recognition of financial asset. Purchase and sale of financial assets are accounted for at
settlement date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash in banks and short-term deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Classification

The Group determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.

Financial instruments at amortized cost
A financial instrument is measured at the amortized cost if both the following conditions are met:

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash
flows, and

b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate (EIR) method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in other income
in the statement of profit and loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the statement of profit and
loss. This category includes cash and bank balances, loans, unbilled revenue, trade and other receivables.

Financial instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (‘FVTOCI?)
A financial instrument is classified and measured at fair value through OCI if both of the following criteria are met:

a) The objective of the business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
financial assets, and

———
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b) The asset’s contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest.

Financial instruments included within the OCI category are measured initially as well as at each reporting date at
fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in OCI. On derecognition of the asset, cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from OCI to statement of profit and loss.

Financial instruments at Fair Value through Profit and Less (‘FVTPL’)

Any financial instrument, which does not meet the criteria for categorization at amortized cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, is classified at fair value through profit and loss. Financial instruments included in the
fair value through profit and loss category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the statement
of profit and loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts-and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the

terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair
values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

e  The amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with impairment requirements of Ind AS 109;
and

e  The amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of Ind AS 115.

Equity investments

All equity investments in scope of Ind AS 109 are measured at fair value. Equity instruments which are held for
trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Group may make an irrevocable election to
present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value. The Group makes such election on an
instrument-by-instrument basis. The classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable.

If the Group decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes on the instrument,
excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCL There is no recycling of the amounts from OCI to P&L, even on

sale of investment.

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in
the statement of profit & loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, ot the
Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes loss allowances using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for the financial assets which are
not fair valued through profit and loss. Lifetime ECL allowance is recognized for trade receivables with no
significant financing component. For all other financial assets, expected credit losses are measured at an amount
equal to the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk from initial recognition in
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which case they are measured at lifetime ECL. The amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to
adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date is recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

The Group follows simplified approach for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trade receivables. The
application of simplified approach does not require the Group to track changes in credit risk. Rather, it recognizes
impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date, right from its initial recognition.

ii) Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables
and other payables.

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when the liabilities are
derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Loans and borrowings

Afier initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs

in the statement of profit and loss.
This category generally applies to borrowings.
2.12 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group and revenue
can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into
account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty.

The Group assesses its revenue arrangement against specific criteria in order to determine ifit is acting as principal
or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as agent in case of sale of airline tickets and hotel packages as
the supplier is primarily responsible for providing the underlying travel services and the Group does not control
the service provided by the supplier to the traveller.

Ind AS 115 was issued on March 28, 2018 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers Under Ind AS 115, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The Group has
adopted the new standard on the transition date using the full retrospective method.

Income from services

A, Air ticketing

Income from the sale of airline tickets is recognized as an agent on a net commission, incentives and fees on earned
basis net of discounts given to customers, as the Group does not assume any performance obligation post the

confirmation of the issuance of an airline ticket to the customer. Group records allowance for cancellations at the
time of the transaction based on historical experience.
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Incentives from airlines are considered as earned when the performance obligations under the incentive schemes are
achieved / expected to be achieved at the end of year.

The Group has measured the revenue in respect of its performance obligation of a contract at its standalone selling
price. The price that is regulatly charged for an item when sold separately is the best evidence of its standalone
selling price.

The specific recognition criteria described below is also considered before revenue is recognised.

Variable consideration

If the consideration in a contract includeés a variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of consideration to
which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

The Group recognizes incentives from airlines when incentives are expected to be achieved as per the threshold
specified in the contract. To estimate the variable consideration, the Group applies the expected value method for
contracts. The selected method that best predicts amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by the amount
of volume thresholds contained in the contract. The Group uses historical data for forecasting future cancellations
to come up with expected cancellation percentages. These percentages are applied to determine the expected value
of the variable consideration.

B.  Hotels Packages

Income from hotel reservation is recognized as an agent on a net basis. Revenue is recognised at the time of issuance
of hotel voucher including for non-refundable transactions as the Group does not assume any performance obligation
post the confirmation of the issuance of hotel voucher to the customer.

Packages assembled by individual travellers through packaging functionality on our websites generally includes a
merchant hotel component and some combinations of an air, car or destination services component. The individual
package components are accounted for as separate performance obligations and recognised in accordance with our
revenue recognition policies stated above. In few cases of corporate packages managed by the Group on an end to
end basis, the Group acts as a principal and takes full responsibility of delivering the services, the revenues are
recognised on a gross basis and cost of services against these packages is recognised as service costs.

Contract balances

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.

Trade Receivables

A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the passage
of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to accounting policies of financial assets in
section (2.11) Financial instruments.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract.

The Group receives upfront advance from Global Distribution System (*GDS”) provider for facilitating the booking
of airline tickets on its software which is recognised as deferred revenue at the time of receipt. A pre-agreed incentive
is given to the Group by the GDS provider in periodic intervals for each eligible and confirmed *segment’ which is
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recognised as revenue and adjusted against amount recognised as deferred revenue. A Segment means a booking for
the travel of one passenger over one leg of a journey on a direct flight operated by a single aircraft under a single
flight number.

Non- cash Consideration

Ind AS 115 requires that the fair value of such non-cash consideration, received or expected fo be received by the
customer, is included in the transaction price. The Group measures the non-cash consideration at fair value. If Group
cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of the non-cash consideration, the Group measures the consideration
indirectly by reference to the standalone selling price of the goods or services promised to the customer in exchangs
for the consideration,

Income from sale of Coal

Revenue from customers is recognised when control of the goods are transferred to the customer at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods, Revenue is
recognized at actual transaction price net of taxes.

Income from distribution of movie rights

Income from distribution of movie rights is recognized on revenue sharing basis when the film is exhibited as and
when movie tickets are sold. Revenue share arising from sale of movie tickets are recognized at point in time,
generally upon when film is exhibited.

Income from trading of Shares

Income from sale of shares is recognized as per settlement date accounting i.e. when control of shares have been
passed to the buyer. Revenue is recognized net of taxes.

Income from other sources

Income from other sources, primarily comprising advertising revenue, income from sale of rail and bus tickets and
fees for facilitating website access to travel insurance companies are being recognized when performance obligation
being sale of ticket and sale of insurance in case of advertisement income is satisfied. Income from the sale of rail
and bus tickets is recognized as an agent on a net commission earned basis, as the Group does not assume any
performance obligation post the confirmation of the issuance of the ticket to the customer.

Interest income

For all debt instruments measured at amortized cost, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate
(EIR). EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of
the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or
to the amortized cost of a financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates the
expected cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider the
expected credit losses. Interest income is included in other income in the statement of profit and loss.

2.13 Foreign currency transactions
The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees which is the functional and presentational currency of the

Group.
Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional
currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. However, for practical reasons, the group
uses an average rate if the average approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates
of exchange at the reporting date.

Exchange differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with the
exception of the following:
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o  Exchange differences arising on monetary items that forms part of a reporting entity’s net investment in a foreign
operation are recognised in profit or loss in the separate financial statements of the reporting entity or the
individual financial statements of the foreign operation, as appropriate. In the financial statements that include
the foreign operation and the reporting entity (e.g., consolidated financial statements when the foreign operation
is a subsidiary), such exchange differences are recognised initially in OCI. These exchange differences are
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal of the net investment.

¢ Exchange differences arising on monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net
investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in OCI until the net investment is disposed of,, at which
time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

e Tax charges and credits atiributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in OCIL.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising
on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into INR at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. For practical reasons, the group uses an average rate to translate income and expense items,
if the average rate approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising
on translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

2.14 Employee benefits (Retirement & Other Employee benefits)

Retirement benefit in the form of Provident Fund is a defined contribution scheme and the Group has no obligation,
other than the contribution payable to the provident fund. The Group recognizes contribution payable to the
provident fund scheme as an expenditure, when an employee renders the related service. If the contribution payable
to the scheme for service received before the balance sheet date exceeds the contribution already paid, the deficit
payable to the scheme is recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already paid.

The Group operates defined benefit plan for its employees, viz., gratuity. The costs of providing benefits under the
plan are determined on the basis of actuarial valuation at each year-end. Actuarial valuation is carried out for using
the projected unit credit method. In accordance with the local laws and regulations, all the employees in India are
entitled for the Gratuity plan. The said plan requires a lump-sum payment to eligible employees (meeting the
required vesting service condition) at retirement or termination of employment, based on a pre-defined formula. The
obligation towards the said benefits is recognised in the balance sheet, at the present value of the defined benefit
obligations less the fair value of plan assets (being the funded portion). The present value of the said obligation is
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows, using interest rates of government bonds. The interest
income / (expense) are calculated by applying the above-mentioned discount rate to the plan assets and defined
benefit obligations liability. The net interest income / (expense) on the net defined benefit liability is recognised in
the statement of profit and loss. However, the related re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability are
recognised directly in the other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. The said re-measurements
comprise of actuarial gains and losses (arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions),
the return on plan assets (excluding interest). Re-measurements are not re-classified to the statement of profit and
loss in any of the subsequent periods.

Accumulated leave, which is expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as short-term employee
benefit. The Group measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that it expects to pay as a
result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.

The Group treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward beyond twelve months, as long-term employee
benefit for measurement purposes. Such long-term compensated absences are provided for based on the actuarial
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valuation using the projected unit credit method at the year-end. Actuarial gains/losses are immediately taken to the
statement of profit and loss and are not deferred.

The Group presents the leave as a current liability in the balance sheet, to the extent it does not have an unconditional
right to defer its settlement for 12 months after the reporting date. Where Group has the unconditional legal and
contractual right to defer the settlement for a period beyond 12 months, the same is presented as non-current liability.

2.15 Income taxes

The income tax expense comprises of current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognised in the statement of
profit and loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case the related income tax is also recognised accordingly.

a.

Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rates, laws and regulations, which have been enacted or
substantively enacted as at the reporting date, The payment made in excess / (shortfall) of the Group's income
tax obligation for the period are recognised in the balance sheet as current income tax assets / liabilities. Any
interest, related to accrued liabilities for potential tax assessments are not included in Income tax charge or
(credit), but are rather recognised within finance costs.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are off-set against each other and the resultant net amount is presented
in the balance sheet, if and only when, (2) the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the
current income tax assets and liabilities, and (b) when it relates to income tax levied by the same taxation
authority and where there is an intention to settle the current income tax balances on net basis.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The unrecognised deferred tax assets / carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date for recoverability and adjusted appropriately.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Appendix C to Ind AS 12 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment

The Interpretation is applicable from April 01, 2019 and addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax

treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of Ind AS 12 Income Taxes. It does not apply to taxes or

levies outside the scope of Ind AS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and
penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.

The Interpretation specifically addresses the following:

e Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately.
e The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities.

e How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates.

e How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
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The Group determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more
other uncertain tax treatments and uses the approach that better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty.

The Group applies significant judgement in identifying uncertainties over income tax treatments. Upon adoption
of the Interpretation, the Company considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions, particularly those relating
to income tax. The Group determined, based on its tax compliance, that it is probable that its tax treatments will
be accepted by the taxation authorities. The Interpretation does not have an impact on the financial statements of
the Group.

Other disclosures:

‘When there is uncertainty over income tax treatments, an entity shall determine whether to disclose:

(a) Judgements made in determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and
tax rates applying paragraph 122 of Ind AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements; and

(b) Information about the assumptions and estimates made in determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates applying.

If an entity concludes it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity shall
determine whether to disclose the potential effect of the uncertainty as a tax—related contingency applying
paragraph 88 of Ind AS 12.

2.16 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders
by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period. The weighted average number of
equity shares outstanding during the period is adjusted for events such as bonus issue, bonus element in a rights
issue, share split, and reverse share split (consolidation of shares) that have changed the number of equity shares
outstanding, without a corresponding change in resources.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity
shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted for the effects
of all dilutive potential equity shares,

2,17 Provisions

A provision is recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not discounted to their present value if the effect of time
value of money is not material and are determined based on the best estimate required to settle the obligation at the
reporting date. These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense
relating to any provision is presented in the statement of profit and loss net of any reimbursement.

2.18 Contingent liabilities

A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that may,
but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation or a present obligation in
respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is made. The Group
does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in financial statements.

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of

three months or less (that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and cash equivalents and subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value) and funds in transit. However, for the purpose of the statement of cash flows,

e .
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in addition to above items, any bank overdrafts / cash credits that are integral part of the Group’s cash management,
are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

2.20 Segment reporting policies

Identification of segments — Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). Only those business activities are identified as operating
segment for which the operating results are regularly reviewed by the CODM to make decisions about resource
allocation and performance measurement.

Segment accounting policies — The Group prepares its segment information in conformity with the accounting
policies adopted for preparing and presenting financial statements of the Group as a whole.

2.21 Discontinued operations

A disposal Group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has been disposed
of, or is classified as held for sale, and:

a) Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations,

b) is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations.

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount
as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the statement of profit and loss. Additional disclosures are
provided in note 38. All other notes to the financial statements mainly include amounts for continuing operations,
unless otherwise mentioned.

2.22 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
Ind AS 116 Leases

Ind AS 116 supersedes Ind AS 17 Leases. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognize most leases on the balance sheet.

Lessor accounting under Ind AS 116 is substantially unchanged from Ind AS 17. Lessors will continue to classify
leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles as in Ind AS 17, Therefore, Ind AS 116 does not
have an impact for leases where the Group is the lessor.

The Group adopted Ind AS 116 using the full retrospective method of adoption, with the date of initial application
of April 1, 2019. The Group did not have any contracts that was previously identified as leases applying Ind AS 17
at the date of initial application. Instead, the Group applied the standard only to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying Ind AS 17 at the date of initial application. The Group also elected to use the recognition
exemptions for lease contracts that, at the commencement date, have a lease term of 12 months or less and do not
contain a purchase option (short-term leases), and lease contracts for which the underlying asset is of low value
(low-value assets).

The effect of adopting Ind AS 116 is, as follows:

Impact on Consolidated Balance Sheet (increase/(decrease)):
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Particulars As at As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 April 1,2018

Assets

Right-of-use assets - - -

Deferred tax assets - - -

Total assets - - -

Liabilities

Lease Liability (Non-Current) - " L
Lease Liability (Current) " . -
Total liabilities F - =

Impact on Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (increase/(decrease)):

Particulars For the period ended  For the period ended
March 31, 2020 March 30, 2019
Finance costs 0.54 “
Depreciation and amortization expense 2,13 -
Profit for the period 2.67 -

Impact on Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (increase/(decrease)):

Particulars For the period ended  For the period ended
March 31, 2020 March 30, 2019

Operating lease payments™® (2.85) -

Interest paid ' 0.54

Net cash flows from operating activities (2.31) -

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (2.31) -

Net cash flows from financing activities (2.31) -

* Composed of different line items in the indirect reconciliation of operating cash flows

There is no material impact on other comprehensive income or the basic and diluted earnings per share

Upon adoption of Ind AS 116, the Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases
for which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognised lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. In
accordance with the full retrospective method of adoption, the Group applied Ind AS 116 at the date of initial
application as if it had already been effective at the commencement date of existing lease contracts,

As at March 31, 2020:

3. ‘Right-of-use assets’ were recognised and presented separately in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

4. Lease liabilities were recognised and included under ‘Other financial liabilities’.

5. ‘Deferred tax assets’ increased because of the deferred tax impact of the changes in recognised lease related

assets and liabilities.
6. ‘Profit during the year” decreased due to the net impact of' these adjustments.

For the year ended March 31, 2020:

7. ‘Depreciation expense’ increased because of the depreciation of additional assets recognized by INR 2.13
million during the period.

8. “Rentexpense’ increased due to rental charges of short-term lease by INR 1.73 during the period.

9. ‘Finance costs’ increased by INR 0.54 Mn during the period relating to the interest expense on lease liabilities
recognised.

10. Cash outflows from operating activities decreased by INR 2.31 Mn and cash outflows from financing activities
increased by the same amount, relating to decrease in operating lease payments and increases in principal and
interest payments of lease liabilities.
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c.
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2.23Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The estimates used in the preparation of the said financial statements are continuously evaluated by the Group and
are based on historical experience and various other assumptions and factors (including expectations of future
events), that the Group believes to be reasonable under the existing circumstances. The said estimates are based on
the facts and events, that existed as at the reporting date, or that occurred after that date but provide additional
evidence about conditions existing as at the reporting date. Although the Group regularly assesses these estimates,
actual results could differ materially from these estimates - even if the assumptions underlying such estimates were
reasonable when made, if these results differ from historical experience or other assumptions do not turn out to be
substantially accurate. The changes in estimates are recognized in the financial statements in the period in which
they become known.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Claims written back

The Group writes back unadjusted credits from airlinés over a period of time. Till financial year 2017-18, the
amounts unclaimed and outstanding for more than 4 years were written back. Based on past trends, the Group re-
assessed the estimate and effective previous year, it has written back amount unclaimed and outstanding for more
than 2 years from the refund date. Due to this change in estimate, it led to increase in other income on account of
additional claims written back amounting to INR 243.84 Mn during the year ended March 31, 2019.

Allowance for uncollectible trade receivables and advances

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances
for estimated irrecoverable amounts. Estimated irrecoverable amounts are based on the ageing of the receivable
balances and historical experience. Additionally, a large number of minor receivables is grouped into homogeneous
groups and assessed for impairment collectively. Individual trade receivables are written off when management
deems them not to be collectible are provided in note 8 and 35.

Defined benefit plans

The costs of post-retirement benefit obligation under the Gratuity plan are determined using actuarial valuations. An
actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future,
These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increase, mortality rates and future pension
increases. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long term nature, a defined benefit obligation is
highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. For details,
refer to note 26.

Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured
based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the
present valuation technique. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where
this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations
of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the
reported fair value of financial instruments. For details, refer to note 32, 33 and 34.

Contingencies

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote. Contingent liabilities are disclosed on the basis of judgment of the management/independent experts.
These are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are adjusted to reflect the current management estimate,

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental
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borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The 1BR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay
to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options — Group as lessee

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to
terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group has lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease.
That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or
termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or
change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to
renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the
leased asset).

Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably
certain to be extended (or not terminated). Termination options in given in lease of office space to the lease, which
have been included in the lease liability as Group is not intended to terminate the lease. Reason for not to exercise
the termination option is because Group requires the office premise for future period, location of office premise is
prominent and lease rentals are reasonable. There is no future cash outflow in respect to extension and termination
option which is not included in the lease liability.

2.24 Standards notified but not yet effective

The new and amended standards that are notified, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s
financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these new and amended standards if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to Ind AS 1 and Ind AS 8: Definition of Material ;
The amendments to Ind AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and Ind AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes

in Accounting Estimates and Errors align the definition of ‘material® across the standards and clarify certain
aspects of the definition. The new definition states that, *Information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a
specific reporting entity. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information, either individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial
statements.

A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the
primary users.

These amendments are applicable prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after the 1 April 2020. The
amendments to the definition of material are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as ""Easy Trip Planners Private Limited')
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

4

(@)

Intangible assets

Computer Software Goodwill Total
Gross block
As at April 1, 2018 0.55 - 0.55
Additions 0.09 - 0.09
As at March 31,2019 0.64 - 0.64
Additions 1.41 15.96 17.37
Adjustment during the year 0.19 - 0.19
As at March 31, 2020 2.24 15.96 18.20
Accumulated amortisation
As at April 1, 2018 0.10 - 0.10
Charge for the year 0.20 - 0.20
As at March 31, 2019 0.30 - 0.30
Charge for the year 0.49 - 0.49
Adjustment during the year 0.19 - 0.19
As at March 31, 2020 0.98 - 0.98
Net carrying value
As at March 31, 2020 1.26 15.96 17.22
As at March 31, 2019 0.34 - 0.34
Intangible assets under development
Intangible assets
undergdevelopment Tom
As at April 1, 2018 - -
Add: Additions during the year - -
Less: Capitalization during the year - -
As at March 31, 2019 - -
Add: Additions during the year 3.33 3.33
Less: Capitalization during the year - -
As at March 31, 2020 3.33 3.33

The Group has elected to continue with the carrying value for all of its property, plant and equipment as recognised in its
previous GAAP financial statements as deemed cost on the transition date, i.e. 1 April 2017.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

5 [Investment property

Amount
As at April 01, 2018 99.30
Add: Additions made during the year ; 137.46
Less: Disposals during the year . (151.36)
As at March 31, 2019 85.40
Add: Additions made during the year =
Less: Disposals during the year {61.98)
As at March 31, 2020 23.42
Depreciation and impairment
As at April 01, 2018 0.96
Add; Depreciation charge for the year 221
Less: On disposals during the year (1.27)
As at March 31, 2019 1.90
Add: Depreciation charge for the year 0.49
Less: On disposals during the year (2.18)
As at March 31, 2020 0.21
Net carrying value
As at March 31, 2020 23.21
As at March 31, 2019 83.50

The Group has elected to continue with the carrying value for all of its investment property as recognised in its previous GAAP financial
statements as deemed cost.

Information regarding income and expenditure of Investment Mareh 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
property '

Rental income derived from investment properties 6.30 25.28
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) that - 0.17
did not generate rental income

Profit arising from investment properties before depreciation and 6.30 25.11
indirect expenses

Less - Depreciation 0.49 preal
Profit arising from investment properties before indirect expenses 5.81 22.90

Fair Value of Investment properties

Number of investment properties 2 3
Fair value of investment properties outstanding as at that date 69.06 134.92

Investment properties consists of land and buildings situated in India for rental income and capital appreciation. The fair values of investment

properties have been determined by independent valuer. The fair valuation is based on prevailing market prices/ price trend of the property in
that locality/ city considering the location, size of plot, approach road, amenities, locality etc.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as ""Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

6

(a)

(b)

Financial assets

Loans (unsecured, considered good)
Non-Current
Security deposits

Current

Security deposits

Loans to employees

Loans to related parties (Refer note 30)
Loans to other parties (Refer note 37) #
Total

Total current
Total non- current

# It includes loan amounting to INR 114.31 from party which cease to be related party after September 12, 2019

Investments at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)

Current

Quoted mutual funds

755,510 (March 31, 2019; Nil) units of INR 13.23 each fully paid
up of IDFC cash fund-growth

Total FYTPL investments

Current

Non-current

Total

Aggaregate book value of quoted investments
Aggregate amount of ungquoted invesiments

Aggregate market value of quoted investments
Aggregate amount of impairment in the value of investments

(This space has heen intentionally lefi blank)

Asat Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
65.29 -
65.29 -
16.10 15.13
1.78 1.09
- 67.15
114.51 284.20
132.39 367.57
132.39 367.57
65.29 -
Asat Agat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
5.99 -
2.99 #
9.99 -
9.99 -
9.99 -
9.99 -



Easy Trip Pianners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

(c) Other financial assets

As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Non-current
Deposits with original maturity for more than 12 months 150.23 -
150,23 -
Current
Interest accrued
= On fixed deposits 42.62 31.64
- On security deposits 0.51 0.40
Receivable from related parties * (refer note 30) 79.45 2027
Receivable from others parties 1.22 9.92
Amotnt recoverable from airlines 1547 124.41
Advances recoverable against property®** 65.00 240.00
204.27 426.64
Total 354.50 426.64
Total current 204.27 426,64
Total non- current 150.23 -

* Receivable from related parties includes amount receivable from "Promoter shareholders”. Promoter shareholders are proposing to have an initial public offering

(‘the offer]) through offer for sale. All expenses with respect to the Offer shall be bone by the Selling Sharcholders in propertion to the Equity Shares offered by
each of them in the Offer. Payments, if any, made by our Holding Company in relation to the Offer shall be on behalf of the Selling Sharcholders and such
payments will be reimbursed by the Selling Shareholders to our Holding Company in proportion to the Equity Shares offered by each of them in the Offer. The
amount recorded till March 31, 2020 have been shown as recoverable as the Company's approval from SEBI is valid tll Mareh 31, 2021.

** Initially the amount was paid for purchase of property however the transaction got cancelled and amount was shown as recoverable at year end.

(This space has been intentionally lefi blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

7 Other assets

Asat As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

Current :
Deferred advertisement expense - 022
Prepaid expenses 0.90 0.83
Tax paid under protest 92.60 -
Advance to employees 0.15 -
Advance to suppliers 280.08 174.23
Considered doubtful
Advance to suppliers 23.01 -
Less: Provision for doubtful advances [Refer note 23] (23.01) -

290.73 175.28

Total

(This space has been intentionally lefi blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited™)
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

8 Trade receivables
(a) Details of trade receivables is as follows:

Asat Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Trade receivables ' 581.92 418.40
581.92 418.40

Trade receivables include unbilled receivables of INR 342.62 (March 31, 2019 : INR 222 35) and represents the gross value of air ticket and
hotel packages booking to be collected from customer.

{(b) Break-up for security details :

As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Trade Receivables
Considered good - unsecured 581.92 418.40
Trade receivables which have significant increase in credit risk 70.97 38.50
652.89 456.90
Impairment allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful debts)
Trade receivables which have significant increase in credit risk (70.97) (38.50)
Total Trade receivables 581.92 418.40
Movement in expected credit loss allowance
As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Balances at the beginning of the year 38.50 14.78
Additions during the year 32.47 23.72
Balances at the end of the years 70.97 38.50

Notes:
1 For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables, refer note 30.
2 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 0 to 30 days.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

9

0]

(i)

Cash and cash equivalents

Details of cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

As at As at
. March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Cash on hand 232 0.65
Funds in transit » 10.67 167.25
Balances with banks:
Current account 121.15 172.85
Total 134.14 340.75

For the purpose of the statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following;

As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Balances with banks:

Current account 121.15 172.85
Funds in transit * 10.67 167.25
Cash on hand 2.32 0.65
Total 134.14 340.75

” Funds in transit represents the amount collected from customers through credit or debit cards/net banking which is outstanding as at
the year end and credited to the Group’s bank accounts subsequent to the year end.

Other bank balances
As at Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Bank deposits with original maturity of more than three months but less than twelve 1,177.95 51977
months
1,177.95 519.72

Bank deposits at at March 31, 2020 include INR 592.32 (March 31, 2019: INR 508.70) pledged with banks against bank guarantees,
bank overdraft and credit card facility.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")

Notes to C f ial st for the year ended March 31, 2020
Al amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

10 Equity Share Capital

(a) Details of share capital is as follows:

(b)

[E1]

(ir)

(<)

{d)

(¢

Asat As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

Equity share capital

Authorised share capital ”
125,000,000 (March 31, 2019: 125,000,600) equity shares of INR 2/= each, 250.00 250.00
Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up share capital

108,645,000 (March 31, 2019: 108,645,000) equity shares of INR 2/- eich 217.28 21729

Reconciliation of anthorised, issued and subscribed share capital:

Reconciliation of authorised share capital as at year end :

Equity shares
No. of shares Amount

Ordinary Equity shares

As at April 1, 2018 (Equity shares of INR 10 each) 10.000.000 100.00
Ineresase during the year 115,000,000 150.00
As at March 31, 2019 (Equity shares of INR 2 each) 125,000,000 250.00
Incresse durng the year = -
As at March 31, 2020 (Equity shares of INR 2 each) 125.000.000 250.00

Reconciliation of issucd. subscribed and fully paid-up share capital as at year end :

Equity shares

No. of shares Amount

Ordinary Equity share

Asat April 1, 2018 (Equity shares of INR 10 each) 7,243,000 72,43
Increase during the year 101,402,000 144.86
As at March 31, 2019 (Equity shares of INR 2 each) 108,645,000 217.29
Increase during the year - -
As at March 31, 2020 (Equity shares of INR 2 each) 108.645.000 217.29
Notes:

On March 4, 2019, the members of the Company approved a sphit of the company s equity shares in the ratio of 115, with a corresponding change in the nominal value per share from INR 10 per share o
INR 2 per share (thereby keeping the paid up share cépital of the Company intact}, Accordingly the Company has issued share certificates for 36,215,000 equity shares of INR 2 each in heu of 7,243,000
equity shares of INR 10 each. This stock split became effective on the date of intimation 1o Registrar of Companies ('RoC”) i.e March 28, 2019, Subsequently on March 28_ 2019, the Company allotted
72,430,000 equity shares of INR 2 each as bonus shares in proportion of two equity share for every one equity share held from the retained earnings. This was approved by the Board of Directors and
members in the meeting held on March 6, 2019 and March 20, 2019 respectively.

Terms/Rights attached to equity shares

The Company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of INR. 2 per share {(March 31, 2019 : INR 2/ each) . Each helder of equity 1s entitled to one vote per share. In the event of liquidation
of the Company, the holders of the equity shares will be entitled to receive any of the remaining assets of the Company, after distribution of all preferential amouns, The distribution will be in proportion
ta number of equity shares held by the shareholders, The Company has not paid anv dividend during the year ended March 31, 2020 and year ended March 31, 2019

Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company

As at March 31, 2020 As at March 31, 2019
Name of Shareholder D e 0 in= i
No. of shares held % ho.ldmg in the No. of shares held t hn_ld:ng in the
equity shares equity shares
Nishant Pitti 54,119,561 4981% 54,119,565 49.81%
Rikant Pittie 53,972,760 49.68% 53,972,760 49.68%

Ag per the records of the Company, including its register of shareholders’ members and other declarations received from shareholders regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both
lewal and beneficial ownerships of shares.

Aggregate number of Shares allotted as fully paid by way of bonus shares (during 5 years immediately preceeding March 31, 2020):

Aggregate number
Particulars of shares issued in 5 March 31,2020 March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2007 March 31,2016
Years
quf!ty h]'tan:s aI]orFed as fully paid bonus shares by capitalisation) 2117190 B ~ 7117150 ~ I
of Securities Premium Account
Equ.lty.shams a.l.!orlod as fully paid bonus shares by 73,430,000 _ 2,430,000 . ~ .
capitalization of accumulated profits

During the vear ended March 31, 2019, the Company allotted 72,430,000 equity shares of Rs 2 each as bonus shares in proportion of one equity share for every two equity shares held by capitalization of
accurnulated profits: During the previous year March 31, 2018, the Company allotted 7,117,190 equiry shares of Rs 10 each as bonus shares in proportion of one equity share for every two equity shares
held by capitalisation of Securities P Account,

(This space has bean intersionally left blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as ""Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

11 Other Equity
(2) Retained earnings Amount
As at April 01, 2018 367.14
Add: Profit for the year 239.93
Add: Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax (0.18)
Less: Amount utilized against issue of bonus shares (144.86)
As at March 31, 2019 462.03
Add: Profit for the year 329.83
Add: Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax 1.35
As at March 31, 2020 793.21
(b) Capital Reserves (Refer note 38)
As at April 1,2018 "
Increase/(decrease) during the year -
As at March 31, 2019 -
Increase/(decrease) during the year 297
As at March 31, 2020 2.97
(¢) Foreign Currency Translation Reserves
As at April 1, 2018 -
Increase/(decrease) during the year -
As at March 31, 2019 -
Increase/(decrease) during the year (0.96)
As at March 31, 2020 (0.96)
(d) Capital Reserves
The Group recognizes bargain purchase gain on acquisition of subsidiary as capital reserves.
(¢) Foreign Currency Translation Reserves

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign operations are recognised in other comprehensive income as
described in accounting policy and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to

profit or loss when the net investment is disposed-off.

(This space has been intentionally lefi blank)
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12

13

(a)

()
(ii)
(iii)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(&)

Borrowings
Asat Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Current (Secured)
Short term loans repayable on demand 67.60 -
67.60 -

Short term borrowings from ICICI Bank UK PLC of INR 67.6 MN (GBP 0,72 Mn) towards working capital Loan facility demand was carried aggregate of LIBOR and
margin rate which was of 5.24% ( March 31, 2019: Nil). Further, borrowings were repayable at the end of 12 months from the date of disbursement i.e. October 29, 2019,

Trade payables
Details of trade payables is as follows:
As at Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Current
Trade payables - dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises - -
Trade payables - other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 266.39 20846

Total 266.39 298 46

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 0-60 day terms.

Refer note 30 for trade payables to related parties.

The amount due to miero, small and medium enterprises as defined in the "The Miero, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006" ("MSMED") has been
determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of information available with Group, The disclosures relating to the micro. small and medium
enterprises is disclosed as under:

Particula — He st
" March 31,2020 March31,2019
The amounts remaining unpaid to suppliers as at the end of the year:
Principal amount s &
Interest due thereon - A

Amount of payments made to suppliers beyond the appointed day during the year;
Principal amount 3 =
Interest actually paid under section 16 of MSMED - -

The amount of interest due and payable for the year of delay in making payment (which have been - -
paid but beyond the appointed day during the year/vear) but without adding the interest specified
under the MSMED Act

The amount of interest:
Accrued at the end of each accounting year » "

Remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year i i

Interest remaining due and payable 1o suppliers disallowable as deduetible expenditure deductible - -
expenditure under section 23 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act. 2006

(This space has been intentionally left blawnk)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited"')
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

(b)

Other financial liabilities

As at Asat

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
A. Non current
Lease liability*** - -
Security deposit received - 2,70
Total (A) * . 70
B. Current
Lease liability*** - -
Other payable 702.39 47494
Total (B) 702,39 474.94
Total (A+B) 702.39 47764
Total current T02.39 47454

i - 270

Total non- current

*** The Group has vacated its office subsequent to the year end on which right of use assets ("ROU") and the lease liability has been created as per Ind AS116.
Accordingly the carrying value of ROU and Corresponding liability amounting to INR 4.51 and INR 4.78 respectively has been reversed and the difference INR 0.35 has

Contract liability

Asat Asatl
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

Deferred revenue * 42528 667.39
Advance from customers * 191.39 61.99
Total 616.67 729.38
Total current 229.85 397.60
Total non- current 386.82 331.78

# Refer Note 18 (c)

{This space has been Intentionally left blank)
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15 Provisions

(a) Details of provisions are as follows:

16

A. Non- current

Provision for employee benefits
Provision for gratuity (refer note 26)

Total (A)

B. Current

Provision for employee benefits
Provision for gratuity (refer note 26)
Provision for compensated absences

Total (B)
Total (A+B)

Total current
Total non- current

Other liabilities

Current

Provident fund payable

Tax deduction at source payable
Goods and service tax payable
Others

Salary Payable

Total

(This space has been intentionally left blank)

As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
17.53 12.58
17.53 12.58
0.23 0.17
2.71 1.25
2.94 1.42
20.47 14.00
2.94 1.42
17.53 12,58
As at As at
Mareh 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
1.47 1.39
1.80 4.74
79.66 186.10
0.19 0.16
14.92 “
98.04 192.39




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

17 Imcome tax
The major components of income tax expense for the year ended March 31, 2020 are;

(i) Income tax expense in the statement of profit and loss comprises:

(i)

(1if)

(2)

Tax Expense:
Current income

Adjustment of tax relating to earlier years

Deferred tax:

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss

Other comprehensive income (OCI) section

Deferred tax relating to items in OCl in the year:

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans

Exchange gain on translation of foreign operations

Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate(s)

Profit before income taxes
Profit / (loss) before tax from a discontinued operation
Accounting profit before income tax

At India's statutory income tax rate of 25.17% (March 31., 2019: 29.12%)

Non-deductible expenses / (income) for tax purposes
Adjustment of tax related to earlier year/year

Rate differetice
Others

Income tax expense

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss

Income tax attributable to a discontinued operation

Liabilities for current tax (net)

Tax liabilities

Current tax liabilities (net)

(This space has been intentionally left blank)

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
132.52 130.54
- (4.54)
(3.53) (7.62)
128.99 118.38
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
(0.45) 0.08
0.32 -
(0.13) 0.08

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
458.82 411.77
= (35.62)
458.82 376.15
119.07 109.54
2.15 31.01
E (4.54)
7.21 (0.18)
0.28) 0.39
128.15 136.22
128.99 118.38
- 17.84
128.99 136.22
For the year ended For the vear ended

Mareh 31, 2020 March 31,2019
114.77 39.68
114.77 39.69




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

Deferred tax asset (net): Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

Fixed assets: impact of difference between tax depreciation and depreciation/ amortization charged for the 0.30 0.75
financial reporting '
Impact of fair valuation of financial instruments - =
Impact of expenditure charged to the statement of profit and loss in the current year and earlier years but .

, ; 12.11 15.23
allowable for tax purposes on payment basis
Allowance for impairment of trade receivables 18.18 11.21
Provision for diminution in iInvestment - -
Net deferred tax asset (net) 30.59 27.19

Consolidated Statement of profit and loss

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2018
Fixed assets: impact of difference between tax depreciation and depreciation/ amortization charged for the 0.45 0.41
financial reporting = -
Impact of fair valuation of financial instruments - 013
Impact of expenditure charged to the statement of profit and loss in the current year and earlier years but
i 3.12 (3.91)
allowable for tax purposes on payment basis
Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (6.97) (4.42)
Provision for diminution in investment - 28.21
Deferred tax expense/(income) (3.40) 20.44
Reconciliation of deferred tax asset (net):
As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Opening balance of deferred tax asset (net) 27.1% 47.63
Tax income/(expense) during the year recognised in profit or loss 3.53 (20.52)
Tax income/(expense) during the year recognised in OCI {0.13) 0.08
30.59 27.19

Closing balance of deferred tax asset (net)

Notes:

The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is probable. that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax assets will not be
realised. The ultimate realisation of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the years in which the temporary
differences become deductible. Management considers the projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment, Based on the level
of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable incomes over the years in which the deferred tax assets are deductible. management believes that it is
probable that the Group will be able to realise the benefits of those deductible differences in future,

The Group has elected to exercise the option permitted under section 115BAA of the Income - tax Act, 1961 as introduced by the Taxation Laws (Amendment)
Ordinance, 2019 dated September 20, 2019. Accordingly, during the year ended March 31,2020, the Group has recognised the provision for income tax and
remeasured its deferred tax assets basis the rate prescribed thereby and the related impact is recognised. The impact of change in tax rate on deferred tax assets is

disclosed above.

(This space has been intentionally lefi blank)




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
All amounts in INR million (unless otherwise stated)

18 Revenue from operations

(a) Disaggregated revenue information
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group's revenue from contracts with customers:

For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Type of goods or service
Rendering of services
Air passage 1,171.78 885.56
Hotel packages 67.34 2434
Other services 7.51 1.65
Total revenue from contraets with customers (A) 1.246.63 911.55

Given that Group's products and services are available on a technology platform to customers globally, consequently, the
necessary information to track accurate geographical location of customers is not available.

Timing of revenue recognition

Services transferred at a point in time 1,246.63 911.55
Services transferred over time - -
Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,246.63 911.55

(b) Set out below, is the reconciliation of the revenue from operations with the amounts disclosed in the segment information:

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Revenue
External customers 1,246.63 911.55
Inter-segment - -
1,246.63 911.55
Inter-segment adjustments and eliminations - -
Total revenue from contract with customers 1,246.63 91155
{¢) Contract balances
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Trade receivables 581.92 418.40
Contract liabilities 616.67 729.38

(i) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 0 to 30 days. In March 31, 2020, INR 27.03
(March 31, 2019: TNR 23.72) was recognised as Impairment allowance of trade receivables.

(ii) Contract liabilities consists of deferred revenue of INR 425,28 (March 31, 2019: INR 667.39) which is advance received
towards productivity incentive which will be recognised as revenue on the basis of active and confirmed segment
bookings. During the year, Group has earned INR 242.10 (March 31, 2019: INR 335.61),
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(iii) Contract liabilities also consists of advance from customers of INR 191.39 (March 31, 2019: INR 61,99) which refers to

(D

(e)

®

advance received from B2B customers (travel agents) and corporate customers for issue of tickets and hotel packages. The
Group acts as an agent in such cases, hence, only a part of this advance i.e. Commission income from such advance will be
transferred to revenue. There are no significant movements in these balances throughout the vears presented,

Reconciling the amount of revenue recognised in the statement of profit and loss with the contracted price:
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Revenue as per contracted price 2,487.48 1,652.68
Adjustments
Lsss:.Dmccunts offered to customers on airline ticket 1.240.85 24113
booking
Revenue from contracts with customers 1,246.63 911.55
Performance obligations

Information about the Group's performance obligations are summarised below:

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are as
follows:

As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31,2019
Within one vear 229.85 397.60
More than one year 386.82 331.78
616.67 729.38

The performance obligations expected to be recognised in more than one year relate to Global Distribution System
(“GDS™) provider for facilitating the booking of airline tickets on its software that is to be satisfied beyond one year. All
the other remaining performance obligations are expected to be recognised within one year.

Other operating revenue
For the year ended For the year ended
Mareh 31, 2020 March 31,2019
Advertisement revenue® 166.97 99.52
Total other operating revenue (B) 166.97 99.52
Total revenue from operations (A + B) 1,413.60 1.011.07

* Advertising revenue majorly comprises of fees for facilitating website access to a travel insurance company and co-
funding arrangements with a banking company wherein a part of discount is borne by the banking company.
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19 Other income

Interest income:
On deposits with bank
On loans
On others

Dividend income

Rental income

Liabilities no longer required written back

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipments (net)
Profit on sale of investment property (net)

Bad debts and advances written off recovered

Claims written back
Total

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
53.38 35.08
35.57 22.02
- 16.87
0.13 1.92
7.46 26.46
36.92 6.79
= 0.11
17.69 26.58
38.50 63.42
206.86 300.79
396.51 500.04

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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20

21

22

Employee benefits expense

Salaries, wages and bonus
Contribution to PF and other funds
Gratuity expenses

Staff welfare expenses

Total

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
282.87 206.96
9.19 7.49
6.82 4.90
3.08 0.83
301.96 220.18

Finance costs

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31,2019
Interest on:
Overdrafts 0.41 12.77
Loan 0.92 =
Others 28.37 18.58
Bank charges R 75 0.33
Total 33.02 31.68
Depreciation and amortization expense
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3.98 223
Amortisation of intangible assets 0.49 0.20
Depreciation of investment property 0.47 221
Depreciation on right-of-use 2.13 -
Total 7.07 4.64

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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23 Other expenses

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31. 2019
Power and fucl 5.96 293
Rent 1.73 0.90
Rates and taxes. 22595 442
Insurance 1.91 4.54
Repair and maintenance
- Plant and machinery 2.75 1.17
- Building 4.80 5.58
- Others 23.68 15.36
Advertising and sales promotion 269.94 306.35
Commission 80.29 76.39
Travelling expenses 15.94 9.84
Communication costs 7.07 4.53
Printing and stationery 1.59 2.69
Impairment allowance of trade receivables 32.47 23.92
Legal and professional expenses 19.76 18.72
Payment to auditors [Refer note (a) below] 3.01 4.50
Advance written off 9.02 29.50
Loss on ticket booking 0.46 7.54
Bad debts 15.71 3.66
Provision for doubtful advances 23.01 -
Credit card charges 73.54 55.01
Expenditure towards corporate social responsibility (CSR) activities 5.97 590
[Refer note (b) below] = ’
Loss on sale of Investments (net) - 1.43
Outsourcing Expenses - 12.21
Payment gateway charges 349.28 242.06
Miscellaneous expenses 1.06 4.07
971.70 842.84
(a) Details of payment made te auditors are as follows:
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
As auditors:
Audit fee 2.50 4.50
Others Services 0.07 -
In other eapacity
Reimbursement of expenses 0.44 0.25
3.01 4.75

(b) Details of CSR expenditure:

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Gross amount required to be spent by the Group during the year 447 2.94
Particulars Pkl Yet to be paid Total
cash

Amount spent during the year ended on March 31, 2020; - - “
1) Construction/acquisition of any asset = o o
ii) On purposes other than (i} above 1.50 4.47 5.97
Amount spent during the year ended on March 31 , 2019: - - -
i) Construction/acquisition of any asset - & :

- 5.70

ii) On purposes other than (i) above 5.70
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24

25
(a)
(b)

Compenents of Other Comprehensive Income

Retained earnings

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

Re—measuremeﬁt gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans 1.80 (0.26)
Income tax effect (0.45) 0.08
Exchange loss on translation of foreign operations (1.28) -
Income tax effect 0.32 -

0.39 (0.18)
Comprehensive loss for the period
Attributed 1o :
Equity holders of the Parent 0.39 (0.18)

Non controlling interest 7

Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic and diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company by the

weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year.
The following reflects the profit and share capital data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Number of equity shares at the beginning of the year 108.65 7.24
Equity shares issued during the year - 72.43
Number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the year 108.65 79.67
Effect of bonus shares issued - -
Effect of share split - 28.97
Adjusted/Revised number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the year 108.65 108.65
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year (based 108.65 108.65
on date of issue of shares and share split) (in million) i ]
Continuing Operations
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company 329.83 293.39
Weighted average number of equity shares for the purpose of basic and diluted -
: Sk e 108.65 108.65
earnings per share (no. in millions)*
Earning/(loss) per share [Nominal value Rs. 2 per share] 3.04 2.70

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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(c)

(d)

Discontinued Operations

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company - (53.46)
Weighted average number of equity shares for the purpose of basic and diluted - - 108.65
earnings per share (no. in millions)*
Earning/(loss) per share [Nominal value Rs. 2 per share| - (0.49)
Total operations for the year
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company 329.83 239.93
Weighted average number of equity shares for the purposes of diluted EPS (no. 108.63 108.65
in millions)*
Earning/(loss) per share [Nominal value Rs. 2 per share] 3.04 2.21

* Adjusted for bonus issuc and share split, refer note 10.

On 4 March 2019, the members of the Company approved a split of the Company’s equity shares in the ratic of 1:5, with a
corresponding change in the nominal value per share from INR 10 per share to INR 2 per share, This stock split became effective on
the date of intimation to Registrar of Companies ('RoC’) i.e. March 28, 2019 and, unless otherwise indicated, all share amounts and
per share data, where applicable. has been adjusted retrospectively in accordance with the requirements of Ind AS 33 Earnings per

Weighted average number of shares is the number of equity shares outstanding at the beginning of the year adjusted by the number of
equity shares issued during year. multiplied by the time weighting factor. The time weighting factor is the number of days for which
the specific shares are outstanding as a proportion of total number of days during the year.

(This space has been intentionally lefi blank)
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26 Employee Benefits

A. Defined Contribution Plans
The Group has a defined contribution plan. Contributions are made to provident fund in India for employees at the rate of 12% of basic salary as per

regulations. The contributions are made to registered provident fund administered by the government. The obligation of the Group is limited to the amount
contributed and it has no further contractual nor any constructive obligation, The expense recognised during the year towards defined contribution plan is
INR 7 million (March 31, 2019: INR 4.90 million). The plan is unfunded.

B. Defined Benefit Plans
Gratuity:
The gratuity plan is governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Under the Act, employees who have completed five years of service are entitled to
specific benefit. The level of benefit provided depends on the member's length of service and salary retirement age. The employee is enitled to a benefit
equivalent to 15 days salary last drawn for each completed year of service with part thereof in excess of six months subject to maximum limit of INR 2
million, The same is payable on termination of service or retirement or death whichever is earlier.
The present value of the obligation under such defined benefit plan is determined based on an actuarial valuation as at the reporting date using the projected
unit credit method, which recognises each year of service as giving rise to additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately
to build up the final obligation, The obligations are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The discount rate used for determining
the present value of the obligation under defined benefit plans is based on the market yields on Government bonds as at the date of actuarial valuation.
Actuarial gains and losses (net of tax) are recognised immediately in the Other Comprehensive Income (OCI).
This is an unfunded benefit plan for qualifying employees. The scheme provides for a lump sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death while in
employment or on termination of employment. Vesting occurs upon completion of five years of service.

The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the statement of profits or losses and the funded status and amounts
recognised 1n the balance sheet for the respective plans:

Movement in obligation

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31,2019
Present value of obligation at beginning of the year 12.75 7.89
Interest cost 1.14 0.61
Current service cost 5.86 4.29
Actuarial loss on obligation
- Economic assumptions 2.68 0.26
- Demographic assumptions 0.01 -
- Experience adjustment (4.49) -
Benefits paid (0.18) (0.30)
Present value of obligation at the closing of the year 17.77 12.75
Balance Sheet
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Present value of defined benefit obligation 17.77 12.78
Fair value of plan assets - -
17.77 12.75

Present value of defined benefit obligation (net)

Expenses recognised in Statement of profit and loss

For the year ended
March 31, 2020

For the year ended
March 31, 2019

Current service cost 5.86 429

Past service cost - -

Interest cost on benefit obligation 1.14 0.61
7.00 4.90

Net benefit expense

(This space has been intentionally lefi blank)
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Expenses recognised in Statement of other comprehensive income

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31,2019
Actuarial (gamns) / losses
- change in tinancial assumptions ; 2.68 . D26
- change in demographic assumptions 0.01 -
- experience variance (i.e, Actual experience vs asstmptions) (4.45) -
(1.80) 0.26

The principal actuarial assumptions used for estimating the Group's defined benefit obligations are set out below:

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Discount rate 6.08% 7.66%
Future salary increase 10% 10.00%
Average expected future working life (Years) 2822 2925
Expected rate of return on plan asset Notapplicable Not applicable
Retirement age (years) 58.00 58.00
0, e 12 Lrs .
Mortality rates inclusive of provision for disability* o R Ofig;jm o
Withdrawal rate (per annum)
- Up to 30 years 5.00% 5.00%
- From 31 vears to 44 years 3.00% 3.00%
- From 44 vears to 38 years 2.00% 2.00%

*Indian Assured Lives Mortality (2012-14) Ultimate represents published mortality table used for mortality assumption.

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption is as

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2020 March 31,2019

Impact of the change in discount rate

a) Impact due to increase of 0.50 % (1.58) (1.12)
b) Impact due to decrease of 0.50 % 1539 1.26
Impact of the change in salary increase

a) Impact due to increase of 0.50 % 1.3% 111
b} Impact due to decrease of 0.50 % (1.38) (1.03)

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on the defined benefit obligation as a result of
reasonable changes in key assumptions oceurring at the end of the reporting year. These analysis are based on a change in a significant assumption, keeping
all other assumptions constant and may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that changes in
assumptions would occur in isolation of one another.

The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years:

For the year ended For the year ended
’ March 31, 2020 March 31,2019
Year | 0.23 017
Year2 0.52 0.16
Year 3 0.47 0.18
Year 4 0.58 0.30
Year 5 0.51 0:22
Year 6 onwards 15.46 11.72
Total expected payments 17.77 12.75

The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 17,76 years (March 31, 2019: 17.97 years).
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27 Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions

(a)

(b)

(e)

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has not made any significant judgement, which
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below. The Group has based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however. may change due
to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts. Estimated irrecoverable amounts are based on the receivable balances and historical
experience adjusted for forward-looking cstimates. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
simplified approach to measure expected credit losses. Individual trade receivables are written off when management

Defined benefit plans (gratuity benefits)

The cost of the defined benefit gratuity plan and other post-employment medical benefits and the present value of the
gratuity obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions
that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary
increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit
obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In determining the appropriate discount rate for plans operated
in India, the management considers the interest rates of government bonds in currencies consistent with the currencies of
the post-employment benefit obligation.

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for India. Those mortality tables tend to change only at
intervals in response to demographic changes. Future salary increases and gratuity increases are based on expected future
inflation rates for India.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate
(IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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28 Commitments and contingencies

(&)

(a)

{e)

(d)

(e)

(B)

(@

Contingent liabilities

As at As at

March 31, 2020 Mareh 31,2019
Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debts £
- Litigation & claims (Refer Note (a) below) 667.68 667.68
- Service tax demand (Refer Note (b) below) 93,18 71.81
= Guarantees (Refer Note (c) below) 140.00 120.00
- Income tax demand (Refer Note (d) below) 356.98 -
Total 1,257.84 855.49

— o=

The Group has ongoing legal cases against the Group on account of various matters including recovery of moneys advanced in the course of business, infringement of
trademarks and seeking damages thereof. The cumulative amounts claimed against the Group in these cases is INR 667.68; details of which are mentioned below:

(i) Air Worth Travel & Tours Private Limited; one of the ticketing parmer with the Company, has filed claim of INR 574,62 against the Company on grounds of
claiming wrongful refunds on flown tickets, failed to make payment of cancellation charges, lower ticket charges for higher class tickets, excess refunds claimed. This
case against the Company is pending for acceptance by the Honourable High Court of Delhi,

Further, the Company had also filed a case against Air Worth amounting to INR 92,50 in 2015 on account of advances given to them for ticketing business and is

(n) JPaan, lthc e-commerce platform provider; managed by One97 Communications Limited has filed a case against the Company for non-payment of cancellation
refunds of INR 53.06 for the period till May 2017 which have been paid by Paytm to its customers on behalf of EMT. non-payment of performance linked bonus, ete.

(iii) MakeMyTrip has filed a claim of INR 40 for Permanent Injunction Restraining Infringement of Trademarks. Copyrights. Passing Off, Dilution of Goodwill, Unfair
Competition, Rendition of Accounts of Profits/Damages, Delivery Up etc for use of similar name.

The Company based on assessment of its legal counsel believes that any chances of liability devolving upon the Company upon final conclusion of the cases mentioned
above in Court of Law, is not probable and hence has not provided for any amounts in the financial statements towards any adverse putcome of these cases.

The Company had an ourstanding service tax demand of INR 30.62 for the financial years 2012-13 t 2016-17 pertaining to incorrect availment of Cenvat credit on
input services in cases where it has taken abatement and exemptions for provision of output services, The Company in December 2019 has paid INR 15.31 under
section 127 of Finance (No. 2) Act, 2019 read with rule 9 of the Sabka Vishwas (Legacy Scheme, 2019) as full and final settlement against such demand. As per the
scheme, such payments would not be construed as admission of liability for any subsequent years if assessed under the GST regime. Further, the Company based on
internal assessment and expert opinion believes chances of any liability devolving on this matter is not probable and hence have not provided for any amounts in the
financial statements which if computed for years subsequent to FY 2016-17 shall be INR 93.18 (March 31, 2019: INR 41.19).

(i) INR 120 (March 31, 2019: INR 120): 'The Group has given joint bank guarantees to Travel Agents Federation of India (*TAFI") in respect of air travel business.

(ii) INR 20 Mn (March 31, 2019; Nil); "The Group has given bank guarantees to International Air Transport Association(‘IATA”™) in respect of air travel business.

A search under section 132 of the Income Tax Act, 1961 was carried out at the premises of the Company by the Income Tax authorities during the financial year 2017-
18. On December 27th, 2019, the Company has received demand orders amounting to INR 356.98 far financial years 2011-12 to 2016-17 pertaining to disallowances

of certain expenses and addition of sales. The Company is contesting these demands at the Appellate level and basis its internal assessment and expert opinion it
believes that the likelihood of these demands being sustained is not probable and hence has not accrued any amounts towards these demands in the financial statements,

There are numerous interpretative issues relating to the Supreme Court (SC) judgement on PF dated 28th February, 2019. As a matter of caution, the Company has
made a provision on 2 prospective basis from the date of the SC order. The Company will update its provision, on receiving further clarity on the subject.

Capital commitment

At March 31, 2020, the Group had commitments of INR 0.56 million (March 31, 2019: Nil) relating to software implementation contract remaining to be executed and
not provided for.
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29 Leases

Company as a lessee

The Group has lease contract for office premise having lease term of 3 years. The Group's obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased
assets; The Group has also lease contracts for office premise having term of 12 months or less. The Group applies the *short-term lease’ recognition exemptions for that

lease contracts,
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year:

Amount
As at April 01, 2018 -
Additions -
As at March 31, 2019 -
Additions 6,64
Depreciation expense (213
Adjusted during the year {4.51)
As at Mareh 31, 2020 -
Set out below are the carrying amounis of lease liabilities and the movements during the vear:
Amount
As at April 01, 2018 . -
Additions -
As at March 31, 2019 -
Additions 6.55
Accretion of interest 0.54
Payments (2.31)
Adjusted during the year (4.78)
As at March 31, 2020 -
Current (Note 12 (b)) =
Non-current (Note 12 (b)) -
Maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows:
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
‘Within one year - -
After | year but not more than five years - -
More than five years = =
The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
213 =

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets
[nterest expense on lease liabilities 0.54 -
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in other expenses) 1.73 2.90

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 4.40 0.90

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of INR 4.04 (March 31, 2019: [NR 0.90).
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30 Related Party Disclosures

(a) Names of related parties and related party relationship

(i) Enterprises owned or significantly Near Group Services Private Limited
influenced by key managerial personnel or  Snoby Private Limited
their relatives Pitti Coal Company

Thai Arrivals (till April 30, 2019)
Easy Productions Pvt Ltd (ill September 12, 201%)

(iiy Key managerial personnel (KMP) 1. Prashant Pitti (Whole Time Director)
2. Nishant Pitti (Chief Executive Officer and Whole Time Director)
3. Rikant Pithe (Whole Time Director)
4. Maxy Francis Assis Fernandes (Independent Director) (w.e.f July 02, 2019 to Feb 18_2020)
5. Satya Prakash (Independent Director) (w.e.f July 2, 2019)
6. Usha Mehra (Independent Director) (w.e.f July 2, 2019)
7. Vinod Kumar Tripathi (Independent Director) (w.e.f Feb 24, 2020)
8. Abani Kant Jha (Chief Financial Officer) (w.e.f May 10, 2019)
9. Preeti Sharma (Company Secretary) (w.e.f April 2, 2019)

(i) Relative of Key managerial personnel 1. 8akshi Pitti (Wife of Mr, Nishant Pitti)
2. Anil Pitti (Father of Mr. Prashant Pitti, Mr, Nishant Pitti and Mr. Rikant Pittie)
3. Renu Aggarwal (Mother of Mr, Prashant Pitti, Mr. Nishant Pitti and Mr. Rikant Pittie)
4. Hina Vanjani (Wife of Mr. Rikant Pittie)
5. Minal Bansal (Wife of Mr, Prashant Pitti)

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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Related Party Disclosures (Contd...)

(d) Details of related party transactions are as below:

Particulars

For the year ended March 31, 2020

For the year ended March 31, 2019

Enterprises owned
or significantly
influenced by key
managerial
personnel or their
relatives

Relative of
KMP

KMP

Enterprises owned
or significantly
influenced by key
managerial
personnel or their
relatives

Relative of
KMP

KMP

(A) Salary paid during the year

Nishant Pitti

39.51

Prashant Pitti

9.60

Rikant Pittie

28.61

Abani Kant Jha

Preeti Sharma

Sakshi Pitti

Renu Aggarwal

Hina Vanjani

Minal Bansal

(B) Director sitting fees paid during the year

Maxy Francis Assis Fernandes

040

Satya Prakash

0.31

Usha Mehra

0,40

Vinod Kumar Tripathi

0.10

{C) Rent income earned

Near Group Services Pvt Ltd

1.15

1.15

(D) Rent exj paid

Mr. Nishant Pitti

0.90

0.50

(E) Parchase of Services

Thai Arrivals

3.50

38.65

Snobyv Private Limited

0.20

1.19

(F) Sale of goods / services

Thai Arrivals

0.02

Pitti Coal Company

5.58

(G) Loans given

Easy Productions Pvt Lid

Las
L
Ch
Lh
=

335.70

(H) Repayment

Easy Productions Pvt Lid

268.55

(I) Advance received against property®

Anil Pitti

5.00

Prashant Pitti

2.00

(J) Interest Amount

Easy Productions Pvt Ltd

15.02

8.66

(K) Sale of investment Property

Hina Vanjani

1.50

Nishant Pitti

20.00

Anil Pitti

77.50




Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Naotes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amount in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

(b)

Related Party Disclosures (Contd...)

Particulars

For the yvear ended March 31, 2020

For the year ended March 31, 2019

Enterprises owned
or significantly
influenced by key
managerial
personnel or their
relatives

Relative of KMP

KMP

Enterprises ewned
or significantly
influenced by key
managerial
personnel or their
relatives

Relative of KMP

(L) Reimbursement expenses incurred on behalf

Nishant Pitti

10.77

Rikant Pittie

10.08

Anil Pitti

(M) Purchase of equity shares from Rikant Pittie

| Easemytrip Middleeast DMCC

Singapore Arrivals Pte Ltd

(A) Balance receivable at the year end

Nighant Pitti

40.08

10.79

Rikant Pittie

38.02

10.07

Anil Pitti

Easy Productions Pvt Ltd {Loan Principal) *

67.15

Mear Group Services Pvt Ltd

0.03

(B) Balance Pavable at the year end

Nishant Pitti

Minal Bansal

0.11

Renu Aggarwal

0.18

Rikant Pittie

1.25

Prashant Pitti

0.54

Thai Arrivals #

Snoby Private Limited**

(C) Advance Salary given

Rikant Pittie

0.15

(D) Advance against property at the year end*®

Anil Pitti

5.00

Prashant Pitti

2.00

* Initially the token money was received against sale of property however the transaction got cancelled and amounts was shown as payable at year end.

" Easy Production Pvt Ltd ceases to be related party alter September 12, 2019. Balance receivable from Easy Production Pvt Lid as at September 12, 2019

ampunts to INR. 263.13.

# Thai Arrivals ceases to be related party with effect from May 01, 2019. Balance payable to Thai Arrivals as at April 30, 2012 amounts to INR 43.85.
** Absolute balance as at March 31, 2020 of Snoby Private Limited is INR 4,963,

Key management personnel compensation

TOT TNE year . FOT e year

ended Ma rlch 31,

Particulars ended March 31,

Short term employee benefits 83.87 61.44
Sitting fees 1.20 -
Total compensation 85.07 61.44

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting year related to key management personnel.
The remuneration to the key management personnel does not include the provision made for gratuity & leave benefit, as they are determined on an

actuarial basis for the Group as a whole.

Terms and conditions of transactions with related

The sale and purchase from related parties are made on terms equivalent to these that prevailing arm's length transaction. Outstanding balances at the year end are
unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. For the year ended March 31, 2020, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to
amounts owed by related parties (March 31, 2019 :Nil). This assessment in undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the related party
and the market in which the related party operates. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. There were no

commitments given to related parties.
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Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
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31 Segment Information

Business segments

For management purposes, the Group is organized into Lines of Business (LOBs) based on its products and services and has following reportable segments based on the
nature of the products, the risks and returns, the orgamsation structure and the internal financial reporting systems. The segment results are regularly reviewed and
performance is assessed by its Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). LOB wise profits before taxes, finance costs, other income, depreciation and amortisation are
reviewed by CODM on monthly basis. The whole time director(s) monitor the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about

The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group's reportable segments:

1 Air Ticketing: Through an internet and mobile based platform and eall=centres , the Group provides the facility to book and service international and domestic air tickets
to ultimate consumer through B2C (Business To Consumer) and B2B2C (Business to Business to Consumer) channel. Both these channels share similar characteristics as
they are engaged in facilitation of air tickets. Management believes that it is appropriate to aggregate these two channels as one reporting segment due to similarities in

2 Hotels and Packages: The Group provides holiday packages and hotel reservations through call-centers and branch offices. The hotel reservations form integral part of
the holiday packages and accordingly management believes that it is appropriate to aggregate these services as one reportable segment due to similarities in the nature of

3 Other operations primarily include the advertisement income from hosting advertisement on its internet web-sites, income from sale of rail and bus tickets and income
from facilitating website access to a travel insurance companies. The operations do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds to be a reportable segment for any of the
years presented in these financial statements.

Other operation segments
The Group is into the trading in Coal business and Distribution of Movie Rights in North India and Trading of shares; all these segments have been discontinued in the

financial year 2017-18,

Adjustments:
1. Finance cost, other income and depreciation and amortization are not allocated to individual segments as they are managed at Group level

2. Current tax and deferred tax assets and liabilities are not allocated to individual segments as they are managed at Group level.

Entity wide disclosures

Revenue of INR 474.37 is derived from two external customers for the year ended March 31 2020 (March 31 2019: INR 572.58) individually accounted for more than
10% of the total revenue.

The summary of the seemental information for the year ended and as at March 31, 2020 is as follows:

Continuing Operations

Particol

i AirPassage  Hotel Packages  Other services Total Operations
Sale of Services 1,171.78 67.34 7.51 1,246.63
Other operating revenue

-Advertisement revenue 156.94 9.02 1.01 166,97
Total Revenue 1,328.72 76.36 8.52 1,413.60
Segment results
Less: Operating expenses 1,232.47 70.84 7.90 1,311.20
Operating profit 96,25 552 0.62 102.40
Less: Finance cost - - - 33.02
Less: Depreciation and Amortization - - - 7.07
Add: Other income - - - 396.51
Profit before tax 96.25 5.52 0.62 438.82
Segment assets
Allocable assets 2,835.15 25.05 8.05 2,868.25
Unallocable assets = - - 30.59
Total assets 2,835.15 2%05 gs 2,898.85
Segment liabilities
Allocable liabilities o7 98 1) 2046 - 1,771.56
Unallocable Jiabilities - - - 114.77
Total liabilities 1,751.10 20=.=I=6 = 1,886.33
Additions to non-current assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 10.13 - - 10,13
Intangible assets 17.37 - - 17.37
Right-of-use asset 6.64 - - 6.64
Intangibles under development 3.33 - - 333
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Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
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The summary of the segmental information for the year ended and as at March 31, 2019 is as follows:

Continuing Operations

Particulars

Air Passage Hotel Packages  Other services  Total Operations

Sale of Services 885.56 24.34 1.65 911.55
Other operating revenue

-Advertisement revenue 96.68 2.66 0.18 99.52
Total Revenne 982.24 27.00 1.83 1,011.07
Segment results
Less: Operating expenses 1,032.71 28.39 1.92 1,063,02
Operating loss {50.47) (1.39) (0.09) (51.95)
Less: Finance cost - - - 31.68
Less: Depreciation and Amortization - - - 4.64
Add: Other income a o = 500.04
Profit/ (loss) before tax (50.47) {1.39) (0.0%) 411.77
Segment assets
Allocable assets 2,383.93 13.34 - 2,397.27
Unallocable assets - = - 27.19
Total assets 2.383.93 13.34 = 2,424.46
Segment liabilities
Allocable liabilities 1,705.84 6.03 - 1.711.87
Unallocable liabilities - - - 39.69
Total liabilities 1,705.84 6.03 - 1,751.56
Other Segment information
Additions to non-current assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 10.81 - - 10.81
Intangible assets ' 0.09 - - 0.09
Investment property 137.46 - - 137.46

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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32 Capital Management

For the purpose of Group's capital management, capital includes issued equity capital, securities premium and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders
of the parent. The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to maximise the shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt.
The Group includes within net debt, interest bearing borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash and cash equivalents.

As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Borrowings 67.60 -
Trade Payables 266.39 208,46
Other financial liabilities 702.39 477.64
Less: cash and cash equivalents (134.14) (340.75)
Net debts 902.24 435,35
Equity share capital (note 10) 217.29 217,29
Other equity 793.21 462.03
Total capital 1,010.50 679.32
Capital and net debt 1,912.74 1,114.67
Gearing ratio (%) 47.17% 39.06%

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management. amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets terms & conditions attached to the interest-
bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended March 31, 2020 and year ended March 31, 2019.

(This space hes been intentionally left blank)
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33 Fair value measurements

Set out below, is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments, including these with carrying amounts that

are reasonable approximations of fair values:

Carrying value Fair value

’ As at As at
PREGCNIR March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 Mareh 31, 2020 March 31,2019
Financial assets
Loans 132.39 367.57 132.39 367.57
Investments 9.99 - 9.99 -
Trade receivables 581.92 418.40 581.92 418.40
Cash and cash equivalents 134.14 340.75 134.14 340.75
Other bank balances 1,177.95 519.72 1,177.95 519.72
Qther financial assets 354.50 426.64 354.50 426,64
Total 2,390.89 2.073.08 2,390.89 2,073.08
Financial liabilities
Trade payables 266.39 298.46 266.39 298.46
Other financial liabilities 702.39 47764 702.39 477 64
Total 968.78 776.10 968.78 T776.10

Management has assessed that loans, trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances. trade pavables and borrowings approximate their carrying
amounts Jargely dug to the short-term maturities of these instruments, The fair values of the quoted shares, mutual funds and bonds are based on price quotations

at the reporting date.

Discount rate used in determining fair value

The interest rate used to discount estimated future cash flows, where applicable, are based on the incremental borrowing rate of borrower which in case of
financial liabilities is average market cost of borrowings of the Group and in case of financial asset is the average market rate of similar credit rated instrument.

The Group maintains policies and procedures to value financial assets or financial liabilities using the best and most relevant data available.

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing

parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:
The fair values of the Group’s advances are determined by using discount rate that reflects the incremental borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting year,

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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34 Fair value hierarchy

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised wathin the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

Level 1: This level of hierarchy includes financial assets that are measured by reference to quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2; This level of hierarchy includes financial assets that are measured usirl,grinpul:s, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for such items, directly or

indirectly.

Level 3; This level of hierarchy includes items measured using & valuation model based on assumptions that are neither supported by prices from observable current market transactions

in tha eame inctrimanie ane hagad an svailahls markat Asta

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments is discounted cash flow analysis.

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities:

Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at March 31, 2020

Fair value measurement using

z Quoted prices in active| Significant observable Significant
Total
Particulars U markets inputs usnobservable inputs
(Level 1) {Level 2) {Level 3)

Financial assets measured at fair value
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
= Mutual funds

- Shares

- Bonds

- Debentures

Other financial assets
Interest acerued on bonds
Interest acerued on debentures

Financial liabilities measured at Fair value
Other financial assets
Financial guarantee obligation

9.99

9.99

There are no transfer between levels during the year ended March 31, 2020,

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at March

31, 2020 15 shown below:

Particulars

Valuation technique

Financial gusrantee obligations

Discounted cash flow
methed

Significant Input Sensitivity of the input
unobservable inputs to fair value

100 bps increase
Interest rate 2.80-5.80% (decrease) would result
in increase (decrease) in

fair value by INR 0.50.
100 bps ingrepse
Discount rate 14.00% (decrease) would result

in (decrease) increase by
INR 0.04,

Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at March 31, 2019:

Particulars

Total

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices in active
markets
{Level 1)

Significant observable
inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable inputs
(Level 3)

Financial assets measured at fair value
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
- Mutual funds

- Shares

- Bonds

- Debentures

Other financial assets
Interest accrued on bonds
Interest accrued on debentures

There are no transfer between levels during the year ended March 31, 2019,
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35

(2)

(U]

(i)

(iii)

(k)

Finaneial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group's activities are exposed to variety of financial risk; credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. The Group’s senior management oversees the
management of these risks. The Group’s senior management ensures that the Group’s financial risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and
that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies and risk objectives. The Group reviews and agrees on policies for
managing each of these risks which are summarized below:

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract. leading to a financial loss. The Group is

exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables), including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions
and other financial instruments.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are typically unsecured. Credit risk is managed by the Group through credit approvals, establishing credit limits and continuously monitoring the
creditworthiness of customers to which the Group grants credit terms in the normal course of business.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables as of the reporting date 15 as follows:

Particulars Not Due 0 to 60 days 60to120days 120 to 180 days More than 180 days Total
As at March 31, 2019 335.75 59.63 22.85 10.30 2837 456.90
As at March 31, 2020 414.89 71.20 83,76 51.09 31.85 652.89

* The ageing of trade receivables does not include expected eredit loss.

Expected credit loss for trade receivables using simplified approach

Asat Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Gross carrying amount 652,89 456.90
Expected credit losses (Loss allowance provision) (70.97) (38.50)
Carrying amount of trade receivables (net of impairment) 581.92 418.40

Financial Guarantees

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to financial guarantee given to bank. The Group’s maximum exposure in this respect is the maximum amount the Group
could have to pay if the guarantee is called on. Financial guarantees are accounted as explained in note 2,12, The maximum amount Group could be forced to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee is INR ‘70. Based on expectations at the end of the
reporting year, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that such an amount will not be payable under the arrangement.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to meet its present and [uture cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses. The Group’s
objective is to, at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. The Group closely monitors its liquidity position and
deploys a robust cash management system, It maintains adequate sources of financing including loans from banks at an optimised cost,

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments.

As at March 31, 2019 Carrying amount On Demand Upto 1 Year More than 1 year Total

Other financial habilities 477.64 474,94 - 2,70 477.64
Trade pavables 208.46 = 208.46 - _29846
Total 776.10 474.94 298.46 2.70 776.10
As at March 31, 2020 Carrying amount On Demand Upto 1 Year More than 1 vear Total

Other financial liabilities 702.39 702.39 - - 702.39
Financial guarantee contracts® 70.00 70.00 70.00
Trade pavables 266.39 - 266.39 - 266.39
Total 1,038.78 772.39 266.39 - 1,038.78

* Based on the maximum amount that can be called for under the financial guarantee contract.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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(c) Foreign currency risk:

The fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates may have potential impact on the statement of profit or loss, where any transaction references more than one
currency or where assets/liabilities are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the Group. The Group undertakes transactions denominated in
foreign currencies and thus it is exposed to exchange rate fluctuations. The Group has a treasury team which evaluates the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations
by assessing its exposure to exchange rate risks and advises the management of any material adverse effect on the Group.

Particular of unhedged foreign exposure payabies as at the reporting date :

As at March 31, 2020 As at March 31, 2019 |
c i Forsign Rupee equivalent Yaregn Rupee equivalent
urrency currency Amount i currency Amount , A
oo (INR million) S (INR million)
(in million) (in million)
usb 0.09 6.38 0.09 6.27
EUR 0.00 0.24 0,01 045
THB 0.09 022 - -
AUD - - 0.00 0.21
SGD - - 0.04 2.06

Foreign currency sensitivity on unhedged exposure
5% increase / decrease in foreign exchange rates will have the following impact on profit before tax:

Impact on profit before tax

As at Asat
March 31,2020  March 31, 2019
Increase by 5% in forex rate 0.35 0.45
Decrease by 5% in forex rate (0.35) (0.43)

(This spaice has been imtentionally left blank)
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37 Disclosure required under section 186(4) of the companies Act 2013
Particulars of Joans as required by Section 186(4) of Companies Act 2013 are as follows:

Secured / For the year ended For the ended
Name of party Rate of interest Due date i Purpose of Loan Manhy.?l' 2020 m:ﬁ:fzow
Carntval Motion Pictures Private Limited 16% On Demand Unsecured  Movie production - 1581
Wizeraft Intemational Entertzinment Private Limited 12% March 31,2012 Unsecured  Organising IIFA event - §0.00
Easy Production Private Limited 16% On Demand Unsecured  Movie production 335.50 33570
Ezzego One Travels & Tours Limited 4% D ber 18, 2018 1T d  Business operati - 200.00
Total 335.50 631.51
Movement in loans are as follows:
As at Asat
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2009
Opening balance 351.35 15257
Add: Loans given during the year 335.50 631.51
Less: Received back during the year 57234 41740
Less: Written off during the year - 25.00
Add: Ind AS Adjustment - 9.67
Net amount appearing in Loans (Note 6)* 114.51 351.3%

* This amount represents loans appearing in Note & excluding loans given to employees amounting to INR 1,78 and security deposit of INR 81,39,

The uroup provides financial assistance to movie producers and other branding companies for advertisement and branding of travel, tour and ticketing business during the making and release of the

mavies and awerd functions. The group had during the financial year 2017-18 and 2018-19, written off some of these advances due to uncertainty of collectability.

For the year ended For the vear ended

RERERNON March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
Quoted equity instruments
Jinda) Stainless Limited: Nil (March 31, 2015: 970,714 shares) - £3.53
National Fertilizers Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 50,000 shares) - 1.84
Radha Madhav Corporation Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 100,000 shares) - 296
Spicelet Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 862,909 shares) - 75.98
Aditya Birla Capital Limited: Nil (March 31, 201%; 100,000 shares) - 9,50
Ashok Leyland Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 25,000 shares) - 2.13
Bharat Electronics Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 131,859 shares) - 11.03
Ceat Lid: Nil (March 31, 2019: 31,500 shares) - 38.02
Eras International Media Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 50,000 shares) - 392
ICICI Prudential Life Insurance Co, Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019 25,000 shares) - 769
InterGlobe Aviation Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 100,000 shares) - 109.19
Tet Airways India Ltd, Nil (March 31, 2019: 70,000 shares) - 17.61
Jindal Stainless (Hisar) Limited: Nil (March 31, 201%: 365,000 shares) = 3227
NBCC (Indiz) Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 75,000 shares) - 4.23
Punjab National Bank: Nil (March 31, 2019: 25,000 shares) - 1.95
Reliance Communications Lid: Nl (March 31, 2019: 4,624,000 shares) - 3006
Sterlite Techrologies Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 33,000 chares) - 983
Tata Coffee Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 19,500 shares) - 193
Tata Motors Ltd: Nil (March 31, 2019: 100,000 shares) - 16,83
Tata Steel Bsl Ltd: Nil {(March 31, 2019: 200,000 shares) - 835
Tribhovandas Bhimji Zaveri Limited: Nil (March 31, 2019: 160,000 ghares) - 10.69
Yes Bank Lrd: il (March 31, 2019: 100,000 shares) » 15.21

- 47575

Notes :
I. There are no amounts due to Directors / Promoters / Fromoter Group / Relatives of Promoters / Relatives of Directors.

2. List of persons /entities classified as 'promotors’ and 'promator group companies' has been determined by the management and relied upon by the auditors: The auditors have not performed any

procedure to determine whether the list is accurate and complete,
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Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited'")
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
(Amount in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

3% Business combinations

a)

b)

Acquisitions during the year ended March 31, 2020

M/s Singapore Arrival Pte. Limited

On 15 May 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the voting shares of M's Singapore Arrival Pte, Limited, a non-listed Company based in
Singapore. Principal activity of the acquiree are those of travel agent services, Consideration of acquisition has been discharged in
cash. The Group acquired M/s Singapore Amival Pte. Limited because it increases the presence of the Group outside India with a
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of M/s Singapore Arrival Pte. Limited as at the date of acquisition were!

Fair valoe recognized on

acquisition

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.70
Trade receivables 4.59
Other current assets 5.87

11.16
Liabilities
Trade payables 0.52

0.52

Total identifiable net assets at fair valae 10.64
Non-controlling interests measured at fair value -
Bargain purchase (Note 11) (2.97)
Purchase consideration transferred 7.67

From the date of acquisition. M/s Singapore Arrival Pre, Limited has contributed INR 1.03 of revenue and INR 8.43 of loss to the profit
before tax from continuing operations of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, revenue from
continuing operations would have been decreased by INR 2.38 and the profit before tax from continuing operations for the Group
would have been decreased by INR 10.50.

M/s Easemytrip Middleast DMCC

On 15 August 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the voting shares of M/s Easemytrip Middleast DMCC, a non-listed Company based
in Dubai. Principal activity of the acquiree are those of out and In bound tour opetator, travel agents. Consideration of acquisition has
been discharged in cash. The Group acquired M/s Easemytrip Middleast DMCC because it increases the presence of the Group outside
India with a further chance to increase in potential growth.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of M/s Easemytrip Middleast DMCC as at the date of acquisition were;

Fair value recognised on

acquisition
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6.51
Trade recgivables 5.89
Other financial assets 0.96
13.36
Liabilities
Trade payables 13.96
Contract liability 1430
28.16
Total identifiable net assets at fair value (14.80)
Nen-controlling interests measured at fair value -
Goodwill (Note 4) 15.96
Purchase consideration transferred 1.16

From the date of acquisition, M/s Easemytrip Middleast DMCC has contributed INR 2.72 of revenue and INR 5.35 of loss to the profit
before tax from continuing operations of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, revenue from
continuing operations would have been decreased by INR 0.94 and the profit before tax from continuing operations for the Group
would have been decreased by INR 3.83.
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Easy Trip Planners Limited (formerly known as "Easy Trip Planners Private Limited")
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020
{Amount in INR million, unless otherwise stated)

40

41

42

43

Sections 92-92F of Income Tax Act, 1961 prescribe Transfer Pricing regulations for computing the taxable income and expenditure from 'international
transactions' between 'associated enterprises’ on an ‘arm's length' basis. These regulations, inter alia, also require the maintenance of prescribed
documents and information including furnishing a report from an Accountant within the due date of filing the return of income. The Group has
undertaken necessary steps to comply with the Transfer Pricing regulations. The Management is of the opinion that the international transactions are at
arm’s length, and hence the aforesaid legislation will not have any impact on the financial statements, particularly on the amount of tax expense and
that of provision for taxation.

COVID-19 Pandemic

The outbreak of Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic globally has resulted in economic slowdown. Various restrictions on travel have been imposed
across the globe which have led to huge amount of cancellations and limited new air travel, hotel packages, bus and train bookings. The Group has
undertaken certain cost reduction initiatives, including implementing salary reductions and work from home policies, deferring non-critical capital
expenditures and renegotiating the supplier payments and contracts. The Group expects to continue to adapt these policies and cost reduction initiatives
as the situation evolves. Although travel restrictions and quarantine orders are gradually being lified, it remains difficult to predict the duration of the
long-term impact from the virus. Basis the available resources, Group does not consider significant impact on the financials,

The Code on Social Security, 2020 (*Code’) relating to employee benefits during employment and post-emplovment benefits received Presidential
assent in September 2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette of India. However, the date on which the Code will come into effect has not
been notified and the final rules / interpretation have not yet been issued. The Group will assess the impact of the Code when it comes into effect and
will record any related impact in the period the Code becomes effective,

The Group, during the year alleged that an employee of the Group working in the capacity of sales development manager has misappropriated funds of
the Group amounting to Rs 5.73 million owed by certain travel agents mapped to him through passing unauthorised credits to those agents and also
collecting money from the agents in cash against the sales and not depositing with the Group. The Group suspecting the breach of trust has taken
immediate steps by terminating the employment of the employee and taking steps to recover the money from the travel agents. The Group was able to
recover Rs 3.40 million from the agents. In the absence of evidence against the employee, a legal case could not be filed against the employee. The
Group is hopeful of recovering the balance amount from the respective agents and the amount is not overall material for the financial statements,

Previous year figures
Previous year figures have been regrouped/reclassified, where necessary, to conform to this year's classification.
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